# Stay Away From Missing Persons' Cases On The Internet:

Should managers and users of missing persons' websites be afraid of copyright infringement and defamation?

Nathalie L. Swinkels LL.M.
S525727
Tilburg University, Faculty of Law
Master Law and Technology
Examination Committee: Mr. Ir. M.H.M. Schellekens (supervisor)
Dr. C.M.K.C. Cuijpers

Tilburg, The Netherlands, 20 August 2012

## Table of Contents

Preface	<del></del>	4
•	·	
Chapter 1: I	s there a need of missing persons' websites?	7
_	on	
1.1 Th	ne history of missing persons in the US	7
1.1.1	Who is a missing person?	
1.1.2	How many missing persons are there?	7
1.1.3	The legal history of missing persons' laws	8
1.1.4	Legal definitions, explanations and problems	
1.1.5	Should the US government be involved?	
1.2 Seven possible resources of US based missing persons' websites		21
1.2.1	Law enforcement	21
1.2.2	Non-profit organizations and organizations referred to by law	24
1.2.3	Volunteer missing persons' website	27
1.2.4	Other missing persons' websites	27
Chapter 2: 0	Copyright	29
Introducti	on	29
2.1 Co	ppyright	29
2.1.1	What is copyright protected?	29
2.1.2	Who is the copyright owner?	31
2.1.3	Which rights does a copyright owner have?	32
2.1.4	How long is copyright protection available?	33
2.1.5	Are there other ways not to infringe copyright?	34
2.1.6	When is there a copyright infringement?	35
2.2 US	S based missing persons' websites and copyright	36
2.2.1	What is copyright protected?	36
2.2.2	Who is the copyright owner?	37
2.2.3	Which rights does a copyright owner have?	37
2.2.4	How long is copyright protection available?	38
2.2.5	When is there copyright infringement?	40
2.3 Missing persons' websites and foreign copyright		41
2.3.1	The European Union	41
2.3.2	The Netherlands	46
2.3.3	England	50
Chapter 3: 1	Defamation	57
Introducti	on	57
3.1 US	S defamation law	57
3.1.1	What is defamation?	
3.1.2	Who is the plaintiff in a defamation case?	59
3.1.3	The civil court procedure	59
3.1.4	Defences against defamation	60
3.1.5	How to prevent a defamation claim?	60
3.2 US	S Missing persons' websites and defamation	62
3.2.1	What is defamation?	
3.2.2	Who is the plaintiff in a defamation case?	
3.2.3	The civil court procedure	
3.2.4	Defences against defamation	
3.3 M	issing persons' websites and foreign defamation	
3.3.1	The European Union	67

2 2 2		
	The Netherlands	
3.3.3	England	73
	ould there be fear?	
Introduction		77
4.1 The	lifting of anonymity	77
4.2 The	recognition and/or enforcement of foreign judgements by a US Court	78
4.2.1	Does the US have to recognize and/or enforce a foreign judgement?	78
4.3 Cop	yright law	81
4.3.1	US copyright law	81
4.3.2	EU, Dutch and English copyright law	83
4.4 Defa	amation law	88
4.4.1	US defamation law	88
4.4.2	EU, Dutch and English defamation law	90
End conclusion		
Literature		98

#### **Preface**

Missing persons...

Everyone has been confronted in his or her life with an appeal to locate a missing person made by left-behind family or friends. Sometimes they are found and sometimes it seems that no one will ever know what truly happened that very day.

There are a lot of people who are interested in the field of missing persons and the internet is an excellent instrument in trying to provide information and solve many of these cases. There are several reasons why people can become interested in a missing person's case. When I started with gathering information about missing persons, one of the first cases I came across was the case of Kirsti Lynn Nikle, a woman who disappeared on 10 October 1996 in Grand Forks (North Dakota) and who is still missing<sup>1</sup>, who reminded me slightly by her appearance of a former friend with whom I went to class during primary school. Hereafter, since I became more interested in the field of missing persons, there were more cases which caught my attention such as the case of Ray Gricar, a District Attorney for the Center County Pennsylvania who disappeared from Bellefonte (Pennsylvania) on 15 April 2005<sup>2</sup> and of Alexis Patterson, a primary school pupil who went missing from her primary school in Milwaukee (Wisconsin) on 3 May 2002<sup>3</sup>. Thanks to organizations like the *Doe Network*<sup>4</sup>, strangers can help in solving missing persons' cases and therefore, maybe someday, they will be located and know that they were not only remembered by their family, friends, but also by people who have never met them or known them before their disappearance. It is safe to say that no one will be entirely forgotten.

I would like to express gratitude for the guidance and advice of my supervisor, Mr. Ir. M.H.M. Schellekens and of Dr. C.M.K.C. Cuijpers, who both helped me throughout the process of writing this thesis.

Special thanks are mainly directed to my sister who not only provided feedback, but also liked to play the *Advocatus Diaboli* so that my work would be objective, and also to my mother and father for their support, patience and feedback. Furthermore, I would thank my friends who often listened when I was talking about missing persons. And last but not least to Mrs. Good of *The Charley Project*<sup>5</sup>, who provides insight, through her blog<sup>6</sup>, in the operating of a missing persons' website, to Mrs. Keller of the *For the Lost Organization*<sup>7</sup> for her dedication to help left-behind family of missing persons, and to all others who are unselfishly trying to locate missing persons and hopefully will find them in order to close their case.

Per aspera ad astra...

Tilburg, 20 August 2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://doenetwork.org/cases/1668dfnd.html/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/cases/g/gricar\_ray.html/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/cases/p/patterson\_alexis.html/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> http://charleyross.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

#### **Introduction**

Each day people disappear, however, special attention is often only paid to missing children since they are more vulnerable than adults. Today, the internet is generally used as a primary source in asking the general public for help in locating missing persons. In the US, it is not uncommon to involve the media such as television, radio stations, newspapers<sup>8</sup>, magazines... (in order to attract attention to a case)<sup>9</sup>. For example, the *America Most Wanted Safety Center*<sup>11</sup> published a guide containing information about how to draw attention to missing persons online. <sup>12</sup>

A Google internet search on 30 July 2012 reveals that there are at least 99.300.000 results concerning the topic *US missing persons' websites*. <sup>13</sup> Therefore, it can be assumed that there are a lot of US based websites involved in locating missing people (adults and/or children). Missing persons' websites do raise some legal issues, besides questions about their social value, and the most significant problems which could be faced by a manager and/or user of such a website are copyright infringement and defamation. Especially since there can be misunderstandings concerning the copying of flyers and information or about the fact that a comment or theory posted on such a website could defame someone. Also, since it is simple to access and copy information from foreign missing persons' websites through the internet, it is not unlikely that a manager and/or user can be accused of copyright infringement or defamation in another country which could have different rules concerning these subjects than in the US. In this Master Thesis attention is paid to The Netherlands and England (The UK) and to EU law since both countries are EU Member-States and, as a consequence, it is necessary to provide some background information on how copyright and defamation law is dealt with in the EU. 14 This Master Thesis will be divided into four chapters. The first chapter will be about the social value and the benefit of US based missing persons' websites since it is important that before attention should be paid to copyright and defamation law, some legal background concerning missing persons should be provided. The second and third chapter will concern US, EU, Dutch and English copyright and defamation law. The fourth chapter will contain the conclusion and recommendations.

#### Therefore, the research questions will be:

"Do managers and users of US based missing-persons-websites run the risk of committing copyright infringement or defamation? If, so, what can they do to minimise possible risks?" From the foregoing, the following sub questions will be answered:

- 1. What is the social value or benefit of US based missing persons' websites?
- 2. What are copyright and defamation according to US law?
- 3. How should copyright infringement and defamation by a manager and/or (US citizen or foreign) user of a US based missing persons' website be dealt with according to US law?

11 http://safety.amw.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See e.g. in the paper edition of the *USA Today* (http://www.usatoday.com/ (12 August 2012)) distributed in the US, flyers of missing children are placed in the section "*Marketplace Today*" in the segment "*Notices*" and than "*Public Notice*".

<sup>9</sup> http://www.amw.com/pdf/making%20noise\_guide.pdf (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Watnik 2003, p. 419.

<sup>12</sup> http://safety.amw.com/family/making-noise-bringing-attention-to-missing-loved-ones/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>http://www.google.be/#hl=nl&sa=X&ei=AqoWULuqO5G2hAfl5oHACg&ved=0CFwQBSgA&q=US+missing +persons%27+websites&spell=1&bav=on.2,or.r\_gc.r\_pw.r\_qf.&fp=9dd313392708d8d2&biw=1024&bih=432 of 30 July 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> http://europa.eu/about-eu/countries/index en.htm (12 August 2012).

- 4. How are copyright infringement and defamation prevented and dealt with in the EU, The Netherlands and England?
- 5. How is a foreign judgment from the EU, The Netherlands and/or the UK against a US manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website concerning copyright infringement and defamation enforced in the US?

The research was primarily desk research and the main sources used were US, EU, Dutch and English law and case-law, studies, reports, guides, websites and other documents.

#### Chapter 1: Is there a need of missing persons' websites?

#### **Introduction**

Before the research questions can be answered, some legal background information concerning missing persons should be provided. Therefore, in this chapter an answer will be given to the first sub question: "What is the social value or benefit of US based missing persons' websites?" The chapter is divided into four paragraphs. The first paragraph is about the history of missing persons in the US which is split into three parts answering first, who should be considered a missing person, second, how many missing persons are there in the US and, third, how the law concerning missing persons has developed throughout the years. The second paragraph will be about the legal definitions, explanations and problems surrounding missing persons and is divided into two parts, first, about missing children and, second, concerning missing adults. The third paragraph will clarify if the US Government<sup>15</sup> should be involved in the problems surrounding missing people. This paragraph consists of two parts: first, the obligations of the US Government and, second, if the general public should help to locate missing persons. Hereafter, the content of the fourth paragraph will focus only on information needed for the following two chapters as which US based missing persons' websites a manager of a missing persons' website should use as reliable sources.

#### 1.1 The history of missing persons in the US

### 1.1.1 Who is a missing person?<sup>16</sup>

In general, a missing person can be a child or an adult. However, it is possible that there is overlap between the two categories as, although the *Amber Alert*<sup>17</sup> is for missing children only, as the child must be, amongst others, younger than 17 years<sup>18</sup>, it can also be issued if the person is younger than 21 years due to *Suzanne's Law*<sup>19</sup>.

#### 1.1.2 How many missing persons are there?

The total number of missing children and adults is unknown.<sup>20</sup>

There are three reasons which explain why it will never be exactly known how many missing persons' there are:

First, the numbers provided only concern the cases of persons who are reported as missing to law enforcement. An example of a missing person's case not reported to law enforcement is the case of Caylee Anthony, a two year old, who disappeared in June 2008 and who was reported missing by her grandmother on 15 July 2008 to law enforcement after the mother of the girl could not explain where Caylee was. Eventually, the girl was found deceased on 11 December 2008. Due to this tragedy, members of the general public and different states, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> http://www.usa.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See also part: 1.1.4 Legal definitions, explanations and problems, p. 12-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/guidelines.htm (12 August 2012) and O'Brien and French 2008, p. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> http://www.mass.gov/eopss/law-enforce-and-cj/law-enforce/missing-and-wanted/mmcc/missing-children-laws.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> For children, see e.g. for missing children the introduction of "*Caylee's Law*" (felony charges for parents who do not report their child to be missing) from New York State Senator A.J. Lanza (http://www.nysenate.gov/press-release/senator-lanza-introduces-caylee-s-law-ny-bill-would-create-felony-charge-failing-repor (12 August 2012)) and for missing adults: Fernandes 2009, p. 7-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Moore 2011, p. 154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Wolbert Burgess, Regehr and Roberts 2010, p. 2.

<sup>23</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> http://www.change.org/petitions/create-caylee-s-law-3 (12 August 2012).

New York<sup>25</sup>, wanted to create a "Caylee's Law". <sup>26</sup> In sum, if this law should enter into force, it will be regarded a felony if a parent or a guardian does not report his or her child or the child he or she is taking care of as missing to law enforcement within 24 hours. <sup>27</sup> Second, when it concerns a missing adult, it does not always have to be the case that he or she has met with foul play, as adults can choose where they want to go without the obligation of telling anyone. <sup>28</sup> Additionally, due to this freedom, it can happen that an adult is found dead, for example murdered, while nobody even noticed that this person was missing. <sup>29</sup> According to the report "Missing adults: Background, Federal Programs, and Issues for Congress" of 2 February 2009<sup>30</sup>, adults have a legal right to leave, which creates problems for left-behind families in reporting an adult as missing to law enforcement. <sup>31</sup> In sum, the reasons why an adult can disappear are: foul play, a high-risk lifestyle (e.g. involved in drugs), a history of victimization (e.g. domestic abuse), a physical disability, a developmental disability, a cognitive disorder and/or a nature disaster. <sup>32</sup>

Third, although the adult is regarded as missing, his or her body has turned up, but could not be identified by law enforcement and therefore the person is still listed as missing.<sup>33</sup>

#### 1.1.3 The legal history of missing persons' laws

#### 1.1.3.1 Missing children

A tragedy has to take place before action is taken, which happened in the field of missing children, since it lasted until the beginning of the 1980s before it became a topic for politics and legislation. <sup>34</sup> It all began with three child abductions: First, the parental abduction of five year old Joanna Yerkovich (she was abducted by her father on 20 December 1974 and located in 1984), second, the disappearance of six year old Etan Patz (he vanished while walking to school on 25 May 1979) and, third, the abduction of six year old Adam Walsh (he disappeared from a shopping centre on 27 July 1981 and was found murdered two weeks later). <sup>35</sup> These three cases became well known to the American public due to the actions by their left-behind parent(s) of attracting awareness to them and other missing children. In 1980 Gloria Yerkovich set up the national non-non profit agency *Child Find, Inc.* <sup>36</sup>, an organization specialized in, amongst others, locating missing children. <sup>37</sup> Etan Patz was the first child whose picture was published on a milk carton and due to the fact that, since 1982, 25 May

http://www.change.org/petitions/create-caylee-s-law-3 and http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/post\_now/post/casey-anthony-case-inspires-md-legislation/2011/07/08/gIQANctP3H\_blog.html (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>28</sup> Vaccariello 2009, p. 80-84, p. 88 and p. 213.

<sup>30</sup> Fernandes 2009, p. 1-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> http://www.nysenate.gov/press-release/senator-lanza-introduces-caylee-s-law-ny-bill-would-create-felony-charge-failing-repor, http://www.capitaltonight.com/2011/07/caylees-law/ and http://assembly.state.ny.us/leg/?bn=A08539 (all 12 August 2012).

http://www.usatoday.com/news/nation/2011-07-07-caylee-anthony-petition\_n.htm, http://abcnews.go.com/US/casey-anthony-trial-aftermath-caylee-law-drafted-states/story?id=14020260 and http://blogs.findlaw.com/blotter/2011/07/caylees-law-proposed-in-fl-ny-ok-wv.html (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Ibid, p. 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Ibid, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Ibid, p. 6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Vaccariello 2009, p. 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Tedisco and Paludi 1996, p. 112-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Ibid and Kamerman, Phipps and Ben-Arieh (editors) 2010, p. 164.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> http://www.childfindofamerica.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Kamerman, Phipps and Ben-Arieh (editors) 2010, p. 164-165 and http://www.childfindofamerica.org/about%20Child%20Find.htm (12 August 2012).

became the annual "National Missing Children day", 38. John Walsh, became, together with others, involved in lobbying for legislation concerning missing children<sup>39</sup>.40

During the following years, several federal laws concerning missing children came into existence.<sup>41</sup> However, only five of them will be examined in short because they can be considered as relevant for a missing persons' website.

The first act which came into force was the *Missing Children Act* (28 USC § 534) of 1982<sup>42</sup> in which the tasks of the *Attorney General* are described as, for example, he or she shall appoint officials who will collect information concerning a deceased non-identified child or will gather information concerning the location of missing child (Missing Children Act (28 USC §534 (a) 2 and 3)<sup>43</sup>, which could than be exchanged with other officials of federal and/or state level and with institutions (Missing Children Act (28 USC § 534 (a) 4)<sup>44</sup>.

Second, there is the Missing Children's Assistance Act (42 USC§ 5771 et seq.)<sup>45</sup> of 1984<sup>46</sup>, in which it is required, amongst others, that a clearinghouse for missing children had to come into existence. 47 This was realized with the coming into existence of the *National Center of* Missing and Exploited Children (or NCMEC)<sup>48</sup> in 1984.<sup>49</sup>

The Congress also admitted in Section 5771 Missing Children's Assistance Act (42 USC § 5771 et seg.)<sup>50</sup> that there was need for a more adequate legal response concerning the resolving of missing children cases:

- (1) each year thousands of children are abducted or removed from the control of a parent having legal custody without such parent's consent, under circumstances which immediately place them in grave danger;
- (2) many of these children are never reunited with their families;
- (3) often there are no clues to the whereabouts of these children;
- (4) many missing children are at great risk of both physical harm and sexual exploitation;
- (5) in many cases, parents and local law enforcement officials have neither the resources nor the expertise to mount expanded search efforts;

<sup>&</sup>quot;The Congress hereby finds that —

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Katz 2010, p. 306.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Kamerman, Phipps and Ben-Arieh (editors) 2010, p. 165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Ibid, p. 160 and 165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> See e.g. https://www.interpol.int/Public/Children/Missing/NationalLaws/mcUSA.asp and http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Missing Children's Act or 28 USC § 534.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 21 and

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en US&PageId=1615 (12 August 2012). 44 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>46</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 21, Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 1-2 and De Ruyver, Zanders, Vermeulen and Derre 2000, p. 118-120. For more information concerning the *NCMEC* see their website:

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012). See also the section: 1.2.2.1 The National Center For Missing and Exploited Children or NCMEC, p. 24-

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 21, Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 1-2 and De Ruyver, Zanders, Vermeulen and Derre 2000, p. 118-120. For more information concerning the *NCMEC* see their website:

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012). See also the section: 1.2.2.1 The National Center For Missing and Exploited Children or NCMEC, p. 24-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

- (6) abducted children are frequently moved from one locality to another, requiring the cooperation and coordination of local, State, and Federal law enforcement efforts;
- (7) on frequent occasions, law enforcement authorities quickly exhaust all leads in missing children cases, and require assistance from distant communities where the child may be located; and
- (8) Federal assistance is urgently needed to coordinate and assist in this interstate problem."51

Third, the *National Child Search Assistance Act* or *Title 42 USC § 5779-5780*<sup>52</sup> of 1990 explains in *§ 5780* (3) which information of the missing child must be included in a state report:

- "(3) provide that each such report and all necessary and available information, which, with respect to each missing child report, shall include—
- (A) the name, date of birth, sex, race, height, weight, and eye and hair color of the child;
- (B) the date and location of the last known contact with the child; and
- (C) the category under which the child is reported missing;... ,53

After the collection of this information, the following procedure should be followed according to *Title 42 USC § 5780* (3) and (4) *National Child Search Assistance Act* <sup>54</sup>:

- "...is entered within 2 hours of receipt into the State law enforcement system and the National Crime Information Center computer networks and made available to the Missing Children Information Clearinghouse within the State or other agency designated within the State to receive such reports; and
- (4) provide that after receiving reports as provided in paragraph (2), the law enforcement agency that entered the report into the National Crime Information Center shall—
- (A) no later than 60 days after the original entry of the record into the State law enforcement system and National Crime Information Center computer networks, verify and update such record with any additional information, including, where available, medical and dental records;
- (B) institute or assist with appropriate search and investigative procedures; and
- (C) maintain close liaison with the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children for the exchange of information and technical assistance in the missing children cases."55

The fourth act concerns the *Prosecutorial Remedies and Other Tools to End the Exploitation of Children Today Act* (or *PROTECT* or *Public Law 108-21*)<sup>56</sup> of 2003<sup>57</sup>, which came into existence on 30 April 2003.<sup>58</sup> In sum, it is about the reauthorization of the *NCMEC*<sup>59</sup>, about law enforcement and about the development and/or enhancement of the *Amber Alert*<sup>60</sup>.<sup>61</sup> The fifth act is the *Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act*<sup>62</sup> of 2006, in which it is clarified, amongst others, that no state law enforcement is allowed to remove a missing person's report from the state law enforcement system or from the *FBI's National Crime Information Center* (or *NCIC*)<sup>63</sup> computer database only due to the fact that the missing child

<sup>52</sup> National Child Search Assistance Act or Title 42 USC § 5779-5780 and http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (12

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Ibid.

<sup>53</sup> National Child Search Assistance Act or Title 42 USC § 5779-5780.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Ibid and

<sup>55</sup> National Child Search Assistance Act or Title 42 USC § 5779-5780.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Prosecutorial Remedies and Other Tools to End the Exploitation of Children Today Act or PROTECT Act or 42 USC §5791 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012). See also the section: *1.2.2.1 The National Center For Missing and Exploited Children or NCMEC*, p. 24-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012). See also the section: 1.2.1.1 The Amber Alert, p. 21-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. viii and 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> H.R. 4472: Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act or Public Law 109-248.

<sup>63</sup> http://www.fas.org/irp/agency/doj/fbi/is/ncic.htm (12 August 2012).

has reached a certain age.<sup>64</sup> This act is also well known because of its sections concerning protecting children from sex offenders.<sup>65</sup>

#### 1.1.3.2 Missing adults

Again, a tragedy has to take place before politicians come into action, since awareness to the problems of missing adults began until after the disappearance of Kristen Modafferi, who had just become 18 years old in 1997. <sup>66</sup> She went missing on 23 June 1997 after leaving her place of employment, a coffee shop in San Francisco. <sup>67</sup> As she was 18, she was considered an adult and therefore could not be included in the missing children register of the *NCMEC* <sup>68</sup> <sup>69</sup> To solve this problem, her parents and others advocated for the *Kristen's Act*. <sup>70</sup> The first *Kristen's Act* became known as *H.R.* 2780: *Kristen's Law* <sup>71</sup> (*Public Law* 106-468) <sup>72</sup> on 9 November 2000. <sup>73</sup> In sum, the law was about the funding of a clearinghouse for missing adults who had disappeared, according to law enforcement, due to foul play. <sup>74</sup> It obliged that missing adults should be reported to the *National Center for Missing Adults* <sup>75</sup> <sup>76</sup>. The reason why the *Kristen's Act* needs to be reauthorized was because its funding ended in 2004 <sup>77</sup> and is best explained in *Title II: Kristen's Act Regulthorization Section* 202 *Findings* of

The reason why the *Kristen's Act* needs to be reauthorized was because its funding ended in 2004<sup>77</sup> and is best explained in *Title II: Kristen's Act Reauthorization Section 202 Findings* of the ("H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011)<sup>78</sup>:

- (1) Every year thousands of adults become missing due to advanced age, diminished mental capacity, or foul play. Often there is no information regarding the whereabouts of these adults and many of them are never reunited with their families.
- (2) Missing adults are at great risk of both physical harm and sexual exploitation.
- (3) In most cases, families and local law enforcement officials have neither the resources nor the expertise to undertake appropriate search efforts for a missing adult.
- (4) The search for a missing adult requires cooperation and coordination among Federal, State, and local law enforcement agencies and assistance from distant communities where the adult may be located.
- (5) Federal assistance is urgently needed to help with coordination among such agencies.". <sup>79</sup>

Another law concerning missing adults is *Suzanne's Law*<sup>80</sup>, which is important for two reasons: First, it obligates authorities to enter information about missing persons under the age

<sup>&</sup>quot;Congress finds the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Section 154: Missing Child Reporting Requirements (a) of the H.R. 4472: Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act or Public Law 109-248.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Maras 2012, p. 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Ibid and Newton 2009, p. 246.

<sup>68</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 93 and Patterson Ludwig 2001-2002, p. 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> H.R. 2780: Kristen's Act or Public Law 106-486.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> http://charlotte.news14.com/content/top\_stories/642820/woman-missing-14-years-inspired-change-for-similar-cases (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Myrick 2008, p. 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> http://www.ehow.com/list\_6855833\_legal-laws-missing-persons.html#ixzzlHiljhvhz (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> H.R. 2780: Kristen's Act or Public Law 106-486 and http://www.phoenixnewtimes.com/2009-01-15/news/thenational-center-for-missing-adults-funding-was-slashed-by-the-feds-but-three-volunteers-are-keeping-it-alive/ (12 August 2012). See also the section: 1.2.2.2 The National Center for Missing Adults, p. 25-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Part of the *Prosecutorial Remedies and Other Tools to End the Exploitation of Children Today Act* or *PROTECT Act* or *42 USC §5791 et seq*, O'Brien and French 2008, p. 94, http://www.mass.gov/eopss/law-enforce-and-cj/law-enforce/missing-and-wanted/mmcc/missing-children-laws.html, http://definitions.uslegal.com/s/suzannes-law/, http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/2003/April/03\_ag\_266.htm and

of 21, yet older than 18<sup>81</sup>, in the *FBI's NCIC*<sup>82</sup> *System*<sup>83</sup> and, second, there is no waiting period allowed before a law enforcement agency should investigate a missing adult's case. The law is named after Suzanne Lyall, a student at the *State University of New York* in Albany, who went missing on 2 March 1998 after she left her work in a software shop and due to the fact that law enforcement only started to investigate her disappearance after a waiting period of 48 hours. <sup>85</sup>

The last federal law (which, unfortunately, never passed the *Senate*<sup>86</sup>)<sup>87</sup> is *Billy's Law* (*H.R.* 3695: *Billy's Law* or *Help Find the Missing Act*).<sup>88</sup> In short the law regulates, amongst others, the funding and accessibility of *the National Missing and Unidentified Persons System* (or *NamUs*)<sup>89</sup> and is important for data sharing activities between *NamUs*<sup>90</sup> and the *NCIC*<sup>91</sup> of the *FBI*<sup>92</sup>.<sup>93</sup> It also describes in "*Section 4: Incentive Grants Program*" which information of the missing adult must be included in the missing adult report:

- "(1) CONTENT FOR MISSING PERSONS- The minimum information described in this section, with respect to a missing person, is the following:
- (A) The name, date of birth, city and State of residence, gender, race, height, weight, eye color, and hair color of the missing person.
- (B) The date and location of the last known contact with the missing person.
- (C) The category described in subsection (e) in which the missing person is classified."94

In sum, the law was named after Billy Smolinski who disappeared on 24 August 2004 from Waterbury (Connecticut) after he had asked a neighbour to look after his dog, and, although the neighbour accepted the request, he or she could not find the key the following day in its usual place. His parents, who wanted to file a missing person's report, were told by law enforcement that they had to wait three days (because Mr. Smolinski had indicated that he would go away for three days) and even after the elapse of those three days, his parents experienced many problems concerning the way their missing son's case was handled by law enforcement. He had saked a neighbour to look after his dog, and, although the neighbour accepted the request, he or she could not find the key the following day in its usual place. The parents had be a missing person's report, were told by law enforcement.

#### 1.1.4 Legal definitions, explanations and problems

Taking into account the background of missing persons' law the legal definition and the hereto related problems of a missing person, will now be examined in more detail.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (all 12 August 2012)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Moore 2011, p. 154.

<sup>82</sup> http://www.fas.org/irp/agency/doj/fbi/is/ncic.htm (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalert.gov/guidelines.htm (12 August 2012) and O'Brien and French 2008, p. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 94 and 102.

<sup>85</sup> Ibid, p. 93 and http://www.teamhope.org/suzanneslaw.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>86</sup> http://www.senate.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/111/hr3695 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> H.R. 3695: Billy's Law.

<sup>89</sup> http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>90</sup> Ibid

<sup>91</sup> http://www.fas.org/irp/agency/doj/fbi/is/ncic.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>92</sup> http://www.fbi.gov/ (12 August 2012)

<sup>93</sup> http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/111/hr3695 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> H.R. 3695: Billy's Law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> http://www.ctpost.com/opinion/article/One-step-closer-maybe-to-finding-Billy-Smolinski-446713.php and http://www.amw.com/missing\_persons/brief.cfm?id=37752 (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Ibid, http://vrc.poe.house.gov/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=6521&catid=104:press-releases and http://www.nhregister.com/articles/2009/08/07/news/a1-billylaw.txt?viewmode=fullstory (both 12 August 2012).

#### 1.1.4.1 Missing children

In this paragraph the definition of a "missing child" is explained and it is clarified how a distinction can be made amongst the heterogeneous group of missing children.

According to the Missing Children's Assistance Act<sup>97</sup> (42 USC § 5772 (1)) a "Missing Child" is defined as:

(B) the circumstances of the case strongly indicate that such individual is likely to be abused or sexually exploited;..."  $^{98}$ 

This definition should be explained broadly<sup>99</sup>, which can lead to disagreement. For example, in *Lazaridis v. International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children*<sup>100</sup> a (former) abductor, claimed that he had a definition for a "not missing child", since he suggested that there was need for a distinction between children who should be regarded as missing and not missing. However, the *United States District Court* of Columbia was of the opinion that this definition was too vague to be useful. <sup>102</sup>

There are different forms of "missing children", which are explained with the help of the National Incidence Studies of Missing, Abducted, Runaway, and Thrownaway Children (or NISMART)<sup>103</sup>. However, it is not unusual that a missing persons' website does not use the definitions provided by the NISMART-2 studies and instead uses their own definitions of categories of "missing children".<sup>104</sup>

Making distinction among the missing children is important and might have legal implications, because if a law enforcement agency wrongly classifies a missing child, the parents can sue the police for civil liability. For example, it is not uncommon that the disappearance of a teenager is classified by law enforcement as a runaway while he or she is in fact abducted by a stranger. <sup>106</sup>

In sum, *NISMART*<sup>107</sup> are periodic studies, obligated by the *Missing Children Assistance Act* (42 USC § 5771)<sup>108</sup> and made by the *Office of Justice and Delinquency Prevention* (*OJJDP*)<sup>109</sup>, to determine how many missing and recovered children there were in a certain timeframe. <sup>110</sup> The studies were conducted two times: First, in 1988, which was called

<sup>103</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1-2.

13

<sup>&</sup>quot;...any individual less than 18 years of age whose whereabouts are unknown to such individual's legal custodian if —

<sup>(</sup>A) the circumstances surrounding such individual's disappearance indicate that such individual may possibly have been removed by another from the control of such individual's legal custodian without such custodian's consent; or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>98</sup> Section 5772 (1) Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Plass 2007, p. 30-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Lazaridis v. International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Ibid, (footnote 6).

<sup>102</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> See e.g. for *The Charley Project* (http://www.charleyproject.org/): http://www.charleyproject.org/terms.html and the *For the Lost Organization* (http://www.forthelost.org/): http://www.forthelost.org/terms.html (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Patterson Ludwig 2001-2002, p. 96-98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Moore 2011, p. 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup>Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>109</sup> http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/offices/ojjdp.htm and http://www.ojjdp.gov/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1.

NISMART-1 and which was published in May 1990<sup>111</sup>, and, second, in 1999 (although the period was from 1997-1999, most of the conducted studies 112 had as a central year 1999), which was called NISMART-2 and which was published in 2002 and later. 113 Both studies can be regarded as the most inclusive reports available concerning the number of missing children and the reasons why a child could be missing in the US. 114 However, only the results of the second study will be used, because it is the most recent one. And also, it is recognized on several occasions that there can be no conclusions made based on both surveys, since different methods and definitions were used. 115 For example, it is acknowledged that the definition to describe which children should be considered as "missing children" in the studies of NISMART-1 was too broad 116.117 Nevertheless, the OJJDP 118 did publish an outcome concerning the two NISMART studies claiming a decline of missing children in the US<sup>119</sup>. 120

In the NISMART-2 studies missing children are divided into two categories, namely, first, "Caretaker Missing", and, second, "Reported Missing" (meaning that the caretaker went to a law agency, e.g. a police station, claimed that the child was missing and got assistance of that agency to find the child), nonetheless, other combinations are possible as well. 121 According to the NISMART-2 studies there can be four groups of "missing children", although, a difference exists when it concerns children who are "abducted" and children who are "not abducted" and therefore called "missing", although both categories can also overlap<sup>122</sup>.<sup>123</sup>

The first category of a missing child is a "runaway", which the NISMART-2 study defines as: "• A child leaves home without permission and stays away overnight.

- A child 14 years old or younger (or older and mentally incompetent) who is away from home chooses not to come home when expected to and stays away overnight.
- A child 15 years old or older who is away from home chooses not to come home and stays away two nights." 124 Runaways should not be confused with "thrownaways" (although there is no strict separation between the two), as the definition, according to the NISMART-2 study, of the last one is:
- "• A child is asked or told to leave home by a parent or other household adult, no adequate alternative care is arranged for the child by a household adult, and the child is out of the household overnight.
- A child who is away from home is prevented from returning home by a parent or other household adult, no adequate alternative care is arranged for the child by a household adult, and the child is out of the household overnight."125

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 3.

<sup>112</sup> The studies fall into different categories, e.g. the study of "Runaway/Thrownaway children" was published in October 2002 (Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I, p. 1), while the study of "Children Missing Involuntarily of for Benign Reasons" was published in July 2005 (Sedlak, Finkelhor and Hammer 2005, p. 1). <sup>113</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 3. However, some material was published at other moments (See e.g. Sedlak,

Finkelhor and Hammer 2005, p. 1-12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Lampinen, Arnal, Culbertson-Faegre and Sweeney 2010, p. 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1-2 and Eagle Shutt, Mitchell Miller, Schreck and Brown 2004, p. 132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 3-4 and 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1-2.

<sup>118</sup> http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/offices/ojjdp.htm and http://www.ojjdp.gov/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1-2, Hammer, Finkelhor, Sedlak and Porcellini 2004, p. 1-8 and Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 3-4 and 13-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Flores 2002, p. 1-2.

Lampinen, Arnal, Culbertson-Faegre and Sweeney 2010, p. 131-132 and Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 5. See e.g. Sedlak, Finkelhor and Hammer 2005, p. 1-6 as p. 4 of this study provides some examples of what should be seen as "Caretaker Missing" and/or "Reported Missing".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Lampinen, Arnal, Culbertson-Faegre and Sweeney 2010, p. 131.

Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I, p. 1-12, Sedlak, Finkelhor and Hammer 2005, p. 1-12, Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 II, p. 1-12 and Finkelhor, Hammer and Sedlak 2002, p. 1-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I, p. 2.

<sup>125</sup> Ibid.

The second category concerns children who are missing involuntarily or for benign reasons, which are being defined by NISMART-2 study as, first, in the case of "Missing Involuntarily, Lost or Injured":

"A missing involuntary, lost, or injured episode occurs when a child's whereabouts are unknown to the child's caretaker, who either contacts law enforcement or a missing children's agency to locate the missing child or becomes alarmed for at least 1 hour and tries to locate the child, and one of the following conditions applies: (1) the child was trying to get home or make contact with the caretaker but was unable to do so because the child was lost, stranded, or injured (defined as physical harm that required medical attention or resulted in injuries that were evident the next day, e.g., cuts, bruises, or sprains); or (2) the child was too young to know how to return home or make contact with the caretaker." 126

And second, when it concerns "Missing Benign Explanation":

"A missing benign explanation episode occurs when a child's whereabouts are unknown to the child's caretaker, who either contacts law enforcement or a missing children's agency to locate the missing child or (1) becomes alarmed for at least an hour, (2) tries to locate the child, and (3) contacts the police about the episode for any reason, as long as the child was not lost, injured, abducted, victimized, or classified as runaway/thrownaway." 127 The third reason why children become missing is due to (international) parental abduction which is defined by the NISMART-2 study as:

"...the taking or keeping of a child by a family member in violation of a custody order, a decree, or other legitimate custodial rights, where the taking or keeping involved some element of concealment, flight, or intent to  $deprive\ a\ lawful\ custodian\ indefinitely\ of\ custodial\ privileges."^{128}$ 

The last reason why children are missing (also included in this study are children who where, at the moment of their abduction, not considered to be missing because e.g. their parent was of the opinion that the child was on its way to school)<sup>129</sup> is abductions by strangers or nonfamily abductions which is defined by the NISMART-2 study as:

"Nonfamily abduction: (1) An episode in which a nonfamily perpetrator takes a child by the USe of physical force or threat of bodily harm or detains the child for a substantial period of time (at least 1 hour) in an isolated place by the USe of physical force or threat of bodily harm without lawful authority or parental permission, or (2) an episode in which a child younger than 15 or mentally incompetent, and without lawful authority or parental permission, is taken or detained or voluntarily accompanies a nonfamily perpetrator who conceals the child's whereabouts, demands ransom, or expresses the intention to keep the child permanently." 130

The *Missing Children's Assistance Act* (*Title 42 USC § 5772 (1)*)<sup>131</sup> explains what is meant with a "*missing child*" and the *NISMART-2* studies<sup>132</sup> clarifies the categories of missing children. Nevertheless, there are still discussions as to whether some children should be considered as missing. Most of the time it is about the status of runaways and children who are abducted by their parent(s).

First, it is claimed that runaways should not be regarded as missing, because they chose to leave. 133 For example, the child could have decided to leave home because he or she was sexually abused. <sup>134</sup> Some authors are therefore of the opinion that not only attention should be paid to the reason why the child disappeared in the first place, but also to the problem that, during the period that he or she is missing, he or she can encounter other harm (to clarify, a child who has runaway from home to escape from a violent father, can, while living on the street, come into contact with a sexual predator). 135

<sup>128</sup> Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 II, p. 2.

<sup>131</sup>Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Sedlak, Finkelhor and Hammer 2005, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Finkelhor, Hammer and Sedlak 2002, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Ibid, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I, p. 2, Sedlak, Finkelhor and Hammer 2005, p. 2, Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 II, p. 2 and Finkelhor, Hammer and Sedlak 2002, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I, p. 2.

<sup>134</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Plass 2007, p. 31.

Second, it is stated that a(n) (international) parental abducted child should not be regarded as missing (in other words as not being a law-enforcement problem), since he or she is in the company of (one of) his or her parent(s), who, as frequently assumed, has only the best interest of the child in mind. <sup>136</sup> For example, if the abductor is the mother of the child, she often will have, according to many members of the general public, a legitimate defense to hide the child from his or her father. 137 At the moment, there are efforts to change this view with the help of actual cases<sup>138</sup> and/or with studies<sup>139</sup>. This can be illustrated with two examples, first, according to different US studies, the motive of the abductor has more to do with anger and/or revenge against the left-behind parent than with the best interest of the child and, second, in the article "Early Identification of Risk Factors for Parental Abduction" the researchers explain that parental abduction is not a case of "just mothers or fathers", but that both genders are equally likely to take the child. 142 Furthermore, international parental abduction is also associated with the problem of "forum shopping" 143, meaning that it can happen that the parent who takes his or her child from the US to another state, is acquitted of abducting his or her child by the foreign court, yet not by the US court. 144

#### 1.1.4.2 Missing adults

Less attention is paid to the legal definition of who can be considered a missing adult. As illustrated by the history surrounding Kristen's Law<sup>145</sup>, Suzanne's Law<sup>146</sup> and Billy's Law<sup>147</sup>, the problem with missing adults is that law enforcement and other organizations have a different approach than in cases of missing children (i.e. giving more priority to the problem of missing children than of missing adults). <sup>148</sup> To give two examples: First, if the missing person is a child, he or she must be reported missing as soon as possible to law enforcement, which is not the case when it concerns an adult 149, and, second, if a missing adult is located, the police has no obligation to inform e.g. the left-behind family where the former missing adult is, because it is up to him or her to contact the left-behind family. <sup>150</sup> This is due to the possible consequence that, in the event that the police would notify the left-behind family of the location of the former missing person, the former missing person's civil rights could be compromised.<sup>151</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Allen 1991, p. 1 and the *Polly Klaas Foundation 2004*, p. 1-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Although it can happen that a mother has a legitimate motive to hide her child from an abusive father (see e.g. Klein, Orloff & Sarangapani 2005, p. 109-156), this does not mean that it cannot be the other way around.

<sup>138</sup> See e.g. the For the Lost Organization (http://www.forthelost.org/) which explains on its website why parental abduction is not in the best interests of the child: http://forthelost.wordpress.com/the-victims-of-familyabduction/ and the Polly Klaas Foundation 2004, p. 1-24 (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> See e.g. Allen 1991, p. 2, Chiancone 2001, p. 1-13, Plass, Finkelhor and Hotaling 1997, p. 333-348 and Watnik 2003, p. 415-416.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Johnston, Sagatun-Edwards, Blomquist and Girdner 2001, p. 1-11 and Report on Compliance with the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction April 2009, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Johnston, Sagatun-Edwards, Blomquist and Girdner 2001, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Pérez-Vera 1982, p. 429 (or p. 17).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> See also the part: 1.1.4 Legal definitions, explanations and problems, p. 12-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 93.

<sup>146</sup>http://www.mass.gov/eopss/law-enforce-and-cj/law-enforce/missing-and-wanted/mmcc/missing-childrenlaws.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> H.R. 3695: Billy's Law.

Myrick 2008, p. 1-3 and http://www.ehow.com/info\_7803098\_legel-rights-locating-missingadult.html#ixzz1hil2pzNh (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> http://www.ehow.com/list 6855833 legal-laws-missing-persons.html#ixzzlHiljhvhz (12 August 2012).

<sup>150</sup> http://www.ehow.com/info\_7803098\_legel-rights-locating-missing-adult.html#ixzz1hil2pzNh (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Ibid.

Nevertheless, in "Section 4: Incentive Grants" of Billy's Law<sup>152</sup> a missing adult is defined as:

- "(e) Categories of Missing Persons- The categories of missing persons described in this subsection are the following:
- (1) A missing person age 21 or older who--
- (A) is senile or is suffering from a proven mental or physical disability, as documented by a source deemed credible to an appropriate law enforcement entity; or
- (B) is missing under circumstances that indicate, as determined by an appropriate law enforcement entity-
- (i) that the person's physical safety may be endangered;
- (ii) that the disappearance may not have been voluntary, such as abduction or kidnapping; or
- (iii) that the disappearance may have been caused by a natural disaster or catastrophe (such as an airplane crash or terrorist attack).
- (2) A missing person who does not meet the criteria described in paragraph (1) but who meets one of the following criteria:
- (A) There is a reasonable concern, as determined by an appropriate law enforcement entity, for the safety of the missing person.
- (B) The person is under age 21 and emancipated under the laws of the person's State of residence." <sup>153</sup> Yet, although *Billy's Law* <sup>154</sup> did not pass the *Senate* <sup>155</sup>, it can be assumed that its definition of a missing adult in this law is nevertheless used by e.g. law enforcement. <sup>156</sup>

#### 1.1.5 Should the US government be involved?

As indicated above in the paragraph "*The legal history of missing persons' laws*", the general public and left-behind persons have asked for the involvement of the *US Government* to undertake action in the field of missing persons, which can be illustrated with, for example, the Billy Smolinski case<sup>157</sup>. The question answered in this paragraph will be if the *US Government*, together with law enforcement, can prevent and solve the problem of missing persons.

#### 1.1.5.1 The obligations of the US Government

#### 1.1.5.1.1 Protection of the victim

First, the *US Government* should protect people from going and being missing. As is illustrated above, tragedy has to strike before the *US Government* and law enforcement get involved. It has been established, due to e.g. the *Missing Children's Assistance Act* (42 *USC § 5771 et seq.*)<sup>160</sup> and "*Missing adults: Background, Federal Programs, and Issues for Congress*"<sup>161</sup>, that there is a problem regarding locating missing people. Therefore, for example, more enhanced studies regarding missing children<sup>162</sup> and missing adults are needed. Second, it has been acknowledged that there are difficulties in locating e.g. missing adults, due to, e.g. the resistance of law enforcement to make a missing person's report since adults have a legal right to go missing and due to the fact that there are differences in the response of

154 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> H.R. 3695: Billy's Law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Ibid.

<sup>155</sup> http://www.senate.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/111/hr3695 (12 August 2012).

<sup>157</sup> http://www.ctpost.com/opinion/article/One-step-closer-maybe-to-finding-Billy-Smolinski-446713.php/, http://vrc.poe.house.gov/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=6521&catid=104:press-releases and http://www.nhregister.com/articles/2009/08/07/news/a1-billylaw.txt?viewmode=fullstory (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> See the section: 1.1.3.2 Missing adults, p. 11-12.

<sup>159</sup> See the section: 1.1.3.1 Missing children, p. 8-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup>Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Fernandes 2009, p. 1-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> See the section: 1.1.4.1 Missing children, p. 13-16.

state law. <sup>163</sup> Therefore, federal law, as for example *Suzanne's Law* <sup>164</sup>, can be regarded as necessary.

Third, even if law enforcement is involved, e.g. by using the *Amber Alert*<sup>165</sup>, it is acknowledged that there are problems concerning the use of this system and a possible solution is that there should be a better evaluation of the system by e.g. law enforcement. Fourth, there are many unidentified deceased persons who could be identified, since it is possible that they are reported elsewhere as missing persons, however due to the different responses of e.g. law enforcement, there are problems concerning the identification of these deceased persons. This problem could be solved with the help of federal law like *Billy's Law*<sup>168</sup>.

Fifth, although many legal problems concerning missing persons are solved by applying missing persons' laws, there are still legal problems which should be addressed in this area, as for example the need for a "Caylee's Law" shows. 169

#### 1.1.5.1.2 Protection of the left-behind persons and/or the general public

First, it must be easier for left-behind persons to report a missing adult since the resistance of law enforcement to make a missing person's report should diminish (although adults have a legal right to go missing), because problems are experienced with the fact that there are differences in the legal responses of states<sup>170</sup> and because details about unidentified bodies are not properly stored in databases<sup>171</sup>. Also, more information from the *US Government* should be provided about what left-behind persons and others can and cannot do to locate a missing child and/or missing adult.

Second, the left-behind persons and/or the general public should be protected against, for example, hoaxes<sup>172</sup> and extortion<sup>173</sup>.

#### 1.1.5.1.3 Why the US Government should not be involved

The author clarifies in the article "Spin doctors and moral crusaders: the moral panic behind child safety legislation" that, as far as legislation about children is concerned, there rarely is resistance or consideration about the possible negative effects of these new laws. The US Government should take into account that it could create or that there could already be some sort of "moral panic" concerning the safety of children by parents if too much attention is provided to e.g. missing children abducted by a stranger, while in reality these kinds of abductions do not happen very often. Also, too much attention to missing persons could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Fernandes 2009, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup>http://www.mass.gov/eopss/law-enforce-and-cj/law-enforce/missing-and-wanted/mmcc/missing-children-laws.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>165</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Griffin 2010, p. 1061.

http://www.namus.gov/about.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>168</sup> H.R. 3695: Billy's Law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> http://www.usatoday.com/news/nation/2011-07-07-caylee-anthony-petition\_n.htm, http://abcnews.go.com/US/casey-anthony-trial-aftermath-caylee-law-drafted-states/story?id=14020260 and http://blogs.findlaw.com/blotter/2011/07/caylees-law-proposed-in-fl-ny-ok-wv.html (all 12 August 2012). <sup>170</sup> Fernandes 2009, p. 5.

<sup>171</sup> http://www.namus.gov/about.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Thomas Milhorn 2007, p.276, 280 and 286 and Newton 2004, p. 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> See e.g. *US v. Haggard*, http://www.fbi.gov/miami/press-releases/2011/virginia-woman-sentenced-to-24-months-in-prison-for-role-in-extortion-scheme-involving-staged-kidnapping-in-guatemala (12 August 2012) and Lawrence 1985, p. 5A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Zgoba 2004, p. 385-404.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Ibid, p. 386, 394 and 398-401.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Ibid, p. 385-404 and http://us.cnn.com/2012/04/20/us/etan-patz-significance/index.html?hpt=hp\_t1 (12 August 2012).

easily result in the fact that people will pay less attention to locating them (e.g. if the *Amber Alert*<sup>177</sup> is used too often, less attention might be given to it by the general public). <sup>178</sup>

#### 1.1.5.2 Should the general public be of help?

Although the number of missing children and adults is unclear<sup>179</sup>, there is a need for support from the general public to help law enforcement in locating missing persons. In the case *U.S. v. Montes-Reyes*<sup>180</sup> it was acknowledged that US state and federal laws recognize the problem of missing children and that it is allowed for a private person to help law enforcement in locating a missing child.<sup>181</sup>

#### 1.1.5.2.1 The advantages of the involvement of the general public

First, as is the case with murder, burglary... some crimes can be solved easier if there is information from the general public. The same is true for missing persons' cases. For example, law enforcement can issue an *Amber Alert*<sup>182</sup> to locate a missing child. Second, due to the number of missing persons, law enforcement cannot spend the same amount of time, resources... to every missing person's case. It often happens that a case has a wrong classification, for example, the disappearance of a teenager is classified as a runaway while he or she is abducted by a stranger. Therefore, missing persons' websites can inform law enforcement when they receive a possible lead from one of its users. Sometimes, a missing persons' website even succeeds in locating a missing person, as is the case with for example the *Doe Network*<sup>184</sup>.

Third, however, even if cases are published in the media due to law enforcement, there still can be problems which can be (partially solved) by creating a specialized missing persons' website. For example, it is not uncommon that there are complaints that not enough attention is being paid to missing Afro-American children<sup>185</sup> in the news<sup>186</sup>, for runaways (as they have decided on their own accord to leave home)<sup>187</sup> or for children who are abducted by one of their parents<sup>188</sup> (e.g. the problem of "forum shopping"<sup>189</sup>).

Fourth, left-behind people are encouraged to draw 'online' attention to missing persons. For example, the *America Most Wanted Safety Center*<sup>190</sup> published a guide containing tips about how to draw attention to missing persons online (e.g. a page on *Facebook*<sup>191</sup>, *MySpace*<sup>192</sup>... containing information about the missing person and distributing a telephone number and/or e-mail address for leads.<sup>193</sup>).<sup>194</sup> This is also common procedure in the case of (international) parental abduction. It is often advised that the media should be involved in the search of the

```
177 http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).
```

http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Sadler 2005, p. 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> See the part: 1.1.2 How many missing persons are there?, p. 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> U.S. v. Montes-Reyes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Ibid and http://www.amberalert.gov/newsroom/pressreleases/ojp\_05\_0217.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>182</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Moore 2011, p. 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> See e.g. http://www.blackandmissinginc.com/cdad/ and http://blackandmissing.org/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> See e.g. Min and Feaster 2010, p. 207-216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I, p. 2.

Allen 1991, p. 1-2, the *Polly Klaas Foundation 2004*, p. 1-24, http://forthelost.wordpress.com/the-victims-of-family-abduction/ (12 August 2012), Chiancone 2001, p. 1-13, Plass, Finkelhor and Hotaling 1997, p. 333-348 and Watnik 2003, p. 415-416.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Pérez-Vera 1982, p. 429 (or p. 17).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> http://safety.amw.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>191</sup> http://www.facebook.com (12 August 2012).

<sup>192</sup> http://www.myspace.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>193</sup> http://www.amw.com/pdf/making%20noise\_guide.pdf (12 August 2012).

<sup>194</sup> http://safety.amw.com/family/making-noise-bringing-attention-to-missing-loved-ones/ (12 August 2012).

left-behind parent, although it should be decided on a case to case base if media attention would bring a positive outcome. 195

Fifth, a member of the general public could be more willing to report to a missing persons' website than to law enforcement, since he or she feels more confident when doubting whether the information could be useful.

Sixth, most of these websites do not only address the general public of the US, but also the rest of the world, because a (possible) missing person's case can be solved with the help of tourists, exchange students...

Seventh, it is possible that a former missing person or a left-behind person can sue a missing persons' website for e.g. defamation. However, it is unlikely that managers of a US based missing persons' website have a malicious intent, because their primary motive behind publishing a disappearance on their website is locating the missing person and not for e.g. financial gain. 196

#### 1.1.5.2.2 The disadvantages of the involvement of the general public

First, a Google internet search revealed on 30 July 2012 that there are at least 99.300.000 results concerning the topic "US missing persons' websites". 197 Most of them just copy the flyer of the NCMEC<sup>198</sup>, which might have little additional effect. Furthermore, a website might be updated irregularly, creating confusion whether or not the missing persons published on that missing persons' website are still missing. Moreover, sometimes it even is uncertain whether the persons who are profiled on the website are truly missing (e.g. how many users will check if the missing child as profiled on a missing persons' website is also profiled on the website of the  $NCMEC^{199}$ ).

Second, by creating a missing persons' website, attention should be given to the intention of its users. For example, the website can lead to the exploitation by people with other motives than helping to find a missing person. Those kinds of visitors can collect information from such a website and use it, for example, for financial gain, extortion<sup>200</sup>, gossip etc. (while they have no actual information concerning the missing adult or child).

Third, if more information is available on the website concerning a missing person case, it might be suspicious when there is no mention of e.g. sources. Furthermore, on the one hand the privacy of missing persons might also be an issue<sup>201</sup>, although, on the other hand, the circumstances and lifestyle of a victim could be important in order to locate him or her. 202

<sup>199</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Watnik 2003, p. 418-419 and US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 2007, p. 95-96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> It should be considered that such an event can happen. For example, the administrator of the *Charley Project* Blog wrote on 23 November 2010 about a missing persons' website of an internet psychic who, not only asked people for money in order that they could become a member, but also did not update the case files on his website (http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2010/11/23/gaaahh-update/ (12 August 2012)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup>http://www.google.be/#hl=nl&sa=X&ei=AqoWULuqO5G2hAfl5oHACg&ved=0CFwQBSgA&q=US+missin g+persons%27+websites&spell=1&bav=on.2,or.r\_gc.r\_pw.r\_qf.&fp=9dd313392708d8d2&biw=1024&bih=432 of 30 July 2012.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> See e.g. US v. Haggard, http://www.fbi.gov/miami/press-releases/2011/virginia-woman-sentenced-to-24months-in-prison-for-role-in-extortion-scheme-involving-staged-kidnapping-in-guatemala and Lawrence 1985,

p. 5A.

201 See e.g. Madeleine Gleason, et al v. Janice Smolinski, et al: A case in which the former ex-girlfriend of Billy Smolinksi, (see the section: 1.1.3.2 Missing adults, p. 11-12), sued, amongst others, the owner of a newspaper and the parents of Billy Smolinski because of an article published in a newspaper where the parents, in short, accused the former ex-girlfriend of being involved in the disappearance of Billy Smolinski.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> See e.g. http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2009/08/13/derogatory-information/ and http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2009/05/18/libeling-the-missing/ (both 12 August 2012).

Also, once information is published on the internet, it is almost always retrievable. In any case, attention should always be paid by law enforcement and others, to the *Privacy Act* or §552a Title 5 United States Code<sup>203</sup>.

Fourth, it is not uncommon that a left-behind parent has a website dedicated to his search. However, a foreign court can, amongst others, order the left-behind parent to remove all references and photos of the missing child from his or her website, yet, even when the leftbehind parent complies, the foreign court can still prevent the left-behind parent to have contact and build up a relationship with the child. 204

Fifth, people can also be scared to start a legal procedure (e.g. in the case of defamation) against a missing persons' website, since it will draw more attention of the general public to them and even in the event that e.g. a former missing person or left-behind person would win the defamation claim (although not all elements were proven to be actual defamation), it could happen that (some) members of the general public are still of the opinion that there was no defamation at all.<sup>205</sup>

#### 1.2 Seven possible resources of US based missing persons' websites

In this paragraph the use of internet sources will be provided. The list of sources will be expanded in the following two chapters because of, for example, by the use of foreign sources. Via this way, the differences between US and foreign copyright and defamation law will be demonstrated.

In general, there are not many coordination problems to detect among the missing persons' websites, since most only copy the flyer of the website of the NCMEC<sup>206</sup>, which is their primary source.

#### 1.2.1 Law enforcement

### 1.2.1.1 The Amber Alert<sup>207</sup>

The Amber Alert stands for: "America's Missing: Broadcast Emergency Response" 208, but is also known as the "Amber Alert System<sup>209</sup>". <sup>210</sup> The setting up of the Amber Alert by a state is financed by means of federal funding since 2003 when it was signed by former President G. Bush in the autumn of 2002.<sup>211</sup>

The Amber Alert is primarily used to get assistance from the general public. <sup>212</sup> During an abduction, the Amber Alert is shown on television stations (including cable stations) and announced on radio stations (first on the radio stations because they are the primary stations as described by the *Emergency Alert Systems*<sup>213</sup> and then on other stations). <sup>214</sup> The *Amber* 

<sup>204</sup> Report on Compliance with the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction April 2009, p. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Privacy Act.

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Ibid and O'Brien and French 2008, p. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/about.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Miller, Griffin, Clinkinbeard and Thomas 2009, p. 111-123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Sadler 2005, p. 130 and Palmiotto 2004, p. 225.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 35-37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> http://transition.fcc.gov/pshs/services/eas/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Woodson 2002, p. 46.

Alert system is used in all 50 states<sup>215</sup>, but it does not have the same name in all these states, e.g. in Georgia it is called the *Levi's Call*<sup>216</sup>, in Hawaii it goes by the name of the *Maile* Amber Alert<sup>217</sup> and in Arkansas it is known as the Morgan Nick Amber Alert<sup>218</sup>.

The Amber Alert was named after the girl Amber Hagerman, who was found murdered, after she had disappeared while she rode her bike in Arlington in the state of Texas in 1996.<sup>219</sup> It was first used that same year and should be regarded as an early warning system for locating abducted children.<sup>220</sup> It is based on the assumption that if the abductor is aware that there is an Amber Alert, he or she would prefer to surrender or let the child go.<sup>221</sup>

The Amber Alert will only be used in case of emergency, meaning that the following criteria of the US Department of Justice<sup>222</sup> have to be met<sup>223</sup>: The child is younger than 17 years, he or she is in danger of violence (serious bodily injury or death), there is a description of the child (and, if possible, of the abductor) and the child has been entered in the NCIC<sup>224</sup> System.<sup>225</sup>

It was established that in the period between 1996 and 2003 a total of 100 children were located alive after an Amber Alert. 226 In the case of (international) parental abduction the percentage of recovered children is higher than when the child is abducted by a stranger.<sup>227</sup> The number of issued Amber Alerts, is believed to be declining each year (from 275 activations in 2005 till 227 activations in 2007). 228

Almost every missing persons' website has an Amber Alert Ticker<sup>229</sup>. <sup>230</sup> Nevertheless, there are also disadvantages concerning the use of the Amber Alert. First, the danger exists that if the Amber Alert is used too frequently, people will pay less attention to it.<sup>231</sup> This is the reason why the *Amber Alert* is not used in the case of endangered runaways. <sup>232</sup> Also, although a missing persons' website has an *Amber Alert Ticker* <sup>233</sup>, this does not mean that all visitors will pay attention to it.

http://www.amberalert.gov/newsroom/pressreleases/ojp\_05\_0217.htm (both 12 August 2012) and O'Brien and French 2008, p. 39.

http://www.missingkids.com/en\_US/documents/AMBERCriteria\_Apr04.pdf (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/state contacts.htm and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> http://alerts.gbi.georgia.gov/00/channel\_modifieddate/0,2096,67865199\_67868035,00.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> http://hawaii.gov/ag/mcch/main/maile\_amber (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> http://www.asp.arkansas.gov/asp/mnaa.html (12 August 2012).

Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 9 and Bell, Ezell and Van Roekel 2007, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Bell, Ezell and Van Roekel 2007, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Miller, Griffin, Clinkinbeard and Thomas 2009, p. 115 and 120-121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 16-17 and

http://www.fas.org/irp/agency/doj/fbi/is/ncic.htm (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalert.gov/guidelines.htm (12 August 2012) and O'Brien and French 2008, p. 37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Sadler 2005, p. 130-131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Meloy 2006, p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> The Amber Advocate Conference Edition 2008, p. 2.

http://codeamber.org/index-2.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 2007, p. 24-25. See e.g. http://www.charleyproject.org/ and http://www.forthelost.org/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Sadler 2005, p. 131. <sup>232</sup> Meloy 2006, p. 46.

http://codeamber.org/index-2.php (12 August 2012).

Second, not everyone is convinced that the *Amber Alert* is successful in locating missing children. The following problems with the *Amber Alert* can be concluded: First, the picture emerged that the *Amber Alert* system was often misused by hoaxes and misunderstandings which provided the conclusion that state authorities could be using it too soon and too much. Second, the system seemed to be more effective in parental abduction cases than non-family abductions. Third, the success depends on the memory of the individual of the general public aware of the *Amber Alert*. Fourth, the time to collect the information necessary and the time to respond to such an *Amber Alert*, is often difficult. Fifth, the general public can become outraged if in a case an *Amber Alert* is not issued and, sixth, the abduction (and murder) of a child by a stranger does not happen frequently. Often it depends on the situation of the case since not all cases in which an *Amber Alert* was issued seemed to be life threatening.

Unfortunately, sometimes an *Amber Alert* can also be a hoax.<sup>241</sup> Luckily, this does not happen often, but still, the manager of a missing persons' website can have another opinion concerning its added value, which is to receive assistance from the general public, and decide not to display an *Amber Alert Ticker*<sup>242</sup> on his or her website.<sup>243</sup> Another problem of the alert system is that the manager of the missing persons' website cannot choose which alert he or she will publish on his or her website and can decide, because of this drawback, that he or she does not want to display the *Amber Alert Ticker*<sup>244</sup> on his or her website.

Besides, there is also the *Silver Alert*<sup>245</sup> which was proposed in 2008 ("*H.R.* 6064: *Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008*, 110<sup>th</sup> Congress 2007-2008")<sup>246</sup>, in 2009 ("*H.R.* 632: *Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2009*, 111<sup>th</sup> Congress 2009-2010")<sup>247</sup> and finally again in 2011 ("*H.R.* 112: *Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011*, 112<sup>th</sup> Congress 2011-2012")<sup>248</sup>.

On 23 June 2011 Senators H. Kohl<sup>249</sup> and J. Manchin<sup>250</sup> have proposed a "*National Silver Alert Act*" which should be regarded as a nationwide network in locating missing adults. Currently, in accordance with the proposition, there are 28 states and New York City which have a *Silver Alert* or a similar program. Although another source lists 32 of the 50 US states. Since the *Silver Alert*<sup>254</sup> is not used in every state of the US, it will not be discussed in this Master Thesis.

<sup>240</sup> Ibid, p. 1056-1060.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Miller, Griffin, Clinkinbeard and Thomas 2009, p. 111-123 and Zgoba 2004, p. 385-404.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Griffin 2010, p. 1053-1056 and 1059-1060.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Ibid, p. 1062 and Miller, Griffin, Clinkinbeard and Thomas 2009, p. 115 and 117.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Miller, Griffin, Clinkinbeard and Thomas 2009, p. 113-114.

 $<sup>^{238}</sup>$  Griffin 2010, p. 1054-1056 and 1059-1060.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Meloy 2006, p. 47.

<sup>242</sup> http://codeamber.org/index-2.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 35-37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> http://codeamber.org/index-2.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> H.R. 6064: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008.

<sup>246</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> H.R. 632: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> http://kohl.senate.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://manchin.senate.gov/public/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> http://silveralertbill.com/ and http://manchin.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/press-releases?ID=0898aada-ac35-4860-88ed-82bb3ca8ac60 (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> http://silveralertbill.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> http://nationalsilveralert.org/silveralert.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> H.R. 6064: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008.

1.2.1.2 The National Missing and Unidentified Persons System or NamUs<sup>255</sup>

 $NamUs^{256}$  came into existence in  $2007^{257}$ , is sponsored by the *US Justice Department*<sup>258</sup> and is a system where flyers of missing and deceased unidentified persons can be found since the website is divided into two separate categories, namely: NamUs Missing Persons<sup>259</sup>, which contains the missing persons database, and *NamUs Unidentified Persons*<sup>260</sup>, which contains the database for the deceased unidentified persons, nevertheless both can be used together 261.262 As a remark, NamUs Unidentified Persons 263 is not only accessible for law enforcement, but also for the general public, although, the database of the deceased unidentified persons is better accessible for e.g. medical examiners than for the general public<sup>264</sup>. <sup>265</sup> Left-behind persons or medical examiners can submit DNA profiles to establish whether e.g. there is or could be (now or in the future) a match in the database for deceased unidentified persons<sup>266</sup>. <sup>267</sup> What makes this website different from other missing persons' websites is the fact that this system provides dental characteristics which can be used in the case of unidentified dead persons. <sup>268</sup> However, there are problems with this system, especially when it concerns the unidentified such as problems with data entry. 269 Also, as a remark, although it is sponsored by the *US Justice Department*<sup>270</sup>, it is not responsible for, amongst others, the content of *NamUs Missing Persons*<sup>271</sup> and *NamUs Unidentified Persons*<sup>272</sup>. <sup>273</sup>

### 1.2.2 Non-profit organizations and organizations referred to by law

## 1.2.2.1 The National Center For Missing and Exploited Children or NCMEC<sup>274</sup>

The NCMEC<sup>275</sup> came into existence in 1984 due to the efforts of, amongst others, the Walsh family (their son disappeared and was found murdered in July 1981 and the family had complained that there was no resource concerning missing children when their son went missing) and US Congressional staffer J. Howell. 276 Also, the Missing Children's Assistance

https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms\_of\_use (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Butler 2011, p. 272.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> See also https://www.findthemissing.org/en/homes/about and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> See also https://identifyus.org/en/home/about and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Butler 2011, p. 272 and http://www.namus.gov/(12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Garvin (editor) 2010, p. 399 and http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> See also https://identifyus.org/en/home/about and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use (both 12 August 2012). 264 Butler 2011, p. 272.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Garvin (editor) 2010, p. 399 and http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> https://identifyus.org/en (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Moore 2011, p. 65 and http://www.namus.gov/about.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Bell 2011, p. 202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> National Research Council of the National Academies 2009, p. 245.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> See also https://www.findthemissing.org/en/homes/about and

https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms of use (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> See also https://identifyus.org/en/home/about and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use (both 12

https://www.findthemissing.org/en and https://identifyus.org/en/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Concannon 2008, p. 18-19 and Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 1-2.

Act (42 USC§ 5771 et seq.) $^{277}$  of  $1984^{278}$  explained, amongst others, that a clearinghouse for missing children had to come into existence $^{279}$  which became the NCMEC $^{280}$ . $^{281}$ 

The NCMEC<sup>282</sup> should be regarded as a private and nonprofit cooperation<sup>283</sup>, which has a Congressional Mandate<sup>284</sup> and which is recognized by the *US Department of Justice*<sup>285</sup>, however, it is not responsible for, amongst others, the content of the website 286 287 Its tasks are, amongst others, operating a 24-hours toll-free telephone line, not only for missing children, but also for locating child pornography, supplying information to e.g. the US Government, attorneys, the general public, and coordinating public and private programs to recover, locate and/or reunite children with their caretakers...<sup>288</sup> It also and acts, in the case of (international) parental abduction as the *Central Authority* (or *CA*). In, for example, the case Madden v. National Center for Missing and Exploited Children<sup>290</sup>, information concerning the background of the  $NCMEC^{291}$ , its tasks... can be found. <sup>292</sup>

At the moment, together with the International Center for Missing and Exploited Children or ICMEC<sup>293</sup> (which should be seen as the "more uniform response to the problem of missing children around the world" 1, it can be considered a well known, worldwide organization on the topic of missing children.

1.2.2.2 <u>The National Center for Missing Adults</u><sup>296</sup> Due to *Kristen's Law*<sup>297</sup>, a missing adult should be reported to the *National Center for Missing Adults*<sup>298</sup>. The Center came into existence in 2002.<sup>300</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup>Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1615 (12

O'Brien and French 2008, p. 21, Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 1-2 and De Ruyver, Zanders, Vermeulen and Derre 2000, p. 118-120. For more information concerning the *NCMEC* see their website:

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en US (12 August 2012). See also the section: 1.2.2.1 The National Center For Missing and Exploited Children or NCMEC, p. 24-

<sup>280</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>2012).

281</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 21, Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 1-2 and De Ruyver, Zanders, Vermeulen and Derre

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012). See also the section: 1.2.2.1 The National Center For Missing and Exploited Children or NCMEC, p. 24-

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Concannon 2008, p. 19 and Dube 1999, p. 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 2 and Holliday 2003, p. 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> http://www.namus.gov/volunteer.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US/ (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Concannon 2008, p. 19 and Dube 1999, p. 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 2 and Holliday 2003, p. 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> See e.g. Wojcik v. Wojcik.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Madden v. National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Madden v. National Center for Missing and Exploited Children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Dube 1999, p. 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> See e.g. Dube 1999 p. 69-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

In short, it is involved in collecting and sharing missing person's information and helping law enforcement and/or left behind persons in locating a missing adult.<sup>301</sup>

In its "Mission Statement" it describes that it, amongst others, wants to be regarded as a resource for left-behind family of missing adults.<sup>302</sup>

The Center received grants from the US Department of Justice<sup>303</sup>, although it was not in charge of its website. 304 Due to the fact that the funding was only permitted until 2004 305, reauthorization was necessary, however, until this day, this has not taken place. 306 According to an electronic interview with Mrs. K. Pasqualini, the founder of the *National Center for* Missing Adults<sup>307</sup> and CEO of the organization until January 2010<sup>308</sup>, in the *Phoenix New* Times<sup>309</sup> of 15 January 2009, it is unknown why the reauthorization of the Kristen's Act could not make it in the Senate<sup>310</sup>, after passing the House of Representatives<sup>311</sup> in September 2008.<sup>312</sup> In total, there were already four attempted reauthorization acts, namely in 2005 ("H.R. 2103: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2005, 109<sup>th</sup> Congress 2005-2006")<sup>313</sup>, in 2008 ("H.R. 6064: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008, 110<sup>th</sup> Congress 2007-2008")<sup>314</sup>, in 2009 ("H.R. 632: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2009, 111<sup>th</sup> Congress 2009-2010")<sup>315</sup> and in 2011 ("H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011, 112<sup>th</sup> Congress 2011-2012")<sup>316</sup>.

However, according to "Register a Missing Person", a left-behind person can register the missing person with this organization, although the case will not be added to the website, but to the *NamUs* website<sup>317,318</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> http://www.criminaljusticeuniversity.net/blog/2010/10-laws-passed-after-horrible-crimes/ (12 August 2012) and see the section: 1.1.3.1 Missing adults, p. 11-12.

298 http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> http://www.ehow.com/list\_6855833\_legal-laws-missing-persons.html#ixzzlHiljhvhz (12 August 2012).

http://www.usatoday.com/news/nation/2006-11-02-missing-adults\_x.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 93 and http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=about\_ncma (12 August 2012).
302 http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=about\_ncma (12 August 2012).

<sup>303</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php and http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=training (both 12

August 2012).

August 2012).

H.R. 2780: Kristen's Act or Public Law 106-486 and http://www.phoenixnewtimes.com/2009-01-15/news/the-national-center-for-missing-adults-funding-was-slashed-by-the-feds-but-three-volunteers-arekeeping-it-alive/ (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.house.gov/list/press/nc09\_myrick/02112009\_KristensAct2009.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>307</sup> http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>308</sup> http://www.linkedin.com/in/kympasqualini (12 August 2012).

http://www.phoenixnewtimes.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.senate.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>311</sup> http://www.house.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.phoenixnewtimes.com/2009-01-15/news/the-national-center-for-missing-adults-funding-wasslashed-by-the-feds-but-three-volunteers-are-keeping-it-alive/ (12 August 2012).

H.R. 2103: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> H.R. 6064: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> H.R. 632: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011.

<sup>317</sup> http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=register (12 August 2012).

#### 1.2.3 Volunteer missing persons' website

### 1.2.3.1 The Doe Network<sup>319</sup>

The *Doe Network*<sup>320</sup> is one of the independent websites run by American citizens for locating missing and unidentified adults.<sup>321</sup> Its full name is: *the Doe Network: International Center for* Unidentified & Missing Persons<sup>322</sup>, it provides assistance to law enforcement and it is recognized as being part of the Responsible Volunteer Community<sup>323</sup> by the US Department of Justice<sup>324</sup>. 325 It came into existence on 5 November 1998. 326

It should be regarded as a volunteer organization and is not only limited to missing and unidentified people from North America, but also from Australia and Europe. 327 However, the conditions are that the missing person must be from the US, he or she must be missing since 1999 or before (cases of missing persons after 1999 are published on the website of *The North* American Missing Persons Network<sup>328</sup>), there must be a file submitted by law enforcement and the case had to be actively investigated by law enforcement at least six months before a request can be made to get the case filed with the *Doe Network*.<sup>329</sup>

#### 1.2.4 Other missing persons' websites

In this part, attention will be paid to two other forms of missing persons' websites. The For the Lost Organization<sup>330</sup> will be used as an example of a missing persons' website dedicated to a certain goal and *The Charley Project*<sup>331</sup> is chosen because it provides useful information concerning missing persons and, amongst others, the issues a manager of such a website can encounter<sup>332</sup>.

1.2.4.1 <u>The For the Lost Organization</u><sup>333</sup>
This organization exists of a website<sup>334</sup> and a blog<sup>335</sup>. Users can write comments below casefiles on the blog<sup>336</sup>, but have to pay attention to the "Comment/post policy" section.<sup>337</sup> The organization strongly focuses on missing children cases or "Jahi's Pages-Closed but unsolved cases" (children who remain missing after his or her case was closed by law enforcement), (international) family abduction cases or "The Adam Haseeb Memorial Pages text listing" and children who are (mostly) not mentioned on other missing persons' websites or "California Kids photo directories (Poster Campaign)" 340 and "California Kids

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012). See also Vaccariello 2009, p. 80-83, 88 and 213 concerning the history of the *Doe Network*.

http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Vaccariello 2009, p. 83.

<sup>322</sup> Moore 2011, p. 177.

http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.doenetwork.org/ and http://www.namus.gov/volunteer.htm (both 12 August 2012).

http://whois.domaintools.com/network.org (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Moore 2011, p. 177.

http://www.nampn.org/submit.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> Bidgoli (editor in chief) 2004, p. 446 and http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>330</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>331</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>332</sup> http://charleyross.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>334</sup> Ibid.

http://forthelost.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>336</sup> Ibid.

<sup>337</sup> http://forthelost.wordpress.com/about/commentpost-policy/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/jahi/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>339</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/family/text.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>340</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/calikids/ (12 August 2012).

text listing"<sup>341</sup>. The purpose of why attention is drawn to these sorts of cases is explained by the *For the Lost Organization*<sup>343</sup> as follows:

"...In this aspect we are like the National Center For Missing and Exploited Children with a strong focus on older cases. These older cases are often neglected by both law enforcement and online sites. Even when they are listed, very few people concentrate on them. The typical attitude is "The person's probably dead anyway, so why bother?" This prevails especially for the Non-Family abductions (see this page for a definition of this and other missing person's terms), where the primary desire for many is to start looking for a body right away. This is flawed, we believe. If one is looking for a body, they may neglect to find a person. If one looks for a person, however, a body may come up, but so may an alive person..."

344

It also provides, amongst others, links to other missing persons' websites.<sup>345</sup>

1.2.4.2 The Charley Project<sup>346</sup>

The Charley Project<sup>347</sup> (which also, amongst others, exists of a website and blog<sup>348</sup>) came into existence on 12 October 2004 and was founded by Meaghan Good.<sup>349</sup> She is the administrator (manager) of the site and responsible for updating, removing and adding case files to the site.<sup>350</sup> The Charley Project<sup>351</sup> features, according to the website, more than 9000 cold cases of the US and more or less 500 links to other missing persons' websites.<sup>352</sup>

It is not possible to become a member (there is only the administrator), nevertheless visitors are allowed to provide additional information concerning cases mentioned on the site. The website is also well-known because the administrator writes a blog (where users can write comments) in which she describes, amongst others, the problems which she encounters with running a missing persons' website. The problems which she encounters with running a missing persons' website.

348 http://charleyross.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>341</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/calikids/catext.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>342</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/difference.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>343</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/difference.html (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/links.html/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> Ibid.

http://www.charleyproject.org/history.html and http://www.charleyproject.org/administrator.html (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>350</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/faq.html (12 August 2012).

http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> Ibid and Moore 2011, p. 209-210.

Moore 2011, p. 210 and http://www.charleyproject.org/faq.html (12 August 2012). <sup>354</sup> See e.g. her blog entry of 13 December 2010 concerning the use of sources

<sup>(</sup>http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2010/12/13/hate-mail-and-mail-in-general/) and her blog entry of 3 December 2010 about the threat of lawsuits concerning defamation (http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2010/12/03/another-lawsuit-threat-yawn/ (both (22 April 2012)).

#### **Chapter 2: Copyright**

#### Introduction

In most missing persons' cases, everything is about getting the word out. It is about informing the general public that someone has gone missing. However, does this mean that the content of every website involved in locating missing persons can freely be copied without taking notice of its copyright? As can be expected, this is not the case. Even when it concerns missing persons' websites, a manager and/or user can be accused of copyright infringement. Therefore, this chapter will answer the following sub questions:

- 1. What is copyright according to US law?
- 2. How should copyright infringement by a manager and/or (US citizen or foreign) user of a US based missing persons' website be dealt with according to US law?
- 3. How is copyright infringement prevented and dealt with in the EU, The Netherlands and England?

This chapter will be divided into two paragraphs.

First, the copyright law of the US will be examined. This paragraph will be the most elaborate one, since this Master Thesis is about US based missing persons websites. It will be divided into six parts. To begin, attention will be paid to what is copyright protected, which will be followed by who is the copyright owner of a work and his or her rights will be explained. Hereafter, the duration of copyright will be examined since it is important to detect if a work has entered the public domain. Next, the "merger doctrine" will be explained as a possible defense of why there could be no copyright infringement. The following two parts will be about copyright infringement. In the last part examples will be provided about how managers of US based missing persons' websites deal with copyright issues in practice. Second, attention is given to foreign copyright. This paragraph is divided into three parts. First, the EU copyright policy will be discussed. Second, attention will be paid to Dutch copyright law. The third part will concern English copyright law. The outline of each of these parts will be, more or less, the same as the paragraph about US copyright law.

#### 2.1 Copyright

On the internet, all kinds of material as texts, photos... can be located which leads to questions as "Are these materials in the public domain?" or "Who owns the copyright?".

#### 2.1.1 What is copyright protected?

Since there is no universal copyright protection, attention has to be paid to how copyright law is regulated in each country.<sup>357</sup> Nevertheless, there are international conventions on this topic and the most well-known convention in the field of copyright law is the *Berne Convention*<sup>358</sup>, of which the US became a member-country on 1 March 1989.<sup>359</sup> In art. 2 (2) *Berne Convention*<sup>360</sup> reference is made to the fact that national law is important, which means that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 188.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 117-119 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 330.

<sup>358</sup> Berne Convention and Fishman 2011, p. 330.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup>http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/ShowResults.jsp?country\_id=179C&start\_year=ANY&end\_year=ANY&searc h\_what=C&treaty\_id=15 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Berne Convention and Fishman 2011, p. 330.

the copyright of US authors is protected outside the US in other countries that are a member of the Berne Convention<sup>361</sup>.

In the US, copyright law falls under federal law, namely Title 17 United States Code. 362 According to Article I, Section I, Clause 8 US Constitution and §301 Title 17 United States Code, US copyright law is regulated exclusively on federal level<sup>363</sup>, which means that a state cannot grant copyright protection.<sup>364</sup>

But what is "copyright protected"?

Copyright protects a works which is literary, scientific and/or artistic. 365 As §202 Title 17 United States Code explains, it is not the material object, but the physical object which receives the copyright protection. 366 It has to be an original work and not e.g. just an idea 367 or a fact<sup>368</sup> and it has to be fixed (see §102 (a) and (b) Title 17 United States Code).<sup>369</sup> What is meant with fixed is clarified in §101 Title 17 United States Code, e.g. a work is fixed when it is written in a book. Section 103 Title 17 United States Code explains which works are copyright protected and that there can be copyright on both published and unpublished works, according to §104 Title 17 United States Code. The quality or value of the work is not important.<sup>371</sup> A work that is fixed on a website for the first time can be protected by copyright<sup>372</sup>, since there is no mode or form of expression which must be followed in order to obtain copyright protection.<sup>373</sup> A website normally falls under literary works §102 (a) Title 17 United States Code). 374 A comment can be copyright protected if it is an original creation of the author and not merely the mentioning of e.g. a fact.<sup>375</sup>

Normally there is no need to register copyright (it is even not necessary to publish a *Notice of* Copyright), since it is automatically given, however there is the possibility to register a work with the *US Copyright Office*<sup>376</sup> (see also *Chapter 7 Title 17 United States Code*). A website (such as a blog) can be protected by copyright 378, but it is questionable if the manager of a website would register his or her website with the US Copyright Office<sup>379</sup>, since websites do often change their appearance and/or update their site to attract people to visit their website and each alternation (to have the benefits of the copyright protection offered by

```
361 Ibid.
```

<sup>362</sup> Bouchoux 2009, p. 176 and Crews 1993, p. 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Bouchoux 2009, p. 176 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Bouchoux 2009, p. 176 and Crews 1993, p. 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> WIPO 2008, p. 5 and 153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> Ibid, p. 8-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> See also Fishman 2011, p. 127-129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> WIPO 2008, p. 153-154, Circular 66: Copyright registration for online works, p. 1, Fishman 2011, p. 6-7 and Fishman 2010, p. 20-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> See also Fishman 2011, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> WIPO 2008, p. 153-154 and Fishman 2011, p. 6.

http://www.copyright.gov/help/faq/faq-protect.html#website/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> WIPO 2008, p. 153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 188.

http://www.copyrightlaws.com/copyright-qs-as/9-0-copyright-permissions/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.copyright.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> Circular 1: Copyright Basics, p. 7 and Fishman 2010, p. 23.

http://www.copyright.gov/help/faq/faq-protect.html#website (12 August 2012) and Circular 66: Copyright registration for online works, p. 2 and Fishman 2011, p. 138 and 140.

http://www.copyright.gov/ (12 August 2012).

the *US Copyright Office*<sup>380</sup>) will have to be as registered by the *US Copyright Office*<sup>381</sup>.<sup>382</sup> However, the rules for *Serials* and *Newsletters* can be different.<sup>383</sup>

The copyright owner can place a *Notice of Copyright* (§401 Title 17 United States Code). Websites (also when they offer the possibility to write comments) and/or blogs can be seen as collective works, but normally only a single notice (although not necessary) on the first page of the website or on every page, identifying who the copyright owner is, can be enough. Nevertheless, the use of a *Notice of Copyright* is not regulated by e.g. the *Copyright Office* <sup>385</sup>. Furthermore, just because there is a *Notice of Copyright*, this does not mean that the work could not be in the public domain. Yet, if there is no *Notice of Copyright*, this does not indicate that the work is in the public domain. In §403 Title 17 United States Code it is explained that, in general, it is not allowed to have a *Notice of Copyright* when the works of the *US Government* are used.

When it concerns copyright protection, it usually does not matter if the copyright owner has created a work inside or outside the US since according to art. 5 *Berne Convention*<sup>389</sup> and *§104 Title 17 United States Code* explains that a work created outside of the country of origin shall be treated the same way as a work in the US.<sup>390</sup> Moreover, if a work is first published in another country than the US and this other country is a member-country of the *Berne Convention*<sup>391</sup>, the work has copyright protection in the US.<sup>392</sup>

#### 2.1.2 Who is the copyright owner?

An answer can be found in *§201 (a) Title 17 United States Code* which explains that the copyright owner is normally the person who created the work. Nevertheless, it can be different when it concerns a situation where a third person is hired to make the work or when it concerns a contribution to a collective work (*§201 (c) Title 17 United States Code*). Copyright can also be transferred or licensed from the copyright owner to someone else. What is meant with a "*transfer of copyright ownership*" can be found in *§101 Title 17 United States Code*. States Code.

According to *§105 Title 17 United States Code*, the *US Government* cannot claim copyright protection of its work.<sup>397</sup>

```
380 Ibid.
<sup>382</sup> Circular 66: Copyright registration for online works, p. 2.
<sup>383</sup> Ibid.
<sup>384</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 24, 27 and 30.
385 http://www.copyright.gov/ (12 August 2012).
<sup>386</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 23 and Circular 3: Copyright Notice, p. 1.
<sup>387</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 10.
<sup>388</sup> Ibid.
<sup>389</sup> Berne Convention.
<sup>390</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 330-331 and WIPO 2008, p. 386.
<sup>391</sup> Berne Convention and Fishman 2011, p. 330.
<sup>392</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 338.
<sup>393</sup> See also the part: 2.2.1 What is copyright protected?, p. 29-31.
<sup>394</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 7 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p.56-63.
<sup>395</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 64.
<sup>396</sup> Ibid.
```

<sup>397</sup> Ibid, p. 7.

#### 2.1.3 Which rights does a copyright owner have?

In §106 Title 17 United States Code the exclusive rights of the copyright owner are clarified. <sup>398</sup> It reads: "Subject to sections 107 through 122, the owner of copyright under this title has the exclusive rights to do and to authorize any of the following:

- (1) to reproduce the copyrighted work in copies or phonorecords;
- (2) to prepare derivative works based upon the copyrighted work;
- (3) to distribute copies or phonorecords of the copyrighted work to the public by sale or other transfer of ownership, or by rental, lease, or lending;
- (4) in the case of literary, musical, dramatic, and choreographic works, pantomimes, and motion pictures and other audiovisual works, to perform the copyrighted work publicly;
- (5) in the case of literary, musical, dramatic, and choreographic works, pantomimes, and pictorial, graphic, or sculptural works, including the individual images of a motion picture or other audiovisual work, to display the copyrighted work publicly; and
- (6) in the case of sound recordings, to perform the copyrighted work publicly by means of a digital audio transmission." <sup>399</sup>

### 2.1.3.1 Consent and licensing<sup>400</sup>

In *§106 Title 17 United States Code* the author of the work can authorize the making of copies. <sup>401</sup> So, before publishing a copyrighted work on a website, the owner of the copyright protected work should be asked for permission to copy and publish. <sup>402</sup> In other words, if the manager and/or user gets permission from the copyright owner to publish the copyrighted material on a website, the copyright owner has granted the manager and/or user a license. <sup>403</sup> It is not uncommon that the copyright owner can ask that some conditions, such as payment, must be fulfilled. <sup>404</sup>

There are three approaches to ask for permission, e.g. the manager of a website can ask the owner of the copyright protected work, the publisher or make use of e.g. an *Online Permission Service*.

However, it could be possible that the copyright owner uses a "*Creative Common License*". <sup>406</sup> In general, *Creative Commons* is a non-profit organization from the US (started by Stanford University Law professor L. Lessig and others), which concerns the licensing of free use of works, with the permission of the owner of the work, for certain purposes. <sup>408</sup> In sum, there are 6 types of licences available. <sup>409</sup>

#### 2.1.3.2 Fair use

However, there are some situations in which the copyright owner cannot claim that the person who copied and published the copyrighted material on his or her website is infringing his or her copyright (exclusive rights) since it can happen that there are limitations (see e.g. §106 Title 17 United States Code) which can be found in §107-118 Title 17 United States Code.

```
<sup>398</sup> Ibid, p. 70-71.
<sup>399</sup> Section 106 Title 17 United States Code.
<sup>400</sup> Suthersanen 2007, p. 59 and Kim 2007, p. 187.
<sup>401</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 372.
<sup>402</sup> Ibid.
<sup>403</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 11, 19 and 198.
<sup>404</sup> Ibid.
<sup>405</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 372-379.
<sup>406</sup> Ibid, p. 374.
<sup>407</sup> http://creativecommons.org/ (12 August 2012).
```

<sup>408</sup> Suthersanen 2007, p. 59 and Kim 2007, p. 187.
409 http://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=en (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 116 and http://www.copyright.gov/fls/fl102.html (12 August 2012).

Of these limitations, "fair use" (§107 Title 17 United States Code) is most used in case of copying and publishing of copyrighted material and is defined as:

- "Notwithstanding the provisions of sections 106 and 106A, the fair use of a copyrighted work, including such use by reproduction in copies or phonorecords or by any other means specified by that section, for purposes such as criticism, comment, news reporting, teaching (including multiple copies for classroom use), scholarship, or research, is not an infringement of copyright. In determining whether the use made of a work in any particular case is a fair use the factors to be considered shall include—
- (1) the purpose and character of the use, including whether such use is of a commercial nature or is for nonprofit educational purposes;
- (2) the nature of the copyrighted work;
- (3) the amount and substantiality of the portion used in relation to the copyrighted work as a whole; and (4) the effect of the use upon the potential market for or value of the copyrighted work.
- The fact that a work is unpublished shall not itself bar a finding of fair use if such finding is made upon consideration of all the above factors."  $^{412}$

The exception of "fair use" can be applied by the manager and/or user who has exploited a copyright protected work if he or she can prove that he or she did so under this exception. In other words, if the limitation of "fair use" can be applied, the manager and/or user can make limited use (copy and publish) of the work of the copyright owner without first obtaining permission. For example, a non-commercial website republishes a part of an article of a newspaper on its website and the exception of "fair use" could be applied. In case of doubt if the limitation of "fair use" could be applied, it is always possible to ask the copyright owner for permission. 416

#### 2.1.4 How long is copyright protection available?

#### 2.1.4.1 The public domain

Copyright protection does not last forever, but is only temporary. In §301-305 Title 17 United States Code the duration of copyright is clarified. To know when a work will enter the public domain, one can check the "Copyright and the Public Domain in the United States" chart where the conditions are described when a work (will) fall(s) in the public domain, which is made available each year by P. Hirtle of the Cornell University Library 121 In general, all works (both US as foreign) before 1923 are in the public domain since for these works the copyright protection has expired. Starting from 1923, one has to look at the chart to determine when a work enters the public domain and attention has not only to be paid to the year when the work was published, but also to other conditions. Por example, a book printed on 4 March 1925 (a work published between 1923 till 1963) with a copyright notice and with a renewal registration at the end of its 28 year term (without such notice and renewal the work should be regarded as belonging to the public domain since it has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 116-136.

<sup>412</sup> Section 107 Title 17 United States Code

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 7 and 308.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 414 and Fishman 2011, p. 254.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> http://www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/fair-use-rule-copyright-material-30100.html (12 August 2012) and Stim 2010 II, p. 243-253.

<sup>416</sup> http://www.copyright.gov/fls/fl102.html (12 August 2012) and Stim 2010 II, p. 191-189.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 23 and WIPO 2008, p. 164.

<sup>418</sup> http://www.copyright.gov/title17/92chap3.html/ (12 August 2012) and Stim 2010 I, p. 199.

<sup>419</sup> http://copyright.cornell.edu/resources/publicdomain.cfm (12 August 2012).

http://vivo.cornell.edu/display/individual23436/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>421</sup> http://www.library.cornell.edu/ (12 August 2012).

http://copyright.cornell.edu/resources/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 7, http://copyright.cornell.edu/resources/publicdomain.cfm (12 August 2012) and Stim 2010 I, p. 199.

<sup>424</sup> http://copyright.cornell.edu/resources/publicdomain.cfm (12 August 2012) and Fishman 2011, p. 242.

failed to comply with US formalities), will receive a renewal term of 67 years (together a term of 95 years) and will enter the public domain on 1 January 2020. 425

There are other possibilities of how a work enters the public domain. Since the *US Government* cannot claim copyright according to *§105 Title 17 United States Code*, the information provided by the *US Government* falls within the public domain. <sup>426</sup> Case-law falls within the public domain, however, it is difficult to find free judicial decisions to copy and publish, since editors can e.g. add new material to the plain text and receive copyright for the creation of a new work. <sup>427</sup> Another example of the public domain is the use of a hyperlink on a website. <sup>428</sup> Although, sometimes permission has to be asked before a hyperlink can be placed on a website. <sup>429</sup>

To know if a work of a foreign country should be regarded as being in the public domain and thus can be used freely, a research has to be done of the copyright laws of the foreign country. 430

#### 2.1.5 Are there other ways not to infringe copyright?

If a manager is receiving a complaint of a copyright owner that there is copyright infringing material on his or her website, e.g. in a comment, the manager should first investigate if the complaint is truthful and then remove that material in order to prevent being sued for copyright infringement. Also, in the case of linking, a website could have a "Linking disclaimer" in which it is explained that the manager of the website, for example, does not endorse the use of copyrighted infringing material possibly found in links in his or her resources page. Another defence which could be applicable is the "merger doctrine", Another defence which could be applicable is the "merger doctrine".

In the case of a factual work, it is not always possible that the information provided about a subject is described in an original way by each author. For example, it is not possible that an author describing the history of the *NCMEC*<sup>435</sup>, is each time original when it concerns certain facts and since the *NCMEC*<sup>436</sup> still exists today, there will be other authors who also will write about this topic and therefore, the problem could be that they cannot do so, since the factual information cannot be expressed differently each time. To solve this problem, the US court has decided that the manner of how the factual information is expressed in the work belongs to the public domain or just acknowledges that it is protected from copying (without further consequences). Therefore, it can happen that in the same case each court has a different interpretation which results in legal uncertainty.

<sup>426</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 50, http://www.nytimes.com/2008/09/29/business/media/29link.html?pagewanted=print and http://copyright.uslegal.com/statutes-judicial-opinions-law-reports/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 328.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 200 and 202-204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 296. See also paragraph: 2.3 Missing persons' websites and foreign copyright, p. 41-56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 189 and 192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup> Ibid, p. 204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 117-119 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> Ibid.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 118 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 11.

#### 2.1.6 When is there a copyright infringement?

Title 17 United States Code<sup>439</sup>, which was amended a few times<sup>440</sup>, has to be applied after the copyright holder has discovered that a copyright infringement has taken place.<sup>441</sup> A copyright infringement case can be brought against any person who knowingly or unknowingly breaches copyright law and the case must be brought before a Federal Court.<sup>442</sup> For example, in the case of a website, there can be a violation of §106-118 Title 17 United States Code (infringement rights of the copyright owner).<sup>443</sup> The US court has no jurisdiction when the copyright infringement of a US author happened abroad, since Title 17 United States Code cannot be applied outside of the US.<sup>444</sup>

A copyright infringement case can be solved with the help of a civil procedure or as a criminal offence. He sides, since it is unlikely that a manager and/or a user of a missing persons' website is copying from other websites with the clear intent of committing copyright infringement, the criminal procedure will only be discussed briefly.

To begin with the civil procedure, Chapter 5 (\$501-513) Title 17 United States Code covers copyright infringement and its remedies. In \$501(h) Title 17 United States Code it is

copyright infringement and its remedies. In §501(b) Title 17 United States Code it is explained that the copyright holder or a person who has an exclusive right has an exclusive right to take action against the copyright infringer. The copyright owner has to prove two things, namely: First, that he or she has a valid copyright and, second, that his or her work, in other words the original work, has been copied. Moreover, not only the person who committed the copyright infringement can be prosecuted, but also the person who, for example, has helped another person to carry out the copyright infringement, can be punished, which is also known as "contributory infringement" which magnet to store the store of the store Code a temporary or final "injuration" which magnet to store

In §502 Title 17 United States Code a temporary or final "injunction", which means to stop the continuation of the copyright infringement with the help of a court order 451, can be ordered by the court if certain conditions like e.g. irreparable harm are met. 452 Section 504 Title 17 United States Code explains which alternative bases there can be for the award of monetary damages, as the copyright owner's "actual damages and profits" (with profits meaning the profits of the infringer (§504 (b) Title 17 United States Code)) or "Statutory damages" (which can be used when it is difficult to prove the actual damages when there is clear copyright infringement (§504 (c) Title 17 United States Code)). 453 According to §505 Title 17 United States Code, it is also possible, under the conditions mentioned in that section, that the costs and attorney's fees can be recovered by the winner of the case.

When it concerns a criminal offence, Section 506 Title 17 United States Code explains which conditions must be fulfilled. In general, it can be the case that the copyright infringement is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> Bouchoux 2009, p. 176 and Crews 1993, p. 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 98, Bouchoux 2009, p. 176, Fishman 2011, p. 309 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 159-160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 144.

<sup>444</sup> Ibid, p. 147-148.

<sup>445</sup> See Chapter 5 Title 17 United States Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 148-149.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> Ibid, p. 152-159.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 309 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 161-165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 161 and 162-165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup> Ibid, p. 161-162.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> Merriam-Webster Inc. 1996, p. 246 and see e.g. WIPO 2008, p. 171

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> Ibid, p. 170-175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> Ibid, p. 176-177.

"wilfully" committed offense (§506 (1) Title 17 United States Code) and is made for, for example, financial gain (§506 (a) (1) C Title 17 United States Code). In §2319 Title 18 United States Code, it is explained that the copyright infringer, depending on the situation, can be sentenced to imprisonment and/or a fine. When it concerns a "fraudulent copyright notice", "fraudulent removal of copyright notice" and/or "false representation" (§506 (a) (3) c-e Title 17 United States Code), the infringer has to pay a fine.

In *§507 Title 17 United States Code* the term is mentioned when a civil action (three years) or criminal proceeding (five years) by the copyright owner can be brought against the infringer. 458

#### 2.2 US based missing persons' websites and copyright

In the previous paragraph US copyright in general was explained. It was clarified that a website or a comment could be copyright protected.<sup>459</sup> The question to be answered here is if the information concerning US copyright is applicable when it concerns missing persons' websites and its comments in practice.

It is a fact that missing persons' websites are involved in "copying". If there is a claim that someone is missing, a source has to be provided, since it is not legally allowed to claim someone is missing when in fact he or she is not. The person who makes the claim (not the person who gets a hoax e-mail concerning e.g. a missing child) can be, amongst others, be sued for defamation. In this paragraph, it will be examined how a missing persons' website cannot be accused of copyright infringement.

#### 2.2.1 What is copyright protected?

Sections 102 and 103 Title 17 United States Code explain which works are copyright protected 460, which means that the work must be fixed and be original. 461

If the missing persons' website is e.g. only copying and publishing flyers from e.g. the  $NCMEC^{462}$ , this could not be regarded as original or having a minimum level of creativity and therefore the site will not have copyright. If the website has a specific goal, as e.g. the *For the Lost Organization*<sup>463</sup> and *The Charley Project*<sup>464</sup> have, it can be regarded as having copyright protection since the two conditions fixed and original are met.

The manager of a website can decide to register his or her copyright with the *US Copyright Office*<sup>465</sup>. It is not likely that a website is registered with the *US Copyright Office*<sup>467</sup>, since missing persons' websites do often change their site (e.g. updating), which would mean that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> Ibid, p. 160-161.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> Ibid, p. 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> Ibid, p. 160-161.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> Ibid, p. 148.

http://www.copyright.gov/help/faq/faq-protect.html#website (12 August 2012), WIPO 2008, p. 153 and http://www.copyrightlaws.com/copyright-qs-as/9-0-copyright-permissions/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> See also Fishman 2011, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 20-22.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.copyright.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup> Circular 1: Copyright Basics, p. 7-12 and Fishman 2010, p. 23.

<sup>467</sup> http://www.copyright.gov/ (12 August 2012).

each time they alter a case file they have to register it with the *US Copyright Office*<sup>468</sup>. <sup>469</sup> If they register for copyright with the *US Copyright Office*<sup>470</sup>, it is more likely to protect e.g. their publications, logo... To give an example, the *NCMEC*<sup>471</sup> has registered, amongst others, the logo and publications, but not the website. <sup>472</sup>

If the website allows for the writing of comments, a comment can be copyright protected if it is an original creation of the author and not merely the mentioning of e.g. a fact. For example, a member of the general public has devoted much of his or her time to locate a missing person and writes about his or her efforts in a comment under a case file of a missing persons' website, his or her comment can be regarded as copyright protected since it is fixed and original. Four of the websites mentioned, the *National Center for Missing Adults* (see their "Let's bring them home: The Missing Persons Blog" the Doe Network (see their "Guestbook" the For the Lost Organization (see the "For the Lost Blog" and The Charley Project (see "The Charley Project Blog" offer the possibility for the general public to write a comment, which means that a comment written on their website by a user can be copyright protected.

#### 2.2.2 Who is the copyright owner?

An answer can be found in *§201* (a) *Title 17 United States Code*. If it is not mentioned on the website, use can be made of "whois software" or when it concerns an e-mail address by "Email Trace-Email Tracking" 483. 484. An e-mail address from a user is not difficult to acquire since in the case of a comment, before writing a comment on the missing persons' website, an e-mail address of the user (possible among with some other information) has to be given, see e.g. the *Doe Network* and their "Guestbook" 486.

#### 2.2.3 Which rights does a copyright owner have?

The exclusive rights of the copyright owner are explained in §106 Title 17 United States Code. 487 Before placing copyrighted work on a website, the owner of the work should be

<sup>469</sup> Circular 66: Copyright registration for online works, p. 2.

470 http://www.copyright.gov/ (12 August 2012).

bin/Pwebrecon.cgi?Search\_Arg=%22national+center+for+missing+and+exploited+children%22&Search\_Code=FT\*&PID=BiAu31xsREAqbjVKEiq33f-Guptm&SEQ=20120415111932&CNT=25&HIST=1 (12 August 2012).

37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> Ibid.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>472</sup> http://cocatalog.loc.gov/cgi-

<sup>473</sup> http://www.copyrightlaws.com/copyright-qs-as/9-0-copyright-permissions/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>475</sup> http://lbth.org/ncma/blog/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>476</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012). See also Vaccariello 2009, p. 80-83, 88 and 213.

<sup>477</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://forthelost.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>480</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://charleyross.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.ip-adress.com/whois/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>483</sup> See e.g. http://www.ip-adress.com/trace\_email/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> Walden 2004, p. 275-287 and 276.

<sup>485</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012). See also Vaccariello 2009, p. 80-83, 88 and 213.

http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 70.

asked for permission. 488 This could be the case when a missing persons' website does not have e.g. a copyright policy. For example, the *National Center for Missing Adults* 489 has not published a copyright policy on its website besides that its content is copyright protected by mentioning below each page: "*Copyright 2010-2011 Let's Bring Them Home. All rights reserved*". 490 In this case the manager of a missing persons' website could write an e-mail and ask permission before copying and publishing.

The copyright owner can transfer or license his or her copyright to someone else. <sup>491</sup> To give an example, the *NCMEC* permits the use of its banners, its hypertext links and flyers on websites (e.g. publishing and reprinting) under certain conditions which can be found on its webpage: "*Terms of Use for NCMEC Intellectual Property*". <sup>493</sup> Another possibility could be that the copyright owner is using a "*Creative Common License*" for its website. <sup>494</sup> For example, the administrator (manager) of *The Charley Project* has her work protected under a "*Creative Common License*". <sup>496</sup> She allows another missing persons' website to use (copy, alter...) and adapt her work on two conditions: First, her website as source must be mentioned and, second, the information provided may not be used for financial purposes. <sup>497</sup>

If the copying meets the conditions of §107 Title 17 United States Code, "fair use" can be seen as a legal justification. For example, the Doe Network explains in its "Terms of services": "This site may contain copyrighted ( $\hat{A}$ ©) material, the use of which may or may not have been specifically authorized by the copyright owner. This material is being made available in an effort to further public understanding of social issues relating to missing persons, unidentified remains and its impact on society. The DoeNetwork believes this constitutes a 'fair use' of any such copyrighted material as provided for in section 107 of the US Copyright Law. In accordance with Title 17 U.S.C. Section 107, the material on this site is distributed without profit to those who, by visiting www.DoeNetwork.org, have expressed an implied interest in viewing the included information for research and educational purposes."  $^{500}$ 

In other words, a manager of a missing persons' website is allowed to make use of the information provided by the  $Doe\ Network^{501}$ , only if he or she uses it e.g. to comment or for news reporting.

#### 2.2.4 How long is copyright protection available?

Missing children became a topic for politics and legislation since the beginning of the 1980s<sup>502</sup> and in the case of missing adults it took even longer (see e.g. the disappearance of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 372.

<sup>489</sup> http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>490</sup> http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=about\_ncma (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 64.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US / (12 August 2012).
 http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1923 (12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1923 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 374.

<sup>495</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (bottom of the page) (12 August 2012).

http://www.charleyproject.org/copyright.html and http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/2.0/ (both 12 August 2012). See also her blog entry "A big thorn in my side" in which she described her efforts to stop people from copying her web pages (http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2009/07/31/a-big-thorn-in-my-side/ (12 August 2012)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 116-136.

<sup>499</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>500</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> Tedisco and Paludi 1996, p. 112-113.

Kristen Modafferi on 23 June 1997 after leaving her place of employment<sup>503</sup>). The oldest missing persons website referred to in this Master Thesis is the *NCMEC*<sup>504</sup>, which came into existence in 1984.<sup>505</sup> It is unlikely that any of the websites mentioned, except of the *Amber Alert*<sup>506</sup> and *NamUs*<sup>507</sup>, since they should be regarded as *US Government* websites (§105 Title 17 United States Code), will enter the public domain soon.

It is a fact that all works which originate from before 1923 are in the public domain. 508 It is not uncommon that a missing persons' website has a case file of someone who went missing before 1923 and does this fact mean that the case file is free from copying because it should be regarded in the public domain? To give an example, both the *Doe Network*<sup>509</sup> as *The* Charley Project<sup>510</sup> have a case file concerning the disappearance of Dorothy Arnold, who went missing on 12 December 1910. 511 Since she disappeared before 1923, everything concerning the investigation from before 1923 is in the public domain.<sup>512</sup> Nevertheless, this does not mean that the case file can be reproduced since, although the information is in the public domain, the case file can be regarded as fixed and original. 513 However, it can be different when it concerns the copyright of the photograph of the missing person (although normally the whole case file or flyer should be regarded as belonging together). Nevertheless, some missing persons' websites explain their policy concerning the copyright of pictures. For example, the manager (administrator) of *The Charley Project*<sup>514</sup> clarifies: "The contents of the Charley Project, except for the photographs of the missing, are copyright 2004 - 2008 by Meaghan Good.",515 The Doe Network 516 explains: "All photos and information contained within this Web site are the properties of the listed information sources within the case files."517

According to §105 Title 17 United States Code, the US Government cannot claim copyright and therefore the information falls within the public domain. The Amber Alert as NamUs fall in the public domain, since they both refer in the bottom on their websites to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> O'Brien and French 2008, p. 93 and Newton 2009, p. 246.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> Concannon 2008, p. 18-19 and Fairman Cooper 2003, p. 1-2.

<sup>506</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.namus.gov/, but not the sections of the missing and unidentified persons (https://www.findthemissing.org/en and https://identifyus.org/en), they have another copyright protection (https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms\_of\_use and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use/) (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 7 and http://copyright.cornell.edu/resources/publicdomain.cfm (12 August 2012) and Stim 2010 I. p. 199.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012). See also Vaccariello 2009, p. 80-83, 88 and 213.

<sup>510</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>511</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/cases/1028dfny.html and

http://www.charleyproject.org/cases/a/arnold\_dorothy.html (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 7, http://copyright.cornell.edu/resources/publicdomain.cfm (12 August 2012) and Stim 2010 I, p. 199.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 20-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>515</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/copyright.html (12 August 2012).

http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 42.

http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.namus.gov/, but not the sections of the missing and unidentified persons (https://www.findthemissing.org/en and https://identifyus.org/en), they have another copyright protection (https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms\_of\_use and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use/) (all 12 August 2012).

the legal policies and disclaimers of the website of the *Department of Justice*<sup>521</sup>, which means according to the *Department of Justice Website*:

Most missing persons' websites have hyperlinks to other websites.<sup>523</sup>

#### 2.2.5 When is there copyright infringement?

Although, a manager of a missing persons' website could be accused of copyright infringement<sup>524</sup>, until now<sup>525</sup>, there were no copyright infringement cases brought before the US courts concerning any of the above mentioned missing persons websites and/or its user(s).<sup>526</sup>

The reason why this could be the case is because missing persons' websites are on the internet to attract attention to missing persons and, since it is more important that more people know about the missing person in an effort to locate him or her than, than to put effort in protecting their copyright of the flyer of the missing person in question. Also, the "merger doctrine" could be used as a defence in a copyright infringement case since some factual information, as the name of the missing person, his or her hair colour, when he or she went missing, how old he or she was... cannot be expressed each time in a different manner on every missing persons' website.

Moreover, if the manager of the missing persons' website is following the conditions mentioned of the websites mentioned in this Master Thesis (even removing a comment which of a user who does not follow the conditions), it is unlikely that he or she will be confronted with a copyright infringement claim. Besides, if a manager is operating a missing persons' website, he or she would know where to find information and how to use it, for example, he or she will most likely start with information available on law enforcement websites before moving to other sources like newspapers.

Also, the missing persons' websites themselves are involved to detect copyright infringement of their websites. For example, the *For the Lost Organization*<sup>528</sup> detected on the *Children of the Underground Watch Newsletter Site*<sup>529</sup> (a website bringing attention to (international) parental abducted children hidden by the *Children of the Underground Organization*)<sup>530</sup>, a copy of one of its case files and informed the manager of the website, with the help of a comment, that the copied case file could remain on the website if the manager would credit the *For the Lost Organization*<sup>531</sup>.<sup>532</sup>

<sup>&</sup>quot;Information generated by the Department of Justice is in the public domain and may be reproduced, published or otherwise used without the Department's permission. Citation to the Department of Justice as the source of the information is appreciated, as appropriate." <sup>522</sup>

<sup>521</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>522</sup> http://www.justice.gov/legalpolicies.htm#copyright (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> See e.g. http://charleyross.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup> See e.g. http://charleyross.wordpress.com/2010/12/13/hate-mail-and-mail-in-general/ (12 August 2012)..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> Until 12 August 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> There is one case-law involving the Amber Alert and copyright (*Vikon International, Inc. v. Sensorlogic, Inc*), but this concerned the technology used for the Amber Alert and not its website.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 117-119 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 10-11.

http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://underwatch.wordpress.com/ and http://underwatch.wordpress.com/about/ (both 12 August 2012).

http://underwatch.wordpress.com/about/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> http://underwatch.wordpress.com/2011/05/18/where-is-dorothy-barnett-and-savannah-todd/#comment-5460 (12 August 2012).

#### 2.3 Missing persons' websites and foreign copyright

It is not unimaginable that a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website could retrieve information concerning a missing person from websites outside of the US. To give an example, if a Dutch tourist disappeared in the US or a child from the US is abducted to The UK, there could be found additional information on e.g. websites of that other country. The question answered in this paragraph is if the manager of the missing persons' website could copy this information without legal consequences. Therefore, attention will be paid to copyright law in general of the EU, The Netherlands and England.

#### 2.3.1 The European Union

#### 2.3.1.1 What is copyright protected?

Except of art. 1 (1) *Directive 2009/24/EC*<sup>533</sup> which is only applicable on "*computer programs*", it is not defined in the EU what is meant with a work. <sup>534</sup> Instead, e.g. art. 1 (1) *Directive 2006/116/EC*<sup>535</sup> (concerning the term of protection) refers to art. 2 *Berne Convention* in explaining what a "*literary or artistic work*" should mean. <sup>537</sup> However, the EU itself is not a member country of the *Berne Convention* <sup>538</sup>.

## 2.3.1.2 Which rights does a copyright owner have?

In art. 2 *Directive* 2001/29/ $EC^{540}$  it is explained that the author of the work has the exclusive right to reproduce, direct or indirect, or to give permission to someone else to reproduce (a part of) the work. Art. 3 *Directive* 2001/29/ $EC^{541}$  clarifies that the owner of the work can communicate his or her work, make it available to the public or give someone else permission to do so. Art. 4 *Directive* 2001/29/ $EC^{542}$  clarifies that the owner also has the right of distribution.

## 2.3.1.3 How long is copyright protection available?

Directive  $2006/116/EC^{543}$  is about the term of copyright protection. In recital 3 of the preamble of Directive  $2006/116/EC^{544}$ , it is explained that the existence of this directive is necessary, since it harmonizes the term of protection with the result that the terms of copyright protection will be the same in all the EU Member-States. According to art. 1 (1) Directive  $2006/116/EC^{545}$  the duration of a literary or artistic work will be:

"1. The rights of an author of a literary or artistic work within the meaning of Article 2 of the Berne Convention shall run for the life of the author and for 70 years after his death, irrespective of the date when the work is lawfully made available to the public." <sup>546</sup> According to art. 6 Directive 2006/116/EC<sup>547</sup>, in the case of the term of protection of photographs, art. 1 Directive 2006/116/EC<sup>548</sup> is also applicable.

41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup> Directive 2009/24/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> Institute for Information Law of the University of Amsterdam 2006, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> *Directive* 2006/116/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> Berne Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> Institute for Information Law of the University of Amsterdam 2006, p. 33.

<sup>538</sup> Berne Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup>http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/ShowResults.jsp?country\_id=ALL&start\_year=ANY&end\_year=ANY&searc h\_what=C&treaty\_id=15 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup> *Directive 2001/29/EC*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>542</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup> *Directive 2006/116/EC*.

<sup>544</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>546</sup> art. 1 (1) *Directive 2006/116/EC*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>547</sup> Directive 2006/116/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup> Ibid.

Art. 8 Directive 2006/116/EC<sup>549</sup> explains that the duration of the term will be calculated as follows: "The terms laid down in this Directive shall be calculated from the first day of January of the year following the event which gives rise to them."550. In art. 9 Directive 2006/116/EC551 it is clarified if the copyright, that was applicable before the directive came into force, is still valid.<sup>552</sup> To know how long copyright protection lasts in a particular EU Member-State, see the "EU Copyrights Durations, 553 chart of the European Union Copyright Information 554.

2.3.1.4 Are there other ways not to infringe copyright? In art. 5 *Directive*  $2001/29/EC^{555}$ , the exceptions and limitations of the copyright owner are discussed. For example, according to art. 5 (3) c and d *Directive*  $2001/29/EC^{556}$  a person of the general public is allowed, under certain conditions (see also art. 5 (5) Directive 2001/29/EC<sup>557</sup>), to reproduce or use quotations of the work. Also, it is allowed to e.g. report about judicial proceedings (art. 5 (3) e *Directive 2001/29/EC*<sup>558</sup>).

Art. 5 (1)-(4) Directive 2001/29/EC<sup>559</sup> should be seen as exhaustive and art. 5 (5) Directive  $2001/29/EC^{560}$  contains a "three-step-test", which originates from art. 9 (2) Berne Convention<sup>561</sup>, and explains when reproduction is allowed under national law. <sup>562</sup> Art. 9 (2) Berne Convention<sup>563</sup> reads: "(2) It shall be a matter for legislation in the countries of the Union to permit the reproduction of such works in certain special cases, provided that such reproduction does not conflict with a normal exploitation of the work and does not unreasonably prejudice the legitimate interests of the author." Art. 5 (5) Directive  $2001/29/EC^{564}$  reads: "The exceptions and limitations provided for in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall only be applied in certain special cases which do not conflict with a normal exploitation of the work or other subject-matter and do not unreasonably prejudice the legitimate interests of the rightholder." In sum, both The Netherlands as The UK have not transposed art. 5(5) Directive  $2001/29/EC^{565}$  in their national law since the two are of the opinion that the article is directed against the legislative power and not also to the judiciary, although The Netherlands and The UK sometimes use the test in their case-law in case of doubt when there are questions if an exemption should be applied in a specific case. 566

## 2.3.1.5 When is there copyright infringement?

There are two regulations which could be applicable: First, the *Brussels I Regulation*<sup>567</sup>, which concerns jurisdiction, but only if the defendant has his or her habitual residence in one of the EU Member-States (Recital 8 and 9 and art. 4 Brussels I Regulation <sup>568</sup>) and, second, the

```
<sup>549</sup> Ibid.
<sup>550</sup> Art. 8 Directive 2006/116/EC.
<sup>551</sup> Directive 2006/116/EC.
<sup>552</sup> See e.g. C-240/07.
553 http://www.eucopyright.org/2008/04/copyright_eu_list/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.eucopyright.org/ (12 August 2012).
<sup>555</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.
<sup>556</sup> Ibid.
<sup>557</sup> Ibid.
558 Ibid.
<sup>559</sup> Ibid.
<sup>560</sup> Ibid.
<sup>561</sup> Berne Convention.
<sup>562</sup> Griffiths 2009, p. 3, Bernt Hugenholtz 2010, p. 341 and Koelman 2006, p. 407.
<sup>563</sup> Berne Convention.
<sup>564</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.
<sup>566</sup> Koelman 2006, p. 407-408 and Griffiths 2009, p. 3-4.
<sup>567</sup> Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001.
<sup>568</sup> Ibid.
```

Rome II Regulation<sup>569</sup>, which explains which national law of a EU Member-State should be applied.<sup>570</sup> In the case of jurisdiction, art. 5 (3) Brussels I Regulation<sup>571</sup> is applicable, which means that the court where the harmful event occurred, has jurisdiction. Nevertheless, since it concerns a non-contractual obligation, art. 8 Rome II Regulation<sup>572</sup> should be used. Art. 8 (1) and (2) Rome II Regulation<sup>573</sup> explain that a copyright infringement case can take place before the national court (e.g. the national law of the copyrighted work) or before the court where the infringement took place (e.g. in case of unitary copyright law). According to art. 8 (3) Rome II Regulation<sup>574</sup>, it is not possible that the plaintiff and defendant can choose where to start a copyright infringement case (art. 14 Rome II Regulation<sup>575</sup> is not applicable). Art. 8 Directive 2001/29/EC<sup>576</sup> explains that it is up to the EU Member-States to provide for sanctions and remedies against copyright infringement. The Enforcement Directive (or Directive 2004/48/EC)<sup>577</sup> is only applicable in the case of counterfeiting and piracy.<sup>578</sup>

## 2.3.1.6 Missing persons' websites and the EU

In the EU a distinction can be made between "*true EU websites*" and websites supported by the EU. Normally, information from the *European Union Website*<sup>579</sup>, e.g. from the website of the *European Commission*, may be copied and published if the source is mentioned, unless otherwise specified. In this Master Thesis "*EU Missing persons' websites*" should be explained as websites supported by the EU.

Although the EU is involved in locating missing adults, these initiatives mostly have a political background as e.g. locating missing people in Cyprus<sup>581</sup>, and therefore, only attention will be paid to four missing children websites supported by the EU.

The first one is the *European Federation for Missing and Sexually Exploited Children* or *Missing Children Europe*<sup>582</sup> which was established in 2009, represents 28 Non-Governmental Organisations and which is active in Switzerland and 19 EU Member-States. <sup>583</sup> *Missing Children Europe*<sup>584</sup> has the following mission: "

- Ensure that in every EU Member State, the basic conditions (institutions, regulations, procedures) for helping missing and sexually exploited children as well as for the prevention of children going missing or being exploited are established, and the professional minimum standards for dealing with these phenomena are observed;
- Stimulate European and transnational cooperation to cope with the growing cross border nature of the problem;
- Extend the level of its Members' activities to a truly operational and highly standardised level;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>569</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>570</sup> http://epceurope.eu/wp-content/themes/striking/factsheets/epc-brussels-I-and-rome-II-fact-sheet-april-2010.pdf/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>571</sup> Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>572</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>573</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>574</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>575</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>576</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>577</sup> Directive 2004/48/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>578</sup> Recital 29 of Directive 2001/29/EC and Directive 2004/48/EC.

<sup>579</sup> http://europa.eu/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

http://ec.europa.eu/geninfo/legal\_notices\_en.htm#copyright (12 August 2012) and *Commission Decision* 2011

<sup>581</sup> See e.g. Missing Persons in Cyprus-Follow up.

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012). There is also the website of the *MCE Supporting Committee* (http://www.supportmce.eu/ (12 August 2012)), but in this Master Thesis only attention will be given to the website of *Missing Children Europe*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>583</sup> Paludi and Kelly 2010, p. 34 and http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>584</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

Assist its Members in their dealings with national authorities to achieve speedy, efficient and accurate implementation of binding European legislation."585

To succeed, *Missing Children Europe*<sup>586</sup>, amongst others, shares best practices of its members and works together with the  $ICMEC^{587}$ . In sum, *Missing Children Europe*<sup>589</sup> can be described as an information website and is not directly involved in finding missing children<sup>590</sup>. On the site there has been made no mention concerning its copyright policy (except that the site is created by *CherryandCake*<sup>591</sup> indicated at the bottom of the page)<sup>592</sup>. Art. 5 (3) c and d *Directive*  $2001/29/EC^{593}$  explain that a person of the general public is allowed, under certain conditions (see also art. 5 (5) Directive 2001/29/EC<sup>594</sup>), to reproduce or use quotations of the work, however, in case of doubt, a manager of a missing persons' website can always contact the manager<sup>595</sup> of *Missing Children Europe*<sup>596</sup>. *Missing Children* Europe<sup>597</sup> also refers to other websites concerning the topic of missing children.<sup>598</sup> Two referrals will be discussed later on, namely the  $ICMEC^{599}$  and  $Childoscope^{600}$ . Second, at the moment only 11 of the 27 EU Member-States have a *Child Alert System*<sup>601</sup>, which can be compared with the US *Amber Alert*<sup>602</sup>, but not the EU itself. Some EU Member-States like Greece (*Amber Alert Hellas*<sup>604</sup>) and France (*Alert-enlèvement*<sup>605</sup>) are using such system<sup>606</sup>, while other Member-States as Germany do not see why a *Child Alert* System<sup>607</sup> should be necessary.<sup>608</sup> On 24 November 2008 the Commission Staff Working Document on the Best Practice for Launching a Cross-border Child Abduction Alert<sup>609</sup> was published in which it is explained which kinds of missing alert system the EU Member-States should use. 610 In the mean time, Missing Children Europe 611 tries to make it possible that the

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=52&Itemid=53 (12)

<sup>586</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=52&Itemid=53 (12)

<sup>589</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=92&Itemid=29 (12 August 2012). 591 http://www.cherryandcake.eu/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>593</sup> *Directive 2001/29/EC*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup> Ibid.

<sup>595</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=91&Itemid=28 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>596</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>598</sup> These are: The European Hotline Number for Missing Children (http://www.hotline116000.eu/ and http://ec.europa.eu/information society/activities/116/index en.htm), the MCE Supporting Committee (http://www.supportmce.eu/), the ICMEC (http://www.icmec.com/) and Childoscope (http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2) (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>599</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>600</sup> http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>601</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/justice/fundamental-rights/rights-child/alert-mechanism/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>602</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012) and Paludi and Kelly 2010, p. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>603</sup> European Parliament 2009, p. C 295E/23-25.

<sup>604</sup> http://gr.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/NewsEventServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_GR&PageId=3269 (12 August 2012).
605 http://www.alerte-enlevement.gouv.fr/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>606</sup> Paludi and Kelly 2010, p. 34.

<sup>607</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/justice/fundamental-rights/rights-child/alert-mechanism/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>608</sup> http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/europe/7339335.stm (12 August 2012).

<sup>609</sup> Commission Staff Working Document 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>610</sup> Ibid, p. 1-8.

different Amber Alert systems of the EU Member-States are connected with each other. 612 The EU Commission<sup>613</sup> as well is attempting to make sure that every EU Member-State will have its own Child Alert system which also should be activated in case of a cross border situation. 614 Therefore, the European Child Alert Automated System 615 project, with the help of the financial support of the EU Fundamental Rights & Citizenship Programme<sup>616</sup>, was developed. 617 According to the *Press Release* of 27 April 2010, the *European Child Alert* Automated System<sup>618</sup>, launched in 2011, should be used in the case of a cross border abduction of a child. 619 For now, only Cyprus, Greece, Italy and Portugal are a member, but it is expected that at the end of the project, all EU Member-States will be involved. 620 The European Child Alert Automated System<sup>621</sup> website is copyrighted by Google Sites<sup>622</sup>. The copyrighted material does not belong to *Google Sites*<sup>623</sup>, but to the copyright owner. <sup>624</sup> There is no direct contact information provided on the European Child Alert Automated System<sup>625</sup> website and there is no copy policy either, although by using "Whois' software" the possible owner (manager or administrator) can be found. 627

Third, the ICMEC<sup>628</sup> should be seen as the "more uniform response to the problem of missing children around the world" and is considered, together with the  $NCMEC^{630}$ , as the worldwide well known organization concerning the topic of missing children. 631 The "Term of Use" 632 section on its website is almost identical as the "Terms of Use" 633 section of the NCMEC 634.

```
611 http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).
```

https://accounts.google.com/ServiceLogin?continue=http%3A%2F%2Fsites.google.com%2F&followup=http%3 A%2F%2Fsites.google.com%2F&service=jotspot&passive=true&ul=1 and

http://www.google.com/sites/help/intl/nl/overview.html (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>612</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=71&Itemid=58 (12 August 2012).
613 http://ec.europa.eu/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>614</sup> The Stockholm Programme 2009, p. C115/9 and C115/22 and http://ec.europa.eu/justice/fundamentalrights/rights-child/alert-mechanism/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>615</sup> http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>616</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/justice/grants/programmes/fundamental-citizenship/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>617</sup> ECAAS Press Release 2010, p. 1.

<sup>618</sup> http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>619</sup> ECAAS Press Release 2010, p. 1.

<sup>621</sup> http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>622</sup> See http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (at the bottom),

<sup>623</sup> https://accounts.google.com/ServiceLogin?continue=https%3A%2F%2Fsites.google.com%2F%3Fhl%3Dnl&f ollowup=https%3A%2F%2Fsites.google.com%2F%3Fhl%3Dnl&hl=nl&service=jotspot&passive=true&ul=1 (12 August 2012).

<sup>624</sup> http://www.google.com/intl/en/policies/terms/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>626</sup> See e.g. http://www.ip-adress.com/whois/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.ip-adress.com/whois/europeanchildalert.com (12 August 2012).

<sup>628</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>629</sup> Dube 1999, p. 71.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>631</sup> See e.g. Dube 1999 p. 69-70. As a remark, this is not truly an EU website, it is an organization with which the Missing Children Europe (http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/ (12 August 2012)) is working together http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=52&Itemid=53/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>632</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_X1&PageId=3246#Reprint Policy (12 August 2012).

<sup>633</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en US&PageId=1923 (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

The fourth website is *Childoscope* 635 which, amongst others, provides definitions of missing children<sup>636</sup> and refers to other existing non-governmental organizations of EU Member-States involved in the field of missing and/or sexually exploited children<sup>637</sup>. Besides the "Terms of use" in which it is explained, amongst others, that the authors of this directory cannot be hold responsible for the information provided on the other non-governmental websites<sup>639</sup>, there is no mention of any copyright notice, however, it is explained that the website is under the direction of *Missing Children Europe*<sup>640</sup> and therefore, it can be assumed that copyright belongs to them.

Until now, there was no copyright case brought before the ECJ<sup>641</sup> concerning any of the above mentioned EU and/or US missing persons' websites and/or its user(s).

#### 2.3.2 The Netherlands

#### 2.3.2.1 What is copyright protected?

The Netherlands is a member country of the Berne Convention 642 643

In general, the legal framework concerning Dutch copyright law can be found in the *Dutch* Copyright Law (Auteurswet). It does not provide a definition of what is meant with a "work", however, according to the case Romme/Van Dale<sup>644</sup> of the Dutch Supreme Court on 4 January 1991, a work must be fixed and it has to be original, meaning that it must have a personal stamp of the author. 645 However, no attention has to be paid to e.g. the moral of a work. 646 In art. 10 Dutch Copyright Law it is explained which works are be copyright protected. According to art. 5 (2) Berne Convention<sup>647</sup>, it is not necessary to register copyright as it is automatically provided for.<sup>648</sup>

#### 2.3.2.2 Who is the copyright owner?

Art. 1 Dutch Copyright Law explains that the author of the work is the person who has created the work. 649 In art. 4-8 Dutch Copyright Law other forms of ownership, as e.g. works commissioned for someone else (art. 7 Dutch Copyright Law), are clarified. 650

#### 2.3.2.3 Which rights does a copyright owner have?

In art. 1 and 12 Dutch Copyright Law, it is explained that the owner of the work has the right to publish and reproduce his or her work. He or she can also transfer the rights of the work (art. 2 Dutch Copyright Law). The copyright owner has the right of making his work public, to reproduce, to distribute and lend it (art. 1, 2, 12, 12a and 13 Dutch Copyright Law).

```
635 http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2/ (12 August 2012).
```

46

<sup>636</sup> http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/main/faq.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>637</sup> http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

<sup>638</sup> Ibid and http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/main/general.php/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>639</sup> http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>640</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

<sup>641</sup> http://europa.eu/about-eu/institutions-bodies/court-justice/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>642</sup> Berne Convention. 643 http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/Remarks.jsp?cnty\_id=1000C (12 August 2012).

<sup>644</sup> Hoge Raad 4 januari 1991, *LJN* ZC0104.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>645</sup> Ibid, paragraph 3.4. See also Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 57-79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>646</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>647</sup> Berne Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>648</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup> Ibid, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup> Ibid, p. 25-51.

#### 2.3.2.3.1 Consent and licensing

Licensing is allowed according to art. 2 Dutch Copyright Law. Also, it is possible for the owner of a work to have a Dutch "Creative Common License". 651

#### 2.3.2.3.2 Fair Use

At the moment, the "fair use" defence is not applicable in The Netherlands. 652

#### 2.3.2.4 How long is copyright protection available?

According to art. 37 (1) Dutch Copyright Law, the copyright of a work expires after 70 years of the dead of the owner of the work.

#### The Public Domain 2.3.2.4.1

When the limitation of copyright law is expired, the work will enter the public domain. 653

According to art. 11 Dutch Copyright Law there is no copyright on laws, regulations, decisions, case-law and administrative decisions taken by the public powers<sup>654</sup>, which mean that they enter the public domain. 655 Nevertheless, when it concerns a prior disclosure of a possible law, the case could be that there is copyright protection according to art. 15b Dutch Copyright Law. 656

#### 2.3.2.5 Are there other ways not to infringe copyright?

The placing of a hyperlink of the work is allowed. 65'

Art. 15 Dutch Copyright Law explains that it is permitted to copy from newspapers (although, attention should be paid to the context of the article since an article published in such a medium can be more than only news)<sup>658</sup> from and by the press. Yet, since a manager or a user of a missing persons' website should not be considered to belong to the press, he or she is not allowed to use this argument in court. 659 However, even if in the event that the manager could be regarded as belonging to the press, than still art. 15 Dutch Copyright Law is not applicable if the copied information is only used as background information and not as a news article.<sup>660</sup> Art. 15a Dutch Copyright Law concerns quoting and the article provides six reasons when quotation is allowed, e.g. a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website is allowed to quote when it concerns the purpose of explaining how a person became missing, since it concerns informing other people about the circumstances of a disappearing. 661 The publishing of a whole newspaper article cannot be regarded as quoting. 662 The source of the information quoted must be provided. 663 However, although a manager and/or user has provided a source,

<sup>651</sup> http://wiki.creativecommons.org/Netherlands (12 August 2012).

<sup>652</sup> http://kluwercopyrightblog.com/2011/03/10/in-defence-of-a-fair-use-defence/ (12 August 2012). See also Alberdingk Thijm 1998, p. 145-154 and Senftleben 2009, p. 1-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>653</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 550.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup> Ibid, p. 137-140.

<sup>655</sup> Schroevers and Doğan 2004, p. 21 and http://creativecommons.nl/2010/03/31/rijksoverheid-in-het-publiekedomein/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>656</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 137-138 and 140-150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup> Ibid, p. 407-408.

<sup>658</sup> Rechtbank Breda 30 mei 2012, *LJN* BW7204, paragraphs 3.8.4-3.8.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>659</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 227-230. See e.g. Rechtbank Dordrecht 20 juli 2011, *LJN* BR2517, paragraphs 4.7-4.12.

660 See e.g. Rechtbank Dordrecht 20 juli 2011, *LJN* BR2517, paragraph 4.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>661</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 241-243.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>662</sup> Rechtbank Breda 30 mei 2012, *LJN* BW7204, paragraphs 3.10.1-3.10.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 241-243.

he or she can still be sued for copyright infringement because, for example, the original author of the work missed out on compensation for the republication of his or her work since the reader of the article does not visit its original source. 664

Art. 15c Dutch Copyright Law (paying for e.g. reproduction) can be considered important.

#### 2.3.2.6 When is there copyright infringement?

There are three possibilities to claim for a Dutch court to have jurisdiction: First, if the damage of the copyright infringement was felt in The Netherlands (art. 6 (e) Dutch Code of Civil Procedure), second, if the act took place in The Netherlands (art. 102 Dutch Code of Civil Procedure) or, third, when the plaintiff and the defendant decided together that a Dutch court should hear the case (art. 8 (1) Dutch Code of Civil Procedure). 665

Normally, the owner of the work is the person who can sue the infringer of his or her copyright. 666 A copyright infringement in a civil procedure can be brought against any person who breaches copyright law, even against e.g. the person who provoked the copyright infringer (art. 6:162 *Dutch Civil Code*). 667 The plaintiff has to prove four conditions: First, the act must be considered unlawful, second, the unlawful act has been committed by the defendant, third, the unlawful act committed by the defendant must result in damage, and, fourth, there must be causality between the damage and the unlawful act committed by the defendant. 668 Nevertheless, even if these four conditions are fulfilled by the defendant, the Dutch judge can declare that, based on the circumstances of the case, the defendant is not guilty due to the relativity requirement as mentioned in art. 6:163 Dutch Civil Code (also seen as a fifth condition). 669 In other words, the damages of the plaintiff must be the result of the wrongful act committed by the defendant.<sup>670</sup>

The copyright owner can ask for monetary damages (likely including the profits of the infringer), for a declaratory judgement (art. 3:302 Dutch Civil Code), for a prohibition (with a monetary penalty if necessary), rectification and/or publication of the judgement and other sanctions as the destruction of copies.<sup>671</sup>

The limitation to begin a copyright infringement case is within five years that the plaintiff became aware that he had suffered damage due to the copyright infringement act and knew who had committed it (art. 3:310 (1) and (5) Dutch Civil Code).<sup>672</sup>

## 2.3.2.7 Missing persons' websites and The Netherlands

The website of the Government of the Netherlands (Rijksoverheid)<sup>673</sup> should be regarded as an information website.<sup>674</sup> It is created under a "Creative Commons Zero" license<sup>675</sup>, which means that the information provided on its website can be copied unless otherwise stated.<sup>676</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>664</sup> Rechtbank Breda 30 mei 2012, *LJN* BW7204, paragraph 3.14.2.

<sup>665</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/jurisdiction\_courts/jurisdiction\_courts\_net\_nl.htm (12 August 2012), Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 627 and Pontier 2001, p. 74-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>666</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 480.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup> Ibid, p. 489-490.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>668</sup> Kottenhagen and Kottenhagen-Edzes 2007, p. 188 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overigeaansprakelijkheid/onrechtmatige-daad-en-aansprakelijkheid/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>669</sup> Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009, p. 21 and 60-67, Kottenhagen and Kottenhagen-Edzes 2007, p. 188 and 191 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/onrechtmatige-daad-enaansprakelijkheid/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>670</sup> Ibid and Hoge Raad 22 februari 2002, LJN AD5356 (Conclusion of Mr. L. Strikwerda), paragraph 16. 671 Spoor, Verkade, Visser 2005, p. 490-525.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>672</sup> Verheij 2005, p. 18-20 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/verjaring-enonrechtmatige-daad/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>673</sup> http://www.government.nl/ and http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ (both 12 August 2012).

There are four missing persons' websites in The Netherlands.

The first one concerns the Dutch missing children website<sup>677</sup> of which, according to its "Copyright" section, no information or flyers of this website can be used without the permission of the Korps Landelijke Politiediensten (or National Police Services Agency)<sup>678</sup>. 679 However, since the website is part of the US missing children website NCMEC<sup>680</sup>, it is a part of "The Global Missing Children's Network" 681 of the ICMEC<sup>682</sup>, meaning that it could be possible that the copyright condition of the Dutch missing children's website could be circumvented by using the US based missing children's' website and using the "Terms of *Use*"<sup>683</sup> section of that website.<sup>684</sup>

Second, since 11 November 2008, the Dutch Amber Alert<sup>685</sup> can be applied in cases where the child is missing and considered to be in (mortal or physical) danger. 686 In general, the criteria for a Dutch Amber Alert<sup>687</sup> are: the child is younger than 18 years, he or she is in danger, information about the child is available and the child must be missing according to the police. 688 If a child is parental abducted or has runaway from home, the system will not be used. 689 From 14 December 2010 till now 690, all missing children shown on the Dutch missing children website 691 are placed on the website of the Dutch *Amber Alert*. 692 A manager of a missing persons' website can choose for the possibility of placing an Amber Alert Banner on his or her website. 693 When it concerns copyright, in the "FQA – Amber Alert" section, it is only explained that the logo is copyright protected.<sup>694</sup> Since the Dutch Amber Alert<sup>695</sup> works together with the Korps Landelijke Politiediensten (or National Police Services Agency)<sup>696</sup> and the flyers from the Dutch Amber Alert<sup>697</sup> immediately redirect to the Dutch missing

```
674 http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/ (12 August 2012).
```

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/ReceiveAlert.aspx?id=banner&lang=nl and

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Faq.aspx?lang=nl (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>675</sup> http://wiki.creativecommons.org/Case\_Studies/Netherlands\_Government (12 August 2012).

<sup>676</sup> http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/copyright, http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/copyright/nederlandse-vertaling-cc0, http://www.government.nl/copyright and http://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=en (all 12 August 2012). http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/KLPD/default.asp and http://www.politie.nl/English/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>679</sup> http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl\_NL&PageId=1010 (12

August 2012).
680 http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>2012). 681</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_X1&PageId=3065 (12 August 2012).

<sup>682</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>683</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1923 (12 August 2012).
684 US Department of Justice 2011, p. 13.

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>686</sup> Beek 2008, p. 2-3 and http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>687</sup> http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

<sup>688</sup> http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Faq.aspx (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>689</sup> Beek 2008, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>690</sup> Until 12 August 2012.

<sup>691</sup> http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

<sup>693</sup> http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/ReceiveAlert.aspx?id=3&lang=nl,

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Faq.aspx?lang=nl/ (12 August 2012) and at the bottom of each page.

<sup>695</sup> http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

<sup>696</sup> http://www.politie.nl/KLPD/default.asp and http://www.politie.nl/English/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>697</sup> http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

children website<sup>698</sup>, the copyright policy of the *Korps Landelijke Politiediensten* (or *National Police Services Agency*)<sup>699</sup> should be followed.<sup>700</sup>

The third one concerns a missing adults' website<sup>701</sup>, which explains, according to its "Copyright" section on the website of the Korps Landelijke Politiediensten (or National Police Services Agency)<sup>702</sup>, that no information or flyers of this website may be used without the permission of this agency.<sup>703</sup>

Fourth, another source of finding missing and abducted children is the Dutch television programme *Vermist*<sup>704</sup>, which is broadcasted twice a month on Friday.<sup>705</sup> The programme asks the help of the general public in locating missing people.<sup>706</sup> The programme is involved in finding missing persons as finding people lost of sight due to other circumstances (e.g. adoption). 707 On the website of *Vermist* 108 flyers of missing adults and children can be found. <sup>709</sup> According to their "Help" section, materials, as information and flyers, may not be copied from the website without permission of the Dutch television and radio organization Televisie Radio Omroep Stichting or TROS<sup>710</sup>, 711

Until now, there was no case brought before the Dutch court about copyright infringement and missing people regarding the website of the Government of the Netherlands (*Rijksoverheid*)<sup>712</sup>, any of the organizations mentioned above, a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).<sup>713</sup>

#### 2.3.3 England

#### 2.3.3.1 What is copyright protected?

The UK is a member country of the Berne Convention<sup>714</sup>.<sup>715</sup>

In general, the legal framework concerning English copyright law can be found in the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act of 1988 (also known as the 1988 Act). 716

A work can only be copyright protected if it falls under one of the categories as described under Section 1 Chapter I Part 1 1988 Act. 717 Websites and/or comments can be seen as

50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup> http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>699</sup> http://www.politie.nl/KLPD/default.asp and http://www.politie.nl/English/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>700</sup> http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/files/press/AMBER\_Alert\_Realtime\_opsporen\_via\_ieder\_scherm.pdf and http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/Opsporing/vermiste\_personen.asp (12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/KLPD/default.asp and http://www.politie.nl/English/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>703</sup> http://www.vermistepersonen.info/copyright/default.asp (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>704</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>705</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=16 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>706</sup> Bos and Broer 2011, p. 91.

<sup>707</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=16 (12 August 2012).

http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>709</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=5 (12 August 2012).

<sup>710</sup> http://www.tros.nl/overdetros/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=9 (12 August 2012).

<sup>712</sup> http://www.government.nl/ and http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>713</sup> There is the case Rechtbank Amsterdam 14 december 2006, *LJN* AZ4480 in which it was decided that the abductor of a child cannot ask the court that a Dutch website is not allowed to publish the picture of his or her child when it is established that the other parent has custody of the child (art. 21 Dutch Copyright Law) (Rechtbank Amsterdam 14 december 2006, LJN AZ4480, paragraph De beoordeling). But this case-law concerned the publishing of a portrait of a person without his or her consent. <sup>714</sup> *Berne Convention*.

<sup>715</sup> http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/Remarks.jsp?cnty\_id=1043C (12 August 2012).

<sup>716</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 29 and http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/48/contents (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>717</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 56.

literary or artistic works. <sup>718</sup> Furthermore, a work is protected if the following four conditions are met: First, the work must be in a material form, second, it must be original, third the work must be connected with the UK and, fourth, no public policy grounds should apply on the work (e.g. a work may not be blasphemous, immoral or obscene)<sup>719,720</sup> The copyright protection is automatically given.<sup>721</sup> A copyright notice is not necessary, therefore, if a website does not have one, it is not correct to assume that the material on the site falls within the public domain, since the work can be listed with the *UK Copyright service*. <sup>722</sup> For example, the structure of a website can be registered with the *UK Copyright Service*. 723

Sections 45-50 Part I Chapter III 1988 Act states that acts which fall under public administration are permitted to be copied.<sup>724</sup> However, when it concerns a work that is made under the direction or control of the *House of Commons*<sup>725</sup> or the *House of Lords*<sup>726</sup>, copyright belongs to them.<sup>727</sup>

#### 2.3.3.2 Who is the copyright owner?

According to Section 9 Chapter I Part I 1988 Act the author of the work is the person who has created the work. 728 Additionally, there can be exceptions as e.g. works created by employees or *Crown copyright* (which are works made by the government) 729 730

#### 2.3.3.3 Which rights does a copyright owner have?

Sections 16-21 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act explain which acts are only permitted by the owner of the work who has copyright, unless the copier has received permission of the copyright owner to do so. <sup>731</sup> Section 16 (1) Chapter II Part I 1988 Act elaborates that the owner of the copyright protected work is allowed, amongst others, to make copies (Section 17 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act), to issue copies of the work to the public (Section 18 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act), lending or rending of the work (Section 18A Chapter II Part I 1988 Act), to make the work available to the public (Section 20 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act) and adapting the work (Section 21 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act). 732

#### 2.3.3.3.1 Consent and licensing

It is possible for the owner of a work to have a "Creative Common License" in the UK (only for England and Wales). 733 Another possibility is to get a "copyleft license" (e.g. for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>718</sup> Ibid, p. 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>719</sup> Ibid, p. 11-112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>720</sup> Ibid, p. 86-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>721</sup> http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law (12 August 2012) and Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 115.

722 http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/copyright\_myths and

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p02\_protecting\_copyright (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/protect/p23\_registering\_websites (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>724</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 215-216.

http://www.parliament.uk/business/commons/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>726</sup> http://www.parliament.uk/lords (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>727</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 126.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>728</sup> Ibid, p. 114.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>729</sup> Judge 2011, p. 211-214 and http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law/ (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>730</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>731</sup> Ibid, p. 130-131.

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>733</sup> http://wiki.creativecommons.org/UK:\_England\_and\_Wales and http://www.creativecommons.org.uk/ (both 12 August 2012).

software)<sup>734</sup>, which allows others than the copyright owner that the work can, without restraint, be copied, distributed or adapted, only if, e.g. the altered work is again free to be copied, altered and distributed. <sup>735</sup> However, a "copyleft license" is not the same as claiming that the work is in the public domain, since if a work is in the public domain, a person using that work is allowed to make financial gain, while this is not necessarily the case with a "copyleft license". 736

## 2.3.3.3.2 Fair Use

There is no copyright infringement if the "fair dealing" defence can be used, which means that the manager and/or user was allowed to copy some material (quoting) and publish it on a website (Sections 29-30 Chapter III Part I 1988 Act). 737 However, it may only be used for information as described in the article. 738 For example, if the copying took place in case of criticism<sup>739</sup> or news reporting<sup>740</sup>, there is no copyright infringement (Section 30 Chapter III Part I 1988 Act).

If the purpose of the copying does not fall under the "fair dealing" justification, the copying is not allowed. Therefore, it can be concluded that the UK approach can be seen as the opposite of the US approach of "fair use". 742

#### 2.3.3.4 How long is copyright protection available?

Section 16 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act clarifies that there is copyright protection for 70 years after the dead of the author when it concerns literary, dramatic, musical or artistic works. 743 In the case of "Crown Copyright", it can be 75 or 125 years which depends on the fact if the work is commercially published within the 75 years of its existence (Section 163 (3) Chapter X Part I 1988 Act). 745

#### 2.3.3.4.1 The Public Domain

Section 12 Chapter I Part I 1988 Act explains how long a work can be copyright protected and after the copyright is expired, the work enters the public domain. According to Section 12 (2) Chapter I Part I 1988 Act explains the copyright of e.g. a literary work expires after 70 years of the dead of the owner of the work.

#### 2.3.3.5 Are there other ways not to infringe copyright?

It is possible that during a copyright infringement procedure, the infringer can, if possible, to get a license from the copyright owner according to Section 98 Chapter VI Part I 1988 Act.

737 Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 193- 206 and http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p09\_fair\_use/ (12 August 2012). <sup>738</sup> Alberdingk Thijm 1998, p. 149.

743 http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law and

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p05\_copyright\_infringement (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>734</sup> See e.g. http://www.gnu.org/copyleft/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p20\_copyleft (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>739</sup> See also Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 200-202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>740</sup> See also Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 203-206.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>741</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 192-193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>742</sup> Ibid, p. 193.

<sup>744</sup> Judge 2011, p. 211-214 and http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01 uk copyright law/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>745</sup> http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p10\_duration (12 August 2012).

According to Sections 45-50 Chapter III Part I 1988 Act, there is no copyright infringement when it concerns the reproduction of information of parliamentary and judicial proceedings, the Royal Commission and statutory inquiries, material that is open to public inspection or located on official registers, material communicated to the Crown and in the course of public business, public records and acts done under statutory authority.

In the UK it is not entirely clear if judicial decisions fall under "Crown Copyright", but it is assumed they do. 748

#### 2.3.3.6 When is there copyright infringement?

Normally the English court can claim "Forum non-conveniens" to decline jurisdiction because it is of the opinion that a court in another jurisdiction is more suitable to decide about the case in question. 749 Yet, since the UK is an EU-Member-State, it is obliged to follow EU law concerning jurisdiction, as the *Brussels I Regulation*<sup>750</sup> and the *Rome II Regulation*<sup>751</sup>, instead of its own national law. 752 The English court can have jurisdiction on the basis of territory<sup>753</sup> since, according to art. 8 (1) and (2) Rome II Regulation<sup>754</sup>, copyright infringement cases can be decided by the English court when it concerns the national law of the copyrighted work or the place where the infringement took place. Nevertheless, a defendant can argue that the English court does not have jurisdiction according to Rule 11 Civil Procedure Rules or CPR. 755

Sections 16 -21 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act clarify when a copyright infringement act has happened. 756 Not important is what the intention of the infringer was, since the sections mentioned are based on strict liability. 757 Nevertheless, in the case of determining the damages, it could be a relevant factor. <sup>758</sup> As a remark, the infringement of a copyright is also not allowed even if it is not committed for financial gain. <sup>759</sup>

There could also be secondary infringement (Sections 22-26 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act), however this kind of infringement will not be examined since it concerns the commercial exploitations of copies where the copyright infringer had reason to believe or could have known that the material was copyright infringed material.<sup>760</sup>

http://www.clarkslegal.com/Article/783/Determining%20Jurisdiction%20under%20English%20Law/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>747</sup> Judge 2011, p. 211-214 and http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01 uk copyright law/ (12 August

 $<sup>2012). \\ ^{748} \</sup> http://www.theregister.co.uk/2009/08/10/court\_filing\_copyright/, \ http://www.barcouncil.org.uk/for-the-definition of the control of the$ bar/practice-updates-and-guidance/guidance-on-other-issues/copyright-status-of-court-judgments/, http://www.opsi.gov.uk/advice/crown-copyright/crown-copyright-in-the-information-age.pdf/ (all 12 August 2012) and Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 126 and 156.

<sup>749</sup> http://www.herbertsmith.com/NR/rdonlyres/3F7524EE-9AB8-4B6A-9993-

<sup>285934</sup>A7EF14/1605/Regjuris.pdf/ (12 August 2012). 750 Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>752</sup> http://www.herbertsmith.com/NR/rdonlyres/3F7524EE-9AB8-4B6A-9993-

<sup>285934</sup>A7EF14/1605/Regjuris.pdf and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>753</sup> Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 492.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>754</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>755</sup> Stone 2010, p. 187-188.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>756</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 130-131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>757</sup> Ibid, p. 130-132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>758</sup> Ibid, p. 132.

<sup>759</sup> http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/copyright\_myths (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 132.

Section 16 (2) and (3) Chapter II Part I 1988 Act explains that primary copyright infringement<sup>761</sup> takes place when:

and it is immaterial whether any intervening acts themselves infringe copyright."

Section 27 Chapter II Part I 1988 Act describes what should be regarded as an "infringing copy".

The owner or exclusive licensee can start a copyright infringement procedure before the court and can ask for damages, injunctions (against service providers)<sup>762</sup>... (Section 96 (1) and (2) and Sections 99-104 Chapter VI Part I 1988 Act). 763 Section 97 Chapter VI Part I 1988 Act concerns the damages. In Sections 107-110 Section 97 Chapter VI Part I 1988 Act, the criminal procedure is explained.

Besides, if the copyright owner should chose between a civil or criminal case, it is recommended to choose for a civil case since civil law requires a lower burden of proof than in a criminal case. <sup>764</sup> However, it is recommended that the copyright owner should first write a letter to the copyright infringer in order for him or her to stop the copyright infringing act, unless the copyright owner is of the opinion that he or she should receive e.g. damages. <sup>765</sup>

Section 58 Part I *Limitation Act 1980* explains that the limitation to begin a copyright infringement case is six years.

2.3.3.7 <u>Missing persons' websites in England</u>
The website of the *UK Government*<sup>766</sup> explains that it applies "*Crown Copyright*", on its website. 768 It also clarifies in its "Terms and conditions" section that, amongst others, a user may not distribute copyright infringed material on the website and that it is not responsible for the content of other websites it links to. 769

The Missing Persons Bureau<sup>770</sup> is part of the Serious Organized Crime Agency or SOCA.<sup>771</sup> It provides, amongst others, information for the general public 7772 and the police concerning missing persons.<sup>773</sup> It has a "Terms and Conditions for using this Website" section in which it explains, besides its copyright, that it also has an "Open Government License" and that "Crown Copyrighted" material can be located on its website. 774

<sup>762</sup> Section 97A Chapter VI Part I 1988 Act.

<sup>&</sup>quot;(2) Copyright in a work is infringed by a person who without the licence of the copyright owner does, or authorises another to do, any of the acts restricted by the copyright.

<sup>(3)</sup> References in this Part to the doing of an act restricted by the copyright in a work are to the doing of it— (a) in relation to the work as a whole or any substantial part of it, and (b) either directly or indirectly;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>761</sup> Ibid, p. 162-185.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>763</sup> http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law (12 August 2012).

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/copyright\_myths (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>765</sup> http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p05\_copyright\_infringement (12 August 2012).

http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/index.htm / (12 August 2012).

Judge 2011, p. 211-214 and http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law/ (12 August

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>768</sup> http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/SiteInformation/DG\_020460/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>769</sup> http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/SiteInformation/DG\_020455/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/ and http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/412/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/terms-and-conditions/ and http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/ (both 12 August 2012).

The national missing children website<sup>775</sup> is part of "*The Global Missing Children's Network*" of the *ICMEC*<sup>776</sup>. Thas a "*Terms and Conditions*" section on its website explaining when copying is allowed.<sup>778</sup> It has a copyright notice at the bottom of each page of its website.<sup>779</sup> It also refers to other websites as *Parents & Abducted Children Together* or *Pact*<sup>780</sup>, the *Missing Persons Bureau*<sup>781</sup> and *Missing People*<sup>782</sup>.

The UK does have an *Amber Alert system* called the *Child Rescue Alert*. The system works the same way as the US *Amber Alert* Nevertheless, the website of the UK *Child Rescue* Alert<sup>787</sup> no longer exists<sup>788</sup> and the information provided by the *National Policing* Improvement Agency<sup>789</sup> is outdated.<sup>790</sup> While on the website of Missing Persons Bureau<sup>791</sup> the alert is only explained.<sup>792</sup>

In sum, Parents & Abducted Children Together or Pact<sup>793</sup> is a non-profit organization (registered in the US as the UK), which should be regarded as an associate of the ICMEC<sup>794</sup>. <sup>795</sup> It came into existence in 1999 by Lady Catherine Meyer who also co-founded, together with Ernie Allen, the ICMEC<sup>796</sup>. <sup>797</sup> It is involved in shaping policies concerning the protection and recovery of missing children. <sup>798</sup> There is no copyright policy on the website, but it seems that permission to use and publish the information provided of the website must be obtained in advanced, since the organization must be contacted before a link from Pact<sup>799</sup> can be provided on another missing persons' website.800

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>775</sup> http://uk.missingkids.com (12 August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/terms/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>779</sup> See e.g. http://uk.missingkids.com/terms/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>780</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>781</sup> http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/terms/. The website of the Child Exploitation & Online Protection Centre (http://ceop.police.uk/) will not be discussed since it is not about missing children (all 12 August 2012). http://www.npia.police.uk/en/16017.htm and http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-

bureau/child-rescue-alert (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>785</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>786</sup> http://www.npia.police.uk/en/16017.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>788</sup> http://www.npia.police.uk/cps/rde/xchg/npia/root.xsl/404.htm?rdeStandardPropertyPage=yes and http://uk.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/ServiceServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_GB&PageId=2943 (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>789</sup> http://www.npia.police.uk/en/home.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>790</sup> The information provided is from 2009 and 2010 (http://www.npia.police.uk/en/13253.htm and http://www.npia.police.uk/en/16017.htm (both 12 August 2012)).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/child-rescue-alert/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>793</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>794</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>795</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/About-Us/about-us-what-is-pact-parents-and-abducted-children-togetherparental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>796</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/About-Us/about-us-what-is-pact-parents-and-abducted-children-togetherparental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html and

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/NewsEventServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_X1&PageId=1236 (both 12

<sup>98</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/About-Us/about-us-what-is-pact-parents-and-abducted-children-togetherparental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html (12 August 2012). http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>800</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/Get-Involved/get-involved-pact-parents-and-abducted-children-together-parentalabduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html (12 August 2012).

When it concerns missing adults, there is *Missing People*<sup>801</sup>, a charity which helps left-behind persons in their search for a missing person. It even exchanges messages between missing people (located but not ready to get in touch with their family) and left-behind persons. The website has a copyright policy in which it is explained that the information provided on the website cannot be copied and published and that links must be approved by the charity first. A manager of a missing persons' website can write an e-mail concerning copying and republishing the copyrighted material of this organization. Comments containing copyright infringement material will be removed by the manager of this website.

Until now, there was no case brought before the English court about copyright infringement and missing people regarding the website of the *UK Government*<sup>807</sup>, the *Missing Persons Bureau*<sup>808</sup>, any of the organizations mentioned above, a US based missing persons' website or its user(s)

<sup>801</sup> http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>802</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>803</sup> *Home Office 2011*, p. 8.

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/terms-of-use (12 August 2012).

<sup>805</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>806</sup> Ibid.

<sup>807</sup> http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/index.htm/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>808</sup> http://www.soca.gov.uk/about-soca/missing-persons-bureau/ (12 August 2012).

#### **Chapter 3: Defamation**

#### **Introduction**

It is not uncommon that in the case of missing persons (and especially when it concerns the disappearance of a child) all kinds of theories and/or comments are posted on the internet. Some of them are well documented, while others are just unfounded statements. However, even if a manager or user has thoroughly researched a disappearance and writes a case file or comment about it, he or she can still be accused of defamation.

In this chapter the following sub questions will be discussed:

- 1. What is defamation according to US law?
- 2. How should defamation by a manager and/or (US citizen or foreign) user of a US based missing persons' website be dealt with according to US law?
- 3. How is defamation prevented and dealt with in the EU, The Netherlands and England? This chapter will be divided into two paragraphs.

First, US defamation law will be examined in detail. It will be split into four parts. To begin, the description of defamation according to US law is clarified. Then, it will be explained who can start a defamation case. Hereafter, attention will be paid to the civil court procedure, followed by defenses against a defamation claim, which is divided into three sections, first, explaining how to prevent a defamation claim, second, which legal defenses there are when there is a defamation case before a US court and, third, an answer will be given to the problem concerning the liability of the manager of a missing persons' website of a(n) (alleged) defamatory statement made by a user. The last part will show how defamation problems are solved in practice.

Second, attention is given to foreign defamation laws. This paragraph is divided into three parts, covering defamation respectively in EU, Dutch and English law. In each of these parts, a short description concerning defamation law will be provided, followed by how managers of foreign missing persons' websites are trying to prevent defamation claims.

#### 3.1 US defamation law

#### 3.1.1 What is defamation?

The US considers the existence of the *First Amendment* of the *US Constitution*, the *Freedom of Religion, Press and Expression*, as one of its essential rights. Therefore it is acknowledged and/or complaint about that the US is more interested in preserving the right of the *Freedom of Speech* than in the *Protection of Reputation*.

The First Amendment reads:

"Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievance."

However, the *Freedom of Speech* is not an absolute right<sup>811</sup> and thus a manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website can be accused of defamation.

Unlike US copyright law, US defamation law is not addressed on the level of federal law. <sup>812</sup> Defamation should be regarded as a tort (a civil wrong) and is defined by state law. <sup>814</sup>

810 Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 8, 12 and 22.

<sup>809</sup> Reed 2000, p. 224.

<sup>811</sup> Middleton and Lee 2009, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>812</sup> In the case of copyright law see: Bouchoux 2009, p. 176 and Crews 1993, p. 146. In the case of defamation law see e.g. Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 50-53 and Zelezny 2011, p. 119.

Important is *Restatement (Second) of Torts*<sup>815</sup> §558 and further (which is a secondary source of law, used by the US courts and prepared by the *American Law Institute*<sup>816</sup>, explaining which common law trends there are and provides guidance on how a certain legal problem should be solved)<sup>817</sup> which describes the elements of defamation.

There are two forms of defamation: First, there can be defamatory statements which are made orally and are called slander or, second, the defamatory statements are in print or fixed form which are called libel (see also *Restatement (Second) of Torts*<sup>818</sup> §568). In the case of the internet, defamation should be defined as libel instead of slander. Libel can be divided into three categories. Libel can be divided into three categories.

First, there can be "*libel per se*", i.e. when the obvious defamatory statement (meaning a statement which is absolutely false) about a plaintiff is believed to cause him or her damage. However, this kind of libel cannot be used when it only concerns the disclosure of embarrassing information. 823

Second, there can be "libel per quod", which is applied in cases that do not fall under "libel per se". 824 In sum, the statement itself is innocent; however, if a reader has some background knowledge about the person, the sentence can harm his or her reputation. 825 It concerns situations where the factual accusation must be considered untrue and should not be confused with "libel by implication" where the statement is true, but used to create a false impression. 826

Third, there is "*libel by implication*" or "*implied libel*" which means that a true statement is given a false impression. <sup>827</sup> Nevertheless, the interpretation and thus application of this kind of libel can differ from state to state. <sup>828</sup>

```
813 http://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/tort and http://www.nolo.com/dictionary/tort-term.html (both 12 August
814 Schwabach 2006, p. 80 and http://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/defamation (12 August 2012).
The Restatement (Second) of Torts is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g.
http://www.ibls.com/internet law news portal view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,
http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,
http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,
http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and
http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).
816 http://www.ali.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882 and
http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 (both 12 August 2012).
The Restatement (Second) of Torts is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g.
http://www.ibls.com/internet law news portal view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,
http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,
http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,
http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and
http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).
  http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal_injury/defamation.html/ (12 August 2012).
<sup>820</sup> Middleton and Lee 2009, p. 96, Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 315 and
http://www.ibls.com/internet_law_news_portal_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=1874 (12 August 2012).
<sup>821</sup> Siegel 2011, p. 84-85.
822 Carroll 2010, p. 271, Siegel 2011, p. 84, Nieto and Schmitt 2005, p.55 and
http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal_injury/defamation (12 August 2012).
823 Carroll 2010, p. 271.
824 Siegel 2011, p. 84-85.
826 Ibid and Nieto and Schmitt 2005, p. 56.
827 Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 50-53, Siegel 2011, p. 85 and http://www.rcfp.org/browse-
media-law-resources/news-media-law/news-media-law-summer-2011/libel-omission-creating-false-i (12 August
2012).
```

<sup>828</sup> Ibid.

Libel can also be divided into civil and criminal libel (or criminal defamation). Criminal libel can be found in 17 state laws such as in the State of Colorado. It is not applied very often, because there could be problems with the *First Amendment* and criminal libel laws are considered to be broad and vague. Although, in the case of the internet, there is a discussion if criminal libel should be applied again.

Therefore, due to the problems surrounding criminal libel, only civil libel will be examined.

#### 3.1.2 Who is the plaintiff in a defamation case?

The defendant can be sued by the person about whom the defamatory statement was made, however only if he or she is alive, since dead people cannot claim that e.g. their reputation is damaged (see *Restatement (Second) of Torts*<sup>833</sup> §560), by e.g. family (a lawsuit does not end if the plaintiff who initiated the court procedure dies, since his or her successors could be authorized to continue the case), by a business (see *Restatement (Second) of Torts*<sup>834</sup> §561 and §562) or by a group or class (see *Restatement (Second) of Torts*<sup>835</sup> §564A).

The *US Government* cannot sue.<sup>837</sup> A person can be "*free*" to criticize a public official<sup>838</sup>, however, it can depend on the circumstances of the case if an individual staff member of the government can take the defendant to court for defamation.<sup>839</sup>

Since, there is a discussion in the US if a manager (and/or user) of a website (blog) should be seen as belonging to the media<sup>840</sup>, it is decided in this Master Thesis that missing persons' websites (and eventually their blogs) are not considered to belong to the media unless otherwise specified.

#### 3.1.3 The civil court procedure

There are several courts which can claim jurisdiction: The place where the defamation happened (also known as the "place of origin principle")<sup>841</sup>, the state where the person who made the defamatory statement is located, the court of the state where the harm of the defamatory statement is felt or of the state where the defamatory statement is received (nevertheless, a combination is also possible). State law is the source to find how

http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and

http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).

835 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>829</sup> Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe, The Representative on Freedom of the Media 2005, p. 171-174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>830</sup> Gardner and Anderson 2006, p. 227, Carroll 2010, p. 270 and *Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe, The Representative on Freedom of the Media 2005*, p. 171-172.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>832</sup> See e.g. Carter 2005, p. 289-318 in which the author explains why criminal libel should not be applied in the case of internet speech.

case of internet speech.

833 The *Restatement (Second) of Torts* is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g.

http://www.ibls.com/internet\_law\_news\_portal\_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>834</sup> Ibid.

<sup>836</sup> Carroll 2010, p. 270-271.

<sup>837</sup> Ibid, p. 270.

<sup>838</sup> Bank 2010, p. 215-216.

<sup>839</sup> Carroll 2010, p. 270-271.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>840</sup> See e.g. Domingo and Heinonen 2008, p. 3-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>841</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>842</sup> Ibid, Schwabach 2006, p.81 and Jerker B. Svantesson 2007, p. 156-157.

defamation cases are dealt with within a state. 843 For example, the State of Oregon expects that the plaintiff, before starting a court case, should offer the defendant the opportunity to make a retraction (see Chapter 31, Section 31.215 Oregon Revised Statutes)<sup>844-845</sup>

In the case of civil libel, to demonstrate that e.g. a manager of a website and/or its user is libellous, the plaintiff must prove the following six elements: defamation, identification, publication (even when it concerns a republication), fault, falsity and injury (see also Restatement (Second) of Torts<sup>846</sup> §558 (1977)). 847 Although, it is possible that these elements differ from state to state, they are applied more or less the same. 848

When the question arises whether a manager of a website has defamed someone, the US State Court will pay attention to the entire webpage and/or website in order to get an impression of the website's context. 849 Also, there only exists a single-publication rule. 850

The time limitation for starting a defamation case can differ from state to state (in general, for libel it is between one to three years).<sup>851</sup>

#### 3.1.4 Defences against defamation

Each manager or user of a website should try to protect him- or herself against a defamation claim. One possibility is to allow the other party to provide his or her side of the story (to react on the statement) by e.g. providing an e-mail address. 852 Another possibility could be that a manager of a website could take insurance against a defamation claim. 853

This part is divided into three sections: First, how can a manager and/or user prevent a defamation claim beforehand, second, which defences are there for a manager and/or user when confronted with such a claim and third, can a manager of a website pass a defamation claim of to the user who made the actual defamatory statement on his or her website?

#### 3.1.5 How to prevent a defamation claim?

There are two possible ways to prevent such claim, which can be used, by, both, the manager as the user.

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html and http://www.citmedialaw.org/legalguide/defamation (both 12 August 2012).

844 http://law.onecle.com/oregon/31-tort-actions/31.215.html (12 August 2012).

http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and

http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).

60

<sup>843</sup> Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 53,

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html, http://www.leg.state.or.us/ors/031.html, http://oregonintellectualproperty.com/2009/10/25/defamation-issues-for-blogs/ and http://www.osbar.org/public/legalinfo/1186\_LibelSlander.htm (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>846</sup> The Restatement (Second) of Torts is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g. http://www.ibls.com/internet\_law\_news\_portal\_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>847</sup>Carroll 2010, p. 270-271 and Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 49.

<sup>848</sup> Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 49.

<sup>849</sup> Middleton and Lee 2009, p. 106-107.

<sup>850</sup> Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487 and Warshaw 2006, p. 273. For more information see e.g. *Notes* 2010, p. 1315-

<sup>851</sup> http://www.dancingwithlawyers.com/freeinfo/defamation-statute-limitations.shtml and http://www.rexxfield.com/internet\_libel\_statute\_of\_limitations.php/ (both 12 August 2012). <sup>852</sup> Carroll 2010, p. 270.

<sup>853</sup> Bank 2010, p. 217.

First, before publishing a statement on a missing persons' website, the manager and/or user must be certain that the information provided on his or her website or comment is correct (e.g. by documenting resources beforehand such as with newspaper articles or case-law). 854 Second, the manager or user could ask the consent of the person before placing the particular statement on the website, although this is not always possible. 855

#### 3.1.6 Which defences are there to react on a defamation claim?

The following defences can be used by a manager and/or user (defendant) of a website: First, the manager and/or user can claim and prove that the statement is "substantially *true*"(e.g. by the information collected before issuing the statement). 856 Even in the event that the truthful statement harms the plaintiff's reputation, the plaintiff cannot sue the manager or user for defamation. (However, a plaintiff can still hold the manager and/or user of the statement liable because e.g. the information was shared on a personal basis). Nevertheless, although the statement is considered to be "substantial true" true, it can be regarded as defamatory due to its context according to Restatement (Second) of Torts 859 \$565 (1977). See e.g. as is the case with "libel by implication" or "implied libel". 861

Second, opinions are protected by the First Amendment of the US Constitution (see also Restatement (Second) of Torts<sup>862</sup> §566 (1977)), however, the manager and/or user of a website should be aware that merely writing the words "I think" or "in my opinion" before the statement, does not always make it an opinion (see also Restatement (second) of Torts<sup>863</sup> §566 (1977)). 864 Name-calling falls under opinion, since it is not a fact or statement and therefore it cannot be the basis of a defamatory claim. 865 Nevertheless, everything else except of the name-calling can be regarded as a defamatory statement. 866

Third, another possibility could be the "limited public figure", 867 defence, which means that if the plaintiff is known to the general public as a forefront person who is voluntarily and

```
854 Carroll 2010, p. 270 and Bank 2010, p. 213-214.
```

http://www.ibls.com/internet\_law\_news\_portal\_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,

http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and

http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).

http://www.ibls.com/internet\_law\_news\_portal\_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,

http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and

http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>855</sup> Bank 2010, p. 214.

<sup>856</sup> http://www.citmedialaw.org/legal-guide/defamation and http://www.citmedialaw.org/legal-guide/substantialtruth (both 12 August 2012).

857 http://www.citmedialaw.org/legal-guide/defamation (12 August 2012).

<sup>858</sup> Ibid and http://www.citmedialaw.org/legal-guide/substantial-truth (12 August 2012).

<sup>859</sup> The Restatement (Second) of Torts is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g.

<sup>860</sup> Warner-Fredman 1983, p. 133.

<sup>861</sup> Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 50-53, Siegel 2011, p. 85 and http://www.rcfp.org/browsemedia-law-resources/news-media-law/news-media-law-summer-2011/libel-omission-creating-false-i (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>862</sup> The Restatement (Second) of Torts is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g.

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html, http://maudnewton.com/blog/?p=3899 (both 12 August 2012), Bank 2010, p. 215 and Shuy 2010, p. 15-16. <sup>865</sup> Ibid.

<sup>866</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>867</sup> Merriam-Webster Inc. 1996, p. 296, Bank 2010, p. 217 and

publically involved in a certain subject of a public debate (in other words he or she wants that other people are aware of his or her opinion), he or she could be considered such a figure. However, it is not the defendant who can state this (he or she can only suggest and prove), as it is the court who decides. He plaintiff is regarded as a "limited public figure" the standard of proving "actual malice" on the side of the manager and/or user of the website by the plaintiff would become more difficult. He

# 3.1.6.1 Which defence against defamation can a manager of a website have in a case where he or she is accused of a defamatory statement made by a user?

A manager of a website can claim that he or she cannot be held liable in the case of defamatory statements made by a user due to *Section 230 Communications Decency Act*<sup>872</sup> or *CDA* (which is a part of the *Telecommunication Act of 1996*<sup>873</sup> or *Public Law 104-104, 110 Stat 56 [104th Cong, 2d Sess, Feb. 8, 1996]*)<sup>874</sup>.

In the case of *Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc.* <sup>876</sup>, the New York *Court of Appeals* decided on 14 June 2011 that, although a publisher of defamatory material written by a third party normally is subjected to tort liability, there is a possibility, when it concerns an internet publication (in this case a blog), to circumvent the defamation claim by applying *Section 230 CDA*. <sup>877</sup> In sum, it is established that a blog cannot be regarded as a "*content provider*" when it concerns comments which are posted by users and when it concerns the placing of a defamatory comment under a new post. <sup>878</sup> Also, in this case, the manager of the blog did not explicitly express that defamatory statements should be made about the plaintiff. <sup>879</sup>

#### 3.2 <u>US Missing persons' websites and defamation</u>

Below will be explained how a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website deal in practice with defamation cases.

#### 3.2.1 What is defamation?

In *Meuse v. Fox New Channel, Inc., and others*<sup>880</sup>, it has been clarified that locating missing children and their possible abductors are matters of public concern<sup>881</sup> and in *U.S. v. Montes-Reyes*<sup>882</sup> it was accepted that it is allowed for a private person to help law enforcement in locating a missing child.<sup>883</sup>

Defamation should be seen as a tort which is defined by state law.<sup>884</sup> When it concerns a case of civil libel the plaintiff has to prove six elements: defamation, identification, publication,

```
<sup>868</sup> Bank 2010, p. 217.
<sup>869</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 482.
<sup>870</sup> Merriam-Webster Inc. 1996, p. 296, Bank 2010, p. 217 and http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal_injury/defamation.html/ (12 August 2012).
<sup>871</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 482
<sup>872</sup> Communications Decency Act or 47 USC §230.
<sup>873</sup> Telecommunication Act of 1996 or Public Law 104-104, 110 Stat 56 [104th Cong, 2d Sess, Feb. 8, 1996].
<sup>874</sup> Communications Decency Act or 47 USC §230.
```

<sup>875</sup> Biederman, Pierson, Silfen, Glasser, Biederman, Abdo and Sanders 2007, p. 915.

<sup>876</sup> Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc.877 Ibid and Belmas and Overbeck 2012, p. 167.

<sup>878</sup> Ibid.
879 Ibid.

<sup>880</sup> Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.
881 Ibid.

U.S. v. Montes-Reyes.
 Ibid and http://www.amberalert.gov/newsroom/pressreleases/ojp\_05\_0217.htm (12 August 2012).
 Schwabach 2006, p. 80.

fault, falsity and injury (Restatement (Second) of Torts<sup>885</sup> §558 (1977)). 886 It is possible that these elements can differ (however, they are more or less the same) from state to state. 887 For example, in the case of Meuse v. Fox New Channel, Inc., and others 888 the Superior Court of Massachusetts stated that the plaintiff had to prove four conditions before he could succeed on a claim of defamation. 889 These four conditions are: "... To prevail on a claim for defamation, the plaintiff must show that: (1) the defendant made a statement concerning the plaintiff to a third party, (2) the statement could damage the plaintiff's reputation in the community, (3) the defendant was at least negligent in making the statement, and (4) the statement caused the plaintiff economic harm or is actionable without proof of

The Missouri case Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. 891 of 1 April 2003 can be used to explain what is meant with the condition of "injury" (in other words, the person claiming that he or she has been defamed has to prove any suffered damages). 892 The case concerned the distribution of missing persons' flyers. 893 In sum, after the father had abducted the child, the mother had reported the child missing to the Kansas City Missouri Police Department, had made flyers about the disappearance of her child and had accused the father and his mother of abducting the child.<sup>894</sup> One of the flyers ended up in *Children's Network display case*.<sup>895</sup> The grandmother sued Wal-Mart<sup>896</sup> for defamation and damages because there was inaccurate information on the flyer and because the flyer remained in display although the child was returned to her mother.<sup>897</sup> The jury verdict was that Wal-Mart<sup>898</sup> had published the flyer by failing to remove it from the display case and therefore awarded the grandmother damages. 899 Hereafter, Wal-Mart<sup>900</sup> went in appeal against the verdict and the judge ordered that the grandmother had to prove under Missouri law that she had suffered reputational harm. 901 The fact that the grandmother had experienced e.g. humiliation was not enough and it was decided in this case that the jury had not taken this into consideration. <sup>902</sup> Besides, Wal-Mart <sup>903</sup> also questioned the issue of damages incurred by the alleged defamation, since there were no other circumstances (e.g. loss of employment directly linked to the defamation) besides emotional distress and therefore, the Supreme Court of Missouri ordered that the trial court should be reversed and that a new trial should take place in order to let the grandmother prove that she had indeed suffered reputational harm. 904

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>885</sup> The *Restatement (Second) of Torts* is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g. http://www.ibls.com/internet\_law\_news\_portal\_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314, http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm, http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882, http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18). 886 Carroll 2010, p. 270-271 and Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 49. 887 Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 49. 888 Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others. <sup>889</sup> Ibid. <sup>890</sup> Ibid. <sup>891</sup> Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores. 892 Carroll 2010, p. 270. <sup>893</sup> Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores. <sup>894</sup> Ibid. <sup>895</sup> Ibid. 896 http://www.walmart.com/ (12 August 2012). 897 Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores. 898 http://www.walmart.com/ (12 August 2012). 899 Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores. 900 http://www.walmart.com/ (12 August 2012). 901 Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores. <sup>902</sup> Ibid. 903 http://www.walmart.com/ (12 August 2012). 904 Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores.

#### 3.2.2 Who is the plaintiff in a defamation case?

In a missing person's case, it depends on the circumstances who can be regarded as plaintiff. It can be the missing person, although he or she has to be alive (see Restatement (Second) of Torts<sup>905</sup> §560 (1977)), the (former) abductor, a left-behind person, a person who is believed to be involved in a disappearance or even a manager of another missing persons' website.

#### 3.2.3 The civil court procedure

When it concerns jurisdiction, there are several courts which could claim jurisdiction on the basis of certain conditions, e.g. the court of the place where the defamation happened and/or the state where the person who made the defamatory statement is located....<sup>906</sup> An example is e.g. the case Senese v. Hindle 907 where the plaintiff, amongst others, accused the defendant of defamatory statements on websites regarding the international parental abduction of his child and tried to convince in vain that the District Court of New York had jurisdiction. 908

#### 3.2.4 Defences against defamation

#### 3.2.4.1 How to prevent a defamation claim?

First, before publishing a statement about a missing persons' case (e.g. writing a case file or comment), the manager or user of the missing persons' website must be sure that the information provided is correct. 909 Normally, this is not a problem since the manager or user usually relies on reliable sources as e.g.  $NamUs^{910}$  or the  $NCMEC^{911}$ . This approach is beneficial because, in case of a defamation claim, the manager or user of the missing website is "protected" since he or she can point out that the information came form a source that is sponsored by the *US Justice Department*<sup>912</sup> (however, there is a disclaimer on both websites that, although they are sponsored by the *Department of Justice*<sup>913</sup>, it does, amongst others, not mean that they approve with its content)<sup>914</sup> and that he or she therefore had no reason to think that the statement published on that website could be incorrect.<sup>915</sup> Also, a missing persons' organization, such as the *Doe Network*<sup>916</sup>, can be acknowledged by the *US Justice* Department <sup>917</sup> as part of the "Responsible Volunteer Community" <sup>918</sup> <sup>919</sup> On the webpage the

http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and

http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).

<sup>906</sup>Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 10-11, Schwabach 2006, p. 81 and Jerker B. Svantesson 2007, p. 156-157. 907 *Senese v. Hindle*.

 $^{909}$  Carroll 2010, p. 270 and Bank 2010, p. 213-214.

 $<sup>^{905}</sup>$  The *Restatement (Second) of Torts* is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g. http://www.ibls.com/internet\_law\_news\_portal\_view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,

<sup>908</sup> Ibid.

<sup>910</sup> http://www.namus.gov/ (including https://www.findthemissing.org/en and https://identifyus.org/en) (all 12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

<sup>912</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>914</sup> See the disclaimer at the bottom of the page of https://www.findthemissing.org/en and http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en US/ (both 12

<sup>915</sup> See e.g. http://forthelost.wordpress.com/2012/02/25/steven-douglas-and-angelica-valenzuela-missing-sixyears/#comment-3665 (12 August 2012).

916 http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>917</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>918</sup> http://www.namus.gov/volunteer.htm (12 August 2012).

"Responsible Volunteer Community" it is explained how a person of the general public can get involved in missing persons' cases. 920

Second, the manager of the missing persons' website has to keep his or her website up-to-date. On some websites, like the  $NCMEC^{921}$  and  $NamUs^{922}$ , a manager can apply for the option to be notified if a missing child or adult has been located. 923

Third, all missing persons' websites provide for an e-mail address where the manager can be contacted. 924

Fourth, a missing persons' website can have some sort of policy to prevent defamation. For example,  $NamUs^{925}$  explains that, amongst others, it wants to be mentioned as a source when a flyer is reprinted. 926

Fifth, some missing persons' websites explain which person they consider as a "missing person" in accordance with the terms of their website. For example, the For the Lost Organization 928 has a "Glossary of Missing Person's Terms". 929

Sixth, it is explained in the § 5772 (1) Missing Children's Assistance Act<sup>930</sup> what is meant with a "Missing Child" and that this definition should be interpreted broadly. 931 Nevertheless, the definition can create confusion, since in some cases it is known where the child is located. For example, it is not uncommon in the field of international parental abduction that the abductor went "forum shopping" or succeeded in another way to receive a custody order in another country, which results in the problem that there are two court orders, namely a US court order, in which the parent is accused of abducting the child, and a foreign court order, in which the parent is acquitted from abducting the child (since in the opinion of the foreign court, the (former) abductor should be regarded as the custodial parent). 933 The Charley Project<sup>934</sup> and the For the Lost Organization<sup>935</sup> solve this problem by explaining on their website why they still regard these children as missing. 936

Seventh, a website, as e.g. the *Doe Network*<sup>937</sup>, can claim in a disclaimer that they are not responsible if the information provided on the website is not accurate or complete. 938

```
919 http://www.doenetwork.org/start.html (12 August 2012).
```

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=ncma contact, http://www.doenetwork.org/,

http://www.forthelost.org/ and http://www.charleyproject.org/ (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>920</sup> http://www.namus.gov/volunteer.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>921</sup> http://http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).
922 http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>923</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1923 and https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms of use (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalert.gov/contact.htm, https://www.findthemissing.org/en,

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=403,

http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>926</sup> https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms\_of\_use (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>927</sup> See also part: 1.1.4 Legal definitions, explanations and problems, p. 12-17.

<sup>928</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>929</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/terms.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>930</sup> Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>931</sup> Plass 2007, p. 30-31.

<sup>932</sup> Pérez-Vera 1982, p. 429 (or p. 17).

<sup>933</sup> See e.g. Lazaridis v. International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children.

http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>935</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>936</sup> http://www.charleyproject.org/faq.html and http://www.forthelost.org/faq.html (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>937</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/start.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>938</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (Click on their "Terms of Service") (12 August 2012).

#### 3.2.4.2 Which defences are there to react to a defamation claim?

It is unlikely that a plaintiff will succeed in a defamation case against the manager and/or user of a missing persons' website, if the manager and/or user relies e.g. on trustworthy sources concerning the missing person, if it removes defamatory comments...

For example, in the case *Meuse v. Fox New Channel, Inc., and others*<sup>939</sup>, a former abductor (he was acquitted by a jury of the kidnapping of his daughter) claimed, amongst others, that the flyers distributed by the *NCMEC*<sup>940</sup> should be regarded as defamation.<sup>941</sup> At the moment that the alleged defamatory statements were made, the former abductor was wanted by the *FBI*<sup>942</sup> and other law enforcement agencies for kidnapping charges and it could be proven that at the time when the flyers were circulating, the former abductor had acted unlawfully by not returning the child to her mother.<sup>943</sup> According to the *Superior Court* of Massachusetts, the later acquittal of the former abductor did not mean that the flyer of the *NCMEC*<sup>944</sup> circulating before the acquittal should be regarded defamatory.<sup>945</sup>

Nevertheless, if the manager of a missing persons' website has not updated his or her website (e.g. by deleting the flyer or stating that the case is resolved), it can happen that the manager can be accused of defamation.

# 3.2.4.3 Which defences against defamation can a manager of a website have when accused of a defamatory statement made by a user?

Of course, in the case of comments, it can happen that a manager of a missing persons' website cannot be held liable in the case of defamatory statement(s) made by a user due to *Section 230 CDA*<sup>946</sup>, but until now there is no example of this approach in practice.

#### 3.3 Missing persons' websites and foreign defamation

Defamation law differs from country to country. However, it is a fact that a plaintiff successfully suing a defendant for defamation is harder in the US than in e.g. in Europe, since in the US more attention is given to the *Freedom of Expression*. Therefore, every manager and user of a missing persons' website should be aware that it might be possible that he or she can be sued before a foreign court for defamation. For example, in the case *In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis* a plaintiff from Greece had been allowed by a *District Court* of New Jersey to serve a *Subpoena* to the *Bring Sean Home Foundation* (a foundation where, amongst others, left-behind parents can inform and support each other concerning their individual international parental abductions cases) for the reproduction of published and not published information on the *Bring Sean Home Foundation* website Nevertheless, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>939</sup> Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>941</sup> Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.

<sup>942</sup> http://www.fbi.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>943</sup> Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.

<sup>944</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>945</sup> Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.

<sup>946</sup> Communications Decency Act or 47 USC §230.

<sup>947</sup> Reed 2000, p. 224.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>948</sup> In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis.

<sup>949</sup> http://bringseanhome.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>950</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>951</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>952</sup> In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis.

Subpoena was quashed since the request was, amongst others, unreasonable. 953 However, it is not unthinkable that there will be a rise of these court cases in the future due to different reasons. For example, more use will be made of the internet to locate missing persons', to inform people about missing persons' cases... while some of these websites will not be updated, can misinform people... To illustrate which legal difficulties concerning foreign defamation a manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website can face, attention is being paid in the following parts to the defamation law of the EU. The Netherlands and England. First, the general background concerning defamation law will be provided, where after it will be examined how foreign missing persons' websites try to prevent defamation claims in practice.

#### 3.3.1 The European Union

## 3.3.1.1 <u>Defamation and the European Union</u>

Solving the problem of defamation with the help of EU legislation is known to be difficult. since there is a cross-border problem concerning the Right of Privacy and the Right of Freedom of Expression in the EU. 954 Two regulations could be used: First, when it concerns cases in which the media is accused of defamation, the *Brussels I Regulation*<sup>955</sup> applies while, second, in other cases the Rome II Regulation <sup>956</sup> is applicable. <sup>957</sup> It is questionable if managers (and/or users) of missing persons' websites (and their blogs)<sup>958</sup> should be regarded as belonging to the media<sup>959</sup> and therefore, only the *Rome II Regulation*<sup>960</sup> will be examined.

In general, the *Rome II Regulation*<sup>961</sup> provides a set of rules concerning, amongst others, the choice of which law is applicable when it concerns non-contractual obligations in both commercial as in civil matters (e.g. in cross boarder defamation cases). It should create more legal certainty and the possibility to predict the outcome of litigation. There are two important outcomes due to the *Rome II Regulation*<sup>964</sup>: First, it recognizes that the court of the EU Member-State where the wrong took place has jurisdiction and, second, it provides specialised conflict-of-law rules in some areas concerning defamation. <sup>965</sup>

Art. 3 Rome II Regulation explains that it has universal application, meaning that the law applicable could be from an EU Member-State or from a non-EU Member-State. 967 In art. 4 *Rome II Regulation* <sup>968</sup>, it is explained that the EU Member-State where the harm took place, can be considered as the location where the plaintiff can bring the defendant to court. 969

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>953</sup> Ibid.

<sup>954</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4.

<sup>955</sup> Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>956</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>957</sup> http://epceurope.eu/wp-content/themes/striking/factsheets/epc-brussels-I-and-rome-II-fact-sheet-april-2010.pdf (12 August 2012).

<sup>958</sup> See http://charleyross.wordpress.com/ and http://forthelost.wordpress.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>959</sup> See e.g. Andrews 2003, p. 63-64.

<sup>960</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>961</sup> Ibid.

 $<sup>^{962}\</sup> Warshaw\ 2006,\ p.\ 273\ and\ http://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/en//FTU\_4.12.5.pdf\ (12\ August\ 2012)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>964</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>965</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>966</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>967</sup>http://europa.eu/legislation\_summaries/justice\_freedom\_security/judicial\_cooperation\_in\_civil\_matters/11602 7\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>969</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 7

Due to art. 4 (1) Rome II Regulation 970, the future plaintiff, meaning the person who is of the opinion that he or she is defamed by the defendant, can go to court in the EU Member-State where the damages occurred, which does not have to be the EU Member-State of the future defendant. This could be disadvantageous for the future defendant, since the future plaintiff, can decide, after having studied the different defamation laws of the EU Member-States, where he or she wants to start a defamation lawsuit to obtain most damages. 971 However, if the user of a US based missing persons' website and the plaintiff both live in the same country, the law of that country will be applicable (art. 4 (2) Rome II Regulation<sup>972</sup>). Also, it can be that case that, although art. 4 (1) and (2) Rome II Regulation 973 could be used to claim jurisdiction by a court, the circumstances of the case describe that another court should have jurisdiction (art. 4 (3) Rome II Regulation 974). Nevertheless, the plaintiff and the defendant can also decide together where to start a defamation court case based on art. 14 (1) Rome II Regulation<sup>975</sup>. Art. 21 Rome II Regulation<sup>976</sup> clarifies that a defamation case can be heard in the EU Member-State that has jurisdiction if the national conditions of defamation are fulfilled. Art. 15 Rome II Regulation 977, clarifies the scope of the regulation and concerns, amongst others, the basis, the extent and the exemption from liability. The burden of proof, according to art. 22 Rome II Regulation 978, will be decided by the national law of the EU Member-State that has jurisdiction.

No mention is made concerning the term of limitation to start a defamation case.

Furthermore, the EU is trying to reduce the problem of the different treatments of defamation cases within its EU Member-States. <sup>979</sup>

According to the *Working Document on the amendment of Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations (Rome II) 2010*<sup>980</sup>, at the moment each EU Member-State is using its own private international law to solve disputes concerning violations of privacy. However, there are not a lot of defamation cases before the *ECJ*. And the cases available are about journalism and defamation and not about 'non-journalism' and defamation. 983

In Working Document on the amendment of Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations (Rome II) 2011<sup>984</sup>, solutions are given to deal with the problem concerning international private law rules and defamation cases as e.g. inserting an article concerning privacy in the Rome II Regulation<sup>985</sup>. Attention is also paid to the decisions of the European Court of Human Rights<sup>987</sup> (ECtHR) concerning the Freedom of

```
<sup>970</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.
<sup>971</sup> Overs 2002, p. 68.
<sup>972</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.
<sup>973</sup> Ibid.
<sup>974</sup> Ibid.
<sup>975</sup> Ibid.
<sup>976</sup> Ibid.
<sup>977</sup> Ibid.
<sup>978</sup> Ibid.
<sup>979</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 1-12.
<sup>981</sup> Ibid, p. 2.
<sup>982</sup> Ibid, p. 3-4.
<sup>983</sup> Ibid, p. 5.
984 Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 1-9.
<sup>985</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.
986 Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 6.
987 http://www.echr.coe.int/echr/ (12 August 2012).
```

Speech about media in the EU. <sup>988</sup> Since in the EU, on the basis of art. 6 (2) *TEU*, awareness is being given to ECtHR decisions, due to the fact that it could become a member to the *European Convention of Human Rights* (*ECHR*) <sup>989</sup> because of the new art. 59 (2) (*ECHR*) (see also the *Protocol No. 14 to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, amending the control system of the Convention* <sup>990</sup>) and because all EU Member-States are a member country of the *ECHR* <sup>991</sup>, attention will briefly be paid to the ECtHR and its approach of solving defamation cases. <sup>992</sup> The "*Freedom of Expression*" of art. 10 *ECHR* is applicable and reads:

- "1. Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers. This Article shall not prevent States from requiring the licensing of broadcasting, television or cinema enterprises.
- 2. The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society, in the interests of national security, territorial integrity or public safety, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, for the protection of the reputation or rights of others, for preventing the disclosure of information received in confidence, or for maintaining the authority and impartiality of the judiciary."

The first paragraph explains what is meant with "Freedom of Expression" and the second one explains its restrictions. It is a misunderstanding that a user who writes comments on bulletin boards and/or on websites would automatically fall under the protection of art. 10 ECHR. <sup>993</sup> When a defamation case is brought before the ECtHR, attention will be paid to, amongst others, the context in which the alleged defamatory statement was made. <sup>994</sup> The ECtHR does make a distinction between statements of fact and expression of opinion, as publishers will be asked whether they have, when it concerns possible serious defamatory statements, sufficient factual proof and in case of less seriously defamatory statements, some reasonable proof. <sup>995</sup> The ECtHR has supervisory jurisdiction and can decide if the restriction of the freedom of expression by the state was "proportionate to the legitimate aims perused" and if the national court reasoning was "relevant and sufficient". <sup>996</sup> Also, the member-countries to the ECHR do have a "margin of appreciation". <sup>997</sup> There are at the moment (till 12 August 2012) no cases pending for or decided by the ECtHR concerning missing persons' websites and defamation.

#### 3.3.1.2 Missing persons' websites and the EU

In this paragraph attention will be given how, in practice, managers of missing persons' websites supported by the EU are trying to prevent defamation.

The *Missing Children Europe* 998 website can be considered a reliable source since it represents 28 Non-Governmental Organisations, is active in Switzerland and 19 EU Member-

<sup>990</sup> Protocol No. 14 to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, amending the control system of the Convention.

 $<sup>^{988}</sup>$  Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>989</sup> ECHR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>991</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 5 and http://www.coe.int/lportal/web/coe-portal/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.coe.int/lportal/web/coe-portal/what-we-do/human-rights/eu-accession-to-the-convention (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>993</sup> Collins 2001, p. 350.

<sup>994</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>995</sup> Ibid, p. 348-349. See e.g. ECHR *Kuliś v. Poland*, paragraph 51 where the ECtHR explained that a "*value judgement*" should have a foundation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>996</sup> Collins 2001, p. 344-345.

<sup>997</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 5.

<sup>998</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

States, is supported by, amongst others, the *European Commission* 999, is more of an information website (it does not comment or issue a statement on actual cases) 1000 than involved in finding missing children and, in case of, the website provides a contact webpage 1001, 1002 Also, there is no possibility on the website for a user to make a comment and therefore, it is unlikely that *Missing Children Europe* would be involved in a defamation case due to the actions of a user. A manager and/or user of US based missing persons' website can use the information of this website without being afraid of that he or she would be accused of defamation due to the available information.

The same can be concluded for the website of the project of the European Child Alert Automated System 1003 since it is supported, amongst others, by the European Commission 1004, can be regarded as an information website (although it is explained in the disclaimer on the bottom of the page that the authors are responsible for the contents of the website and not the European Commission)<sup>1005</sup> and there is no possibility for a user to write comments.<sup>1006</sup> It has no direct contact details.

The website of *Childoscope* <sup>1007</sup> is a database containing European missing and/or sexually exploited children organisations and is supported, amongst others, by Missing Children Europe<sup>1008</sup> (which is also in charge of the database). It indicates Missing Children Europe<sup>1009</sup> as its contact address and there is no possibility for a user to write comments. 1010 For the *ICMEC*<sup>1011</sup>, conditions concerning the prevention of defamation can be found in the "Term of Use" section 1012, e.g. if a manager of a US based missing persons' website receives a notification from this organization that a child has been located, the manager is no longer allowed to distribute the flyer in which it is described that the child is missing. 1013 The organization also has a "Contact" section. 1014 Users cannot write comments on the website of the  $ICMEC^{1015}$ .

Until now, there was no defamation case brought before the  $ECJ^{1016}$  concerning any of the above mentioned EU and/or US missing persons' websites and/or its user(s).

```
999 http://ec.europa.eu/index_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).
```

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=92&Itemid=29 (12 August 2012).

1001 http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=91&Itemid=28/ (12)

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com content&view=article&id=92&Itemid=29 (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1000</sup> See e.g.

Paludi and Kelly 2010, p. 34 and http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu and

http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://ec.europa.eu/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.europeanchildalert.com/home/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1006</sup> http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1007</sup> http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

<sup>1008</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1009</sup> Ibid.

<sup>1010</sup> http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/Childoscope-brochure.pdf and

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_X1&PageId=3246/ (12 August 2012). 1013 Ibid.

 $<sup>^{1014}\</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet? LanguageCountry=en\_X1\&PageId=1729/\ (1201) and the property of the property o$ August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://europa.eu/about-eu/institutions-bodies/court-justice/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

#### 3.3.2 The Netherlands

#### 3.3.2.1 Defamation in The Netherlands

Dutch law can be used if the damage or place where the defamation occurred was in The Netherlands (art. 6 (e) and 102 *Dutch Code of Civil Procedure*)<sup>1017</sup>. Of course, the plaintiff and the defendant can also decide together that a Dutch court should have jurisdiction (art. 8 (1) *Dutch Code of Civil Procedure*).

The plaintiff would start a civil case on the basis of art. 6:162 *Dutch Civil Code*. <sup>1019</sup> He or she has to provide the evidence of loss and the extent that he suffered due to the defamatory statement. <sup>1020</sup>

If the defendant cannot convince the court that the conditions of art. 6:162 and 6:163 Dutch Civil Code are not fulfilled, he or she can claim Freedom of Speech. 1021 The judge will decide, by balancing the interests of the plaintiff and defendant, if the interest of the defendant (*Freedom of Speech*) is allowed or if he or she has to pay damages to the plaintiff because the plaintiff has been harmed in his or her reputation. <sup>1022</sup> In sum, the Dutch judge will pay attention to the context in which the defamatory statement was made, how the defamatory statement was formulated (this does not implicate that the statement should only be truthful, because the court will also consider the evidence on how the defendant came to that statement and the possible consequences of the publication for the plaintiff). 1023 It depends on the context (meaning the "proper social conduct status") if the publication on the website should be regarded as unlawful. 1024 For example, a mother accused the father of abduction, maltreatment and sexual conduct committed against their child in a blog on the internet, while she provided no evidence to backup her claims and therefore was found accountable of defamation (art. 6:162 *Dutch Civil Code*). <sup>1025</sup> Although the mother claimed that she published the information on her blog while, at the same time, paying attention to the best interest of their child, her defence was not considered as convincing by the Dutch court since the child would be confronted with these accusations for the rest of her life. 1026 Nevertheless, it is allowed that a private person can start a website claiming that a judge should have decided differently in a case and/or explain the background of a conflict, however, he or she is not allowed to defame another person (e.g. name calling...). The Dutch court will decide, based on the circumstances of the case, if name calling can be considered Freedom of Speech. 1028

<sup>1017</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/jurisdiction\_courts/jurisdiction\_courts\_net\_nl.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1018</sup> Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 627 and Pontier 2001, p. 74-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1019</sup> Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009, p.58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1020</sup> Koch (editor) 2010, p. 405. See also part: 2.3.2 The Netherlands, p. 46-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1021</sup> See e.g. Rechtbank Almelo 7 oktober 2009, *LJN* BK0004, Vick and Macpherson 1996, p. 958 and http://www.advocaten-amsterdam.nl/107/rectificatie-misleidend-publicatie-verbod-smaad-laster (12 August 2012). See also e.g. Hoge Raad 18 januari 2008, *LJN* BB3210, paragraph 3.4.1. <sup>1022</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1023</sup> Vick and Macpherson 1996, p. 958, http://www.advocaten-amsterdam.nl/107/rectificatie-misleidend-publicatie-verbod-smaad-laster and http://www.advocaten-amsterdam.nl/112/publicatie-onrechtmatig-belediging-rectificatie (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1024</sup> Brüggemeier, Colombi Ciacchi, O'Callaghan (editors) 2010, p. 220-221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1025</sup> Rechtbank Zwolle 9 maart 2011, *LJN* BT1913.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1026</sup> Ibid, paragraphs 4.6-4.9.

Voorzieningenrechter Rechtbank Arnhem 8 juli 2011, *LJN* BR3905.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1028</sup> See e.g. Rechtbank Amsterdam 15 september 2011, *LJN* BS8892 (name-calling allowed) and Voorzieningenrechter Rechtbank Arnhem 29 oktober 2010, *LJN* BO3981 (name-calling not allowed).

The plaintiff can also ask the judge that the defendant is no longer allowed to publish another statement or comment concerning the plaintiff (art.6:168 Dutch Civil Code), although the Dutch judge could refuse this possibility when the case concerns a matter of public interest. 1029

The limitation to begin a defamation case in The Netherlands is within five years that the plaintiff was aware that he had suffered damage to his reputation and knew who had caused it (see e.g. art. 3:310 (1) and (5) Dutch Civil Code). 1030

#### 3.3.2.2 <u>Missing persons' websites and The Netherlands</u>

In practice, there are different ways to prevent a defamation claim for a Dutch missing persons' website.

In the case of the Dutch website of the Government of the Netherlands (Rijksoverheid)<sup>1031</sup>, a condition concerning the prevention of defamation can be located in the "Copyright" policy in which it is explained that it is allowed that the information provided on the website may be copied (there is a "Creative Commons Zero" license 1032) by a manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website, but not in a manner that the context of the derived work is supported by the Government of the Netherlands (Rijksoverheid)<sup>1033</sup>, meaning e.g. that the copied information is used in such a way that seems that the Government of the Netherlands (Rijksoverheid) 1034 agrees with the statement while, in fact, it does not. 1035 The website of the Government of the Netherlands (Rijksoverheid) 1036 has a "Contact" section. 1037
In the "Privacy Policy" of the website of the Dutch Amber Alert 1038, it is explained that privacy information will be passed on to the police in case of fraud. 1039 It has a "Contact" section. 1040

For the Dutch missing adults' website 1041 (see the "Copyright" section) and the Dutch missing children website 1042 (see the "Over ons" section), the interested party, such as a missing person or (possible) abductor, is encouraged to contact the police concerning the (wrongful) information (portrait) published on the websites. <sup>1043</sup> Also, asking permission before publishing material by a manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website can be regarded, as is requested by the Dutch missing children website 1044, as a way to prevent defamation. 1045 On both websites it is explained how they can be reached. 1046

1035 http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/copyright (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1029</sup> Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009, p. 90-91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1030</sup> Verheij 2005, p. 18-20 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/verjaring-enonrechtmatige-daad/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1031</sup> http://www.government.nl/ and http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/copyright, http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/copyright/nederlandse-vertaling-cc0, http://www.government.nl/copyright and http://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=en (all 12 August 2012).

http://www.government.nl/ and http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1034</sup> Ibid.

http://www.government.nl/ and http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.government.nl/contact (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Privacy.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Contact.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/Opsporing/vermiste\_personen.asp (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl\_NL&PageId=832 and http://www.politie.nl/Copyright/default.asp (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl\_NL&PageId=1010/ (12 August 2012).

The website of  $Vermist^{1047}$  has a disclaimer in which it is clarified that the information from the website may not be reproduced without the permission of the  $TROS^{1048}$ . 1049

Until now, there was no defamation case brought before the Dutch court concerning any of the above mentioned Dutch and/or US missing persons' websites and/or its user(s). 1050

#### 3.3.3 England

# 3.3.3.1 Defamation in England

It does not matter under English law if the plaintiff is a resident of the country <sup>1051</sup>, however, it does matter if it concerns a non-resident living in an EU Member-State or not. <sup>1052</sup> If the plaintiff does live in an EU Member-State, EU-law (e.g. the *Rome II Regulation* <sup>1053</sup>) is applicable. <sup>1054</sup> If he or she is from outside the EU, then the English rules of jurisdiction apply. <sup>1055</sup> Nevertheless, a difference between the two is that the English Court, when it concerns a non-EU resident, can decide that another court should hear the case (also known as "*forum non conveniens*"). <sup>1056</sup> Yet, this problem can be solved if the plaintiff only wants to sue the defendant for its publication in The UK. <sup>1057</sup>

Before an English court procedure concerning defamation can be initiated, a "letter of Claim" claim" according to the Defamation Pre-Action Protocol number of the glaintiff and defendant themselves to try to solve the issue first. 1060 If the "letter of Claim" does not lead to the envisioned result in the opinion of plaintiff, he or she can start a defamation case before the English court when two conditions are fulfilled, namely: First, that he or she has a reputation in the UK and, second, that the publication of the defamation has happened in the UK (see e.g. art. 4 Rome II Regulation 1062). 1063

```
http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl_NL&PageId=832, http://www.politie.nl/Copyright/default.asp and http://www.politie.nl/Contact (all 12 August 2012).
http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).
```

http://www.tros.nl/overdetros/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=9 (12 August 2012).

In the case of the Dutch Amber Alert (http://www.amberalertnederland.nl) there was a Dutch case about defamation since a journalist of *De Telegraaf* (www.telegraaf.nl) had accused *Netpresenter B.V.* of cybersquatting concerning the Domain Name www.amberalert.nl (Rechtbank Amsterdam 30 december 2008, *LJN* BH6234). A member of the general public was accused in a television episode of the Dutch *Vermist* (http://www.vermist.nl/) of being involved of the disappearance of a woman and the man claimed that he was defamed by *Vermist* (http://www.vermist.nl/) (Rechtbank Amsterdam 25 november 2009, *LJN* BL5242). *Vermist* (http://www.vermist.nl/) was of the opinion that it just repeated the accusation of the left-behind family of the missing person and that it was not the opinion of the Dutch programme (Rechtbank Amsterdam 25 november 2009, *LJN* BL5242, paragraphs 4.2-4.3). The Dutch Court disagreed since it was not without reasonable doubt that the person was involved in the disappearance of the woman (Rechtbank Amsterdam 25 november 2009, *LJN* BL5242, paragraphs 4.2-5.4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1051</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 26-30.

<sup>1052</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1053</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1054</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 28-29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1055</sup> Ibid, p. 29-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1056</sup> Ibid and Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 769-771.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1057</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1058</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 759-761 and http://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot def/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot\_def/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1060</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 759-761.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1061</sup> Ibid and http://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot\_def/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1062</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1063</sup> Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 14 and Kunke 2005, p. 1756.

In England, defamation is tort and has to be "published", meaning accessible, to at least one other person. <sup>1064</sup> In the case of the internet, the English courts are of the opinion that the material on the internet should be considered as published, when it can be downloaded in England. <sup>1065</sup> Again, libel is applicable when it is a written statement and it always concerns *libel per se* (no need to show actual damage). <sup>1066</sup> If a statement should be regarded as being defamatory, three requirements are important: First, the defamatory statement encourages people to adapt their view about the plaintiff in a negative manner, second, this situation results in the fact that people do not want to be around the plaintiff anymore and, third, the plaintiff is exposed to being hated, ridiculed... by the general public due to that statement. <sup>1067</sup> However, when it concerns the damage of the reputation of the possible defamed person, it is about who has read the material and not about the extent of the publication. <sup>1068</sup> Name-calling alone is not a ground for a defamation claim. <sup>1069</sup>

There are several options for a defendant (a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website) to solve an English defamation claim.

To begin, the defendant can try to convince the judge ("submission of no case"), for example, that there is no defamatory statement at all and, therefore, that there is no need to start a jury court procedure. <sup>1070</sup>

Second, if the defendant is telling the truth, then there is no defamation ("Claiming of Justification"<sup>1071</sup>, which has to be done with every material fact of the statement)<sup>1072</sup>, although the defendant can still be held liable in court due to e.g. a breach of confidence. <sup>1073</sup> Third, there is the "Honest Comment" defence. <sup>1074</sup> In sum, it means that the alleged defamatory statement made by the defendant must be regarded as an honestly held opinion which was based on true facts and concerned a matter of public interest. <sup>1075</sup> Although, if the plaintiff can show that the statement was made by the defendant with malice, this defence can no longer be applied. <sup>1076</sup>

Fourth, defences against defamation claims can also be found in the *Defamation Act* of 1996, for example, in *Section 1* of the "*Responsibility for publication*" it is explained that:

- "1.—(1) In defamation proceedings a person has a defence if he shows Responsibility for that—publication.
- (a) he was not the author, editor or publisher of the statement complained of,
- (b) he took reasonable care in relation to its publication, and
- (c) he did not know, and had no reason to believe, that what he did caused or contributed to the publication of a defamatory statement."

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1064</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 3 and 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1065</sup> Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1066</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 79-80 and Kunke 2005, p. 1746.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1067</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1068</sup> Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 14-15.

http://findlaw.co.uk/law/accidents\_and\_injuries/defamation/500052.html/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1070</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 992-994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1071</sup> Kunke 2005, p. 1748, Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 7 and 843-851 and 859 and http://www.yourrights.org.uk/yourrights/right-of-free-expression/defamation/defences-to-a-claim-of-defamation.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1072</sup> Beauchamp 2006, p. 3078-3079.

Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 7 and 993.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1074</sup> It was first called the "fair comment" defence but it was changed to "Honest Comment" defence after the case Spiller v. Joseph (Jones and Benson 2011, p. 178-181, http://www.lawgazette.co.uk/news/libel-defence-broadened-reflect-internet-age and http://www.lawgazette.co.uk/in-practice/redefining-defence-fair-comment (both 12 August 2012)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1075</sup> Jones and Benson 2011, p. 178-181.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1076</sup> Ibid, p. 178-179.

Fifth, the defendant can claim that he or she is not the original author of the statement and use the "innocent dissemination" defence (e.g. a manager and/or user could have copied and published a statement from another missing persons' website on their own website not knowing that the copied statement was defamatory). <sup>1077</sup>

Sixth, it is also possible to make amends (see *Section 2 "offer to make amends*" and further *Defamation Act* of 1996). <sup>1078</sup> In this case the defendant acknowledges that he or she has published a defamatory statement about the plaintiff and wants to pay damages. <sup>1079</sup> As a remark, the *Defamation Act* of 1996 is applicable to any publication, including the publication on a website. <sup>1080</sup>

The time-limitation concerning defamation is only one year starting from the moment of publication. <sup>1081</sup>

There is a lot of discussion concerning English defamation law, since some authors are of the opinion that there is the problem of forum shopping or "*Libel Tourism*" while others do not find any evidence that this is or could become a problem in practice 1083.

There are several reasons why it is attractive to start a libel case before an English court: First, it does not matter under English law if the plaintiff is a resident of the country. <sup>1084</sup> He or she must only have a reputation in The UK<sup>1085</sup> because, according to English Common law, the *Right of Reputation* is important. <sup>1086</sup>

Second, the decision to sue for defamation before the English court is mostly given by the fact that the English courts do not request that the plaintiff has to prove that the defamatory statement is false, as under US law. The only thing the plaintiff has to do is to show that the manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website has voluntarily published a statement in which he or she defames the plaintiff and which is directly or indirectly accessible for another person. The defendant has the task to prove, for example, that the statement is true. By placing the burden on the publisher (the author of the comment), it is deemed that the publisher will think twice before he or she will place the statement online (e.g. the manager and/or user can ask him- or herself if he or she can justify the statement before publishing?). 1090

Third, if the plaintiff succeeds in his defamation claim, he can be awarded damages not only for his or her injured reputation, but also for the emotional distress he or she has suffered and the amount of these damages can be larger than in other EU Member-States. <sup>1091</sup> The plaintiff does not have to prove that he indeed has suffered damages because of the defamatory statement. <sup>1092</sup>

```
1077 Beauchamp 2006, p. 3088.
1078 Milmo, Rogers and others (editors), 2004, p. 546-556.
1079 Beauchamp 2006, p. 3088.
1080 Cauchi 2002, p. 24.
1081 http://findlaw.co.uk/law/accidents_and_injuries/defamation/500051.html (12 August 2012).
1082 See e.g. Sanchez 2011, p. 470-520 and Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487.
1083 Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 3-4 and Bennett 2010, p. 1-22.
1084 Hartley 2010, p. 26-30.
1085 Ibid.
1086 Cauchi 2002, p. 2.
1087 Hartley 2010, p. 26 and Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 415.
1088 Kunke 2005, p. 1746.
1090 Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 14.
1091 Kunke 2005, p. 1761.
```

<sup>1092</sup> Beauchamp 2006, p. 3080.

Fourth, in the US there is a single-publication rule 1093, while according to the English courts, each repetition of the defamatory statement means another libel tort. 1094

However, in practice it turns out that there are not many cross border defamation cases. 1095 Also, the UK is planning to reform its defamation law to tackle the problem of "Libel Tourism" Nevertheless, it seems that the English court procedure is more often used in procedures against citizens of the US than against citizens of the EU Member-States. 1098 Besides, it is a fact that there were already English libel judgements not recognized and enforced in the US due to lack of jurisdiction of the English court. 1099

## 3.3.3.2 Missing persons' websites and England

In this part, attention will be paid on how UK missing persons' websites try to prevent the accusation of defamation.

The UK Government clarifies in its "Crown copyright" section that it is allowed to "reuse the text information on this website provided you identify the source and state that it is Crown copyright", and, amongst other conditions, "not imply endorsement by Directgov, another government department or other public sector organisation" and "not re-use the information in a deliberately misleading way". 1102 The Pact 1103 website has a disclaimer at the end of every webpage which reads: "PACT's website is designed to provide information. This is not a legal site. PACT cannot be held responsible for any inaccuracies in the text, nor can it take any responsibility for the content on external Internet sites." 1104 The two websites discussed above do not offer the possibility to write a comment. They do have a contact section on their website. 1105

Missing People 1106 has a strict policy claiming that nothing can be copied unless with permission from *Missing People*<sup>1107</sup> and, for example, it removes any material that could be regarded as defamatory of their media platforms, their blog and website. 1108 It has a "Contact" us" section. 1109

Until now, there was no defamation case brought before the English court concerning any of the above mentioned UK and/or US missing persons' websites and/or its user(s).

```
<sup>1093</sup> Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487 and Warshaw 2006, p. 273.
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1094</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 26-30 and Kunke 2005, p. 1746-1747.

<sup>1095</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4 and 6-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1096</sup> See e.g. Sanchez 2011, p. 470-520 and Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1097</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4 and 6-10 and Levi 2011, p. 4-6.

<sup>1098</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4 and 6-10, Committee on legal affairs

<sup>(</sup>Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 3-4 and Levi 2011, p. 12-20.

1099 Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe, The Representative on Freedom of the Media 2005,

p. 170 and Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 772-774. http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/index.htm/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.direct.gov.uk/en/SiteInformation/DG\_020460/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1103</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

See e.g. at the bottom of the webpage of http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

https://www.ceop.police.uk/Contact-Us/Contact-form/ and http://www.pact-online.org/General/contact-uspact-parents-and-abducted-children-together-parental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html (both 12 August 2012).
1106 http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1108</sup> http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/terms-of-use (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/contact-us/ (12 August 2012).

# Chapter 4: Should there be fear?

## Introduction

In the previous chapters the legal background and need of missing persons' websites, the copyright issues and the defamation problems, both in theory as in practice were discussed. The purpose of this chapter will be to provide an answer as to whether a manager of a US based missing persons' website or a user should be afraid of copyright infringement or defamation claims from in and/or outside of the US. Therefore, the research questions were: "Do managers and users of US based missing-persons-websites run the risk of committing copyright infringement or defamation? If, so, what can they do to minimise possible risks?"

This chapter is divided into five paragraphs.

In the first paragraph, it will be explained that not everybody can stay anonymous on the internet. Hereafter, it will be clarified that managers and users from the US should not too easily be of the opinion that foreign judgements will not be recognised and/or enforced in the US. The third paragraph is about copyright and is divided into two sections, namely US copyright law and EU, Dutch and English copyright law. Each section contains five parts concerning copyright protected material, the rights of the copyright owner, other persons who could reproduce and make available to the public, jurisdiction and practice. The fourth paragraph is about defamation and is also divided into the same two sections. Each section examines four parts concerning the conditions of defamation, jurisdiction, prevention against a defamation claim and practice. The fifth paragraph is the end conclusion which will provide an answer to the research question.

# 4.1 The lifting of anonymity

The identification of the manager and/or user can be achieved in two ways: First, it is possible to find out who the manager and/or user is with the help of "Whois' software", (manager) or with the help of "Email Trace-Email Tracking", (user). Nevertheless, it can happen that the IP address is false or that the comment was written from a computer, for example, belonging to an internet café. 1113

Second, the plaintiff can subpoena the manager of the US based missing persons' website in order to receive the information leading to the identification of the user. <sup>1114</sup> The US court will normally investigate the legitimacy of the claim of the plaintiff and if the plaintiff could win the court case hypothetically when the requested information is provided. <sup>1115</sup> However, the plaintiff has to provide evidence that he or she tried in other ways to identify and contact the user ("showing of good faith"). <sup>1116</sup> Moreover, the US court will balance the rights of the plaintiff (to know who the user is and bring him or her to court) and the rights of the defendant (the user who wrote the comment and his or her right to stay anonymous). <sup>1117</sup> Nevertheless, there is still no uniform standard that concerns the protection of John or Jane Doe as it is still a matter which has to be decided on a court-by-court and case-by-case basis. <sup>1118</sup>

<sup>1110</sup> See e.g. http://www.ip-adress.com/whois/ (12 August 2012).
1111 See e.g. http://www.ip-adress.com/trace\_email/ (12 August 2012).
1112 Walden 2004, p. 275-287.
1113 Ibid, p. 276.
1114 Smith Ekstrand 2003, p. 415-417.
1115 Ibid, p. 421-423.
1116 Ibid, p. 423.
1117 Ibid, p. 424-425 and Barnett Lidsky 2009, p. 1373-1391.
1118 Barnett Lidsky 2009, p. 1373-1391.

For example, in the case In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis 1119, a Greek plaintiff had been allowed to serve a Subpoena, which was quashed in this case since the request was, inter alia, unreasonable, to the *Bring Sean Home Foundation*<sup>1120</sup> for, amongst others, the identification of certain members of that foundation's website. 1121

# 4.2 The recognition and/or enforcement of foreign judgements by a US Court

Copyright and defamation related issues do not only arise in the US. It is possible that a manager of a US based missing persons' website is being sued for using foreign copyright protected material on his or her US based website or that he or she is accused of libel, since it can happen, for example, that in a case file the name of a foreigner is mentioned concerning someone's disappearance. A manager and/or user should not ignore the accusation before a foreign court and expect that the foreign decision will not be recognized and/or enforced in the US due to e.g. freedom of speech issues. Therefore, in the following two parts, attention will be given to foreign judgements concerning copyright infringement and defamation.

# 4.2.1 Does the US have to recognize and/or enforce a foreign judgement?

There is no federal law which regulates how foreign judgements should be recognised and/or enforced. 1122 It depends on the law of the state and the decision of the State Court. 1123 Federal Courts are only involved when it concerns a federal question regarding this topic. 1124 Normally, a US State Court will be guided by the "principle of comity", which means that a US court will voluntarily and informally recognize the judgement of another court even if that court is located outside of the US 1125. In the US Supreme Court case Hilton v. Guyot 1126 it was decided that the justification for comity was reciprocity. 1127 However, in *Johnston v*. Compagnie Generale Transatlantique 1128 it was decided that comity had to do with the coming into existence of the foreign judgement ("persuasiveness of the foreign judgement") and with preventing that the same case would be decided before different courts ("discouraging repeated litigation of the same question"). Restatement (Third) of Foreign Relations Law of the United States 1130 §482 (1987) clarifies when a foreign judgement should not be recognized and/or enforced, for example, when the US defendant was never summoned before the foreign court. 1131

Most states have adopted the *Uniform Foreign Money Judgements Recognition Act*<sup>1132</sup> or its revision of 2005<sup>1133</sup>. Recognition and/or enforcement under this act are not possible when the

```
<sup>1119</sup> In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis.
```

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882 and

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 (all 12 August 2012).

78

http://bringseanhome.org (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1121</sup> In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1122</sup> Born 1996, p. 938.

<sup>1123</sup> http://travel.state.gov/law/judicial/judicial\_691.html/ (12 August 2012), Heiser 2010, p. 1024-1025 and Jerker B. Svantesson 2007, p. 157-159.

1124 Murr 2003, p. 341.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1125</sup> Merriam-Webster Inc. 1996, p. 85.

Hilton v. Guyot and Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 416, footnote 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1127</sup> Murr 2003, p. 341-367, p. 346-348 and 350-351 and Hulbert 2008, p. 642-643.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1128</sup> Johnston v. Compagnie Generale Transatlantique.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1129</sup> Hulbert 2008, p. 642-643.

<sup>1130</sup> http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

Jerker B. Svantesson 2007, p. 157.

<sup>1132</sup> See e.g. New York Practice Law and Rules- Article 53 (5301-5309) Recognition of Foreign Country Money Judgements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1133</sup> Heiser 2010, p. 1025.

foreign court has no personal or subject matter jurisdiction or when it did not follow due process. Besides, the US *State Court* also has discretionary grounds to refuse recognition. 1135

4.2.1.1 Foreign judgements in the case of copyright infringement or defamation

A plaintiff is not obliged to take a copyright infringement or defamation case to a US court. Nevertheless, it is more likely to occur with libel (because of "*Libel Tourism*" <sup>1136</sup>) <sup>1137</sup>, than with copyright infringement cases. In the following part two examples, one concerning copyright infringement and the other about defamation, before a US court will be provided in order to explain how a foreign judgement can be recognised and/or enforced before a US court

The case *Sarl Louis Feraud Intern. v. Viewfinder, Inc.* <sup>1138</sup> is an example of a foreign judgement on copyright infringement.

In sum, the case was about a US based website which had published photos of French plaintiffs' designs without their permission. The French plaintiffs wanted to receive the compensation which was awarded to them by the French court and therefore used the New York *Uniform Foreign Money Judgements Recognition Act* 1140. The US defendants claimed that the judgements of the French court were repugnant (i.e. that they were contrary to US public policy). The US *Court of Appeals* of New York first established that the copyright protection under the French copyright law is the same as the protection provided by the US copyright law. Also, the US defendants should have taken part in the French court proceedings (they had been properly notified), according to the US court, yet they had refused to participate. It should not be the case that news agencies (as the US defendants stated they were) could claim under the *First Amendment* of the *US Constitution* that they did not have to comply with (foreign) intellectual property rights.

In the case of libel, there are two escape routes to stop a foreign judgement from being recognized and enforced in the US: First, there is the exception of public policy<sup>1146</sup> and, second, because the recognition and/or enforcement of a foreign judgement could be in violation with the federal law *Securing the Protection of Our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Act (H.R. 2765* or 28 USCS § 4101 or SPEECH ACT)<sup>1147</sup>. To begin with the exception of public policy<sup>1148</sup>. A US citizen is or can be sued for libel before e.g. an English court.<sup>1149</sup> In that event, the US citizen can go to the US court and ask

```
<sup>1134</sup> Ibid, p. 1026-1029.
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1135</sup> Ibid, p. 1029-1032.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1136</sup> See e.g. Sanchez 2011, p. 470-520 and Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1137</sup> See part: 3.3.3 Defamation in England, p. 73-76.

<sup>1138</sup> Sarl Louis Feraud Intern. v. Viewfinder, Inc.

<sup>1139</sup> Ibid and http://www.lawupdates.com/summary/sarl\_louis\_feraud\_international\_v\_viewfinder\_inc/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1140</sup>New York Practice Law and Rules- Article 53 (5301-5309) Recognition of Foreign Country Money Judgements and Heiser 2010, p. 1025.

<sup>1141</sup> Sarl Louis Feraud Intern. v. Viewfinder, Inc and

http://www.lawupdates.com/summary/sarl\_louis\_feraud\_international\_v\_viewfinder\_inc/ (12 August 2012). 1142 Ibid.

<sup>1143</sup> Ibid.

<sup>101</sup>d. 1144 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1145</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1146</sup> Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 416.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1147</sup> Crook (editor) 2010, p. 681-684.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1148</sup> Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 416.

that court for a declaratory judgment, meaning that the US court will not enforce the foreign judgment since the foreign judgment is not in accordance with the *US Constitution* and US public policy. <sup>1150</sup> For example, in the *Bin Mahfouz* v. *Ehrenfeld* <sup>1151</sup> case, a US author was brought before an English court by a Saudi Arabian businessman, who claimed that the US author had defamed him because she had claimed in her book that he was involved in the financing of terrorism. <sup>1152</sup> During the English proceedings, in which she was ordered to pay damages to the plaintiff, she asked the *US District Court* of the Southern District of New York for a declaratory judgement, which was refused due to the lack of jurisdiction. <sup>1153</sup> Second, a US citizen might want to prevent that a foreign judgement against him or her would be recognized and/or enforced in the US. The danger of "*Libel Tourism*" is that the judgement could harm the *Right of the Freedom of Speech (US Constitution)* of the US citizen. <sup>1155</sup> Normally, US state laws regulate if and how a foreign judgement should be recognized and enforced. <sup>1156</sup> After the *Bin Mahfouz* v. *Ehrenfeld* case <sup>1157</sup>, the current US President B. Obama signed the *SPEECH ACT* <sup>1758</sup> on 10 August 2011. <sup>1159</sup> *Section 4102 Recognition of Foreign Judgements* under (*a*) *First Amendment Considerations SPEECH ACT* <sup>1760</sup> reads:

""(1) IN GENERAL- Notwithstanding any other provision of Federal or State law, a domestic court shall not recognize or enforce a foreign judgment for defamation unless the domestic court determines that-'(A) the defamation law applied in the foreign court's adjudication provided at least as much protection for freedom of speech and press in that case as would be provided by the first amendment to the Constitution of the United States and by the constitution and law of the State in which the domestic court is located; or '(B) even if the defamation law applied in the foreign court's adjudication did not provide as much protection for freedom of speech and press as the first amendment to the Constitution of the United States and the constitution and law of the State, the party opposing recognition or enforcement of that foreign judgment would have been found liable for defamation by a domestic court applying the first amendment to the Constitution of the United States and the constitution and law of the State in which the domestic court is located." In sum, the SPEECH ACT should be regarded as a federal law which prevents that foreign libel judgements against US citizens are recognized and/or enforced by US courts, when it is acknowledged that such a case would not have had the same positive outcome for the foreign plaintiff in a US court as before the foreign court. 1162 Besides, if the (foreign) plaintiff wants a foreign libel judgement to be recognized in the US, the US defendant can, if the conditions mentioned in the SPEECH ACT<sup>1163</sup> are met, ask the US court for declaratory relief, injunctions, compensation, compensatory damages and/or treble damages against the plaintiff under the SPEECH ACT 1164 1165

<sup>1149</sup> Packard 2010, p. 95-96 and Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487.

<sup>1150</sup> Ibid

<sup>1151</sup> Bin Mahfouz v. Ehrenfeld, Hartley 2010, p. 31-32 and footnote 29 and Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 414-415.

 $<sup>^{1153}</sup>$  Ehrenfeld v. Bin Mahfouz I , Ehrenfeld v. Bin Mahfouz II and Hartley 2010, p. 32 and footnote 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1154</sup> See e.g. Sanchez 2011, p. 470-520 and Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1155</sup> Crook (editor) 2010, p. 681-682, Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 414-415, Hartley 2010, p. 25 and 30-32 and http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-10940211/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1156</sup> Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 416.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1157</sup> Bin Mahfouz v. Ehrenfeld and Hartley 2010, p. 31 and footnote 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1158</sup> H.R. 2765: Securing the Protection of Our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Act or SPEECH ACT or 28 USCS § 4101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1159</sup> Crook (editor) 2010, p. 681.

<sup>1160</sup> H.R. 2765: Securing the Protection of Our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Act or SPEECH ACT or 28 USCS § 4101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1161</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1162</sup> Siegel 2011, p. 137, footnote 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1163</sup> H.R. 2765: Securing the Protection of Our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Act or SPEECH ACT or 28 USCS § 4101.

<sup>1164</sup> Ibid.

It can, carefully, be concluded that in case of a copyright infringement (if it is e.g. not contradicting the public policy of the state), the US court will more easily recognize and/or enforce the foreign decision than in the case of libel. 1166

# 4.3 Copyright law

# 4.3.1 US copyright law

# 4.3.1.1 What is copyright protected?

Is the information provided on a missing persons' website copyright protected? In order for a manager and/or user of a US based missing persons' website to receive copyright protection for his or her work, in general, the following two conditions must be met: First, the work must be fixed and second, it must be original (§101 and §102 (a) and (b) Title 17 United States Code). Its value or quality is not important. A website or a comment will be regarded a literary work as described in §102 (a) Title 17 United States Code.

# 4.3.1.2 Which rights does the copyright owner have?

If the owner is the *US Government*, it cannot claim copyright protection for its works (§105 Title 17 United States Code). 1170

It is explained in §201 (a)-(c) Title 17 United States Code who should be considered to be the copyright owner when it concerns a normal work, a work made for hire or a collective work. Sections 106-122 Title 17 United States Code clarifies which exclusive rights the copyright owner has and which limitations exist. In sum, the copyright owner has, amongst others, the right to reproduce, to make derivative works, to distribute and to show the work in public (§106 (1)-(5) Title 17 United States Code). The copyright owner can decide to transfer his or her rights of ownership voluntary or involuntary to someone else according to section 201 (d)-(e) Title 17 United States Code.

# 4.3.1.3 Who else has the right of reproduction and making available to the public except of the copyright owner?

To begin with, the US copyright owner can give permission by issuing a license to the manager of the missing persons' website to copy and make available to the public. Second, Sections 107-122 Title 17 United States Code explain which exceptions there can be, amongst others, to the right of reproduction and making available to the public by the copyright holder. The most important restriction is the "fair use" limitation which can be found in §107 Title 17 United States Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1165</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1166</sup> Jerker B. Svantesson 2007, p. 157.

Fishman 2010, p. 20-22, http://www.copyright.gov/help/faq/faq-protect.html#website and http://www.copyrightlaws.com/copyright-qs-as/9-0-copyright-permissions/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1168</sup> WIPO 2008, p. 153-154 and Fishman 2011, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1169</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 188.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1170</sup> Fishman 2010, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1171</sup> Section 106A Title 17 United States Code is about the right of the copyright holder in the case of visual art. Sections 107-122 Title 17 United States Code are the exceptions of the rights of the copyright holder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1172</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 11, 19 and 198, Suthersanen 2007, p. 59, Kim 2007, p. 187 and Fishman 2011, p. 372.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1173</sup> Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 116-136.

If a manager of a missing persons' website receives a complaint of a copyright owner that there is copyright infringement material on his or her website, e.g. in a comment, he or she should examine if the complaint is legit and, if this is the case, remove the material. 1174

## 4.3.1.4 Which court has jurisdiction?

Copyright law falls under federal law (Article I, Section I, Clause 8 US Constitution and §301 Title 17 United States Code). 1175 Therefore, a copyright infringement case must be initiated before a *Federal Court* and can be brought against anyone who knowingly or unknowingly breaches copyright law (§106-118 Title 17 United States Code). 1176 Chapter 5 (§501-513) Title 17 United States Code explains copyright infringement and its remedies in civil cases.

The term of limitation in a civil action is three years (§507 (b) Title 17 United States Code).

4.3.1.5 Are there problems concerning US missing persons' websites in practice? It can be assumed that the websites of the Amber Alert  $^{1177}$ ,  $NamUs^{1178}$ , the  $NCMEC^{1179}$ , the Doe Network 1180, the National Center for Missing Adults 1181, the For the Lost Organization 1182 and The Charley Project 1183 are copyright protected, since their work is fixed on a website and original (§101 and §102 (a) and (b) Title 17 United States Code). 1184 The Amber Alert 1185 and NamUs 1186 should be defined as US Government websites (§105 Title 17 United States Code)) and therefore their content belongs to the public domain. 118 The manager of a missing persons' website can have been granted a license by the copyright owner. The *NCMEC* permits the use of its banners, its hypertext links and flyers on websites under certain conditions ("Terms of Use for NCMEC Intellectual Property")<sup>1190</sup> or a manager, as the managers of The Charley Project<sup>1191</sup> and of the For the Lost Organization<sup>1192</sup>, can use a "Creative Common License" 1193 1194

82

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1174</sup> Stim 2010 II, p. 189 and 192.

Bouchoux 2009, p. 176, Crews 1993, p. 146 and Halpern, Nard and Port 2011, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1176</sup> Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 98, Bouchoux 2009, p. 176, Fishman 2011, p. 309 and Halpern, Nard and Port

http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.namus.gov/ (including https://www.findthemissing.org/en and https://identifyus.org/en (all 12

August 2012)).

1179 http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>1180</sup> http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

<sup>1182</sup> http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

Fishman 2010, p. 20-22.

<sup>1185</sup> http://www.amberalert.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012). The sections https://www.findthemissing.org/en and https://identifyus.org/en have another copyright policy (https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms of use and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use/ (all 12 August 2012)).

Both times the section "Legal Policies and Disclaimers" redirects to

http://www.justice.gov/legalpolicies.htm/ (12 August 2012).

Stim 2010 II, p. 11, 19 and 198 and Suthersanen 2007, p. 59 and Kim 2007, p. 187. Fishman 2011, p. 372. http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=1923 (12) August 2012).

http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1193</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 374.

The information found on the *Doe Network*<sup>1195</sup>, may be reproduced only if attention is paid to the "fair use" limitation (§107 Title 17 United States Code), according to the "terms of services" of the website. 1196

The *National Center for Missing Adults*<sup>1197</sup> provides no copyright policy, nevertheless a license could be obtained <sup>1198</sup> or the limitation of "fair use" (§107 Title 17 United States Code) could be applied. 1199

Until now, there were no copyright infringement cases brought before the US State Courts concerning any of the organizations mentioned above or its user(s). It can be assumed that the managers of missing persons' websites themselves will resolve the issue of copyright infringement. 1200

# 4.3.2 EU, Dutch and English copyright law

A manager of a US based missing persons' website can decide that he or she wants to use or copy and make it available to the public information from other sources outside of the US. Or the manager can be confronted with the fact that a user has placed material from a foreign website on his or her website which is relevant to the case, but the manager has doubts if the material might be copyright infringing material.

# 4.3.2.1 Is the information provided on a missing persons' website copyright protected?

#### **4.3.2.1.1** The EU

The EU does not define what a "work" is, but merely refers to art. 2 Berne Convention 1201 in explaining what a "literary or artistic work" should be, however, the EU itself is not a member country of it, yet its Member-States are. 1202

# 4.3.2.1.2 The Netherlands

With the help of case-law, such as *Romme/Van Dale*<sup>1203</sup>, it is clarified that a work will be copyright protected if it is original and fixed <sup>1204</sup>. The moral of a work is not important. <sup>1205</sup> Art. 10 Dutch Copyright Law clarifies which works are copyright protected.

# 4.3.2.1.3 England

In England, a work must fall under one of the categories as described in Section 1 Chapter I Part 1 1988 Act. 1206 Websites and/or comments can fall in the category literary or artistic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1194</sup> For *The Charley Project*: http://www.charleyproject.org/copyright.html and http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/2.0/ and for the For the Lost Organization: http://www.forthelost.org/ and http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/2.0/ (all 12 August 2012).

http://www.doenetwork.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/index.php (12 August 2012).

http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=ncma\_contact and http://www.copyright.gov/fls/fl102.html (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1199</sup> Fishman 2011, p. 7 and 308.

<sup>1200</sup> http://underwatch.wordpress.com/2011/05/18/where-is-dorothy-barnett-and-savannah-todd/#comment-5460 (12 August 2012).

1201 Berne Convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1202</sup> Institute for Information Law of the University of Amsterdam 2006, p. 33 and http://www.wipo.int/treaties/en/ShowResults.jsp?country\_id=ALL&start\_year=ANY&end\_year=ANY&search\_ what=C&treaty\_id=15 (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1203</sup> Hoge Raad 4 januari 1991, *LJN* ZC0104.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1204</sup> Ibid, paragraph 3.4. See also Spoor, Verkade, Visser 2005, p. 57-79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1205</sup> Spoor, Verkade, Visser 2005, p. 77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1206</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 56.

works. 1207 Before a work can obtain copyright protection, four conditions need to be completed: the work must be in a material form, it must be original, it must be connected with the UK and no public policy grounds should apply on the work (which differs with the US and The Netherlands as mentioned above). 1208

# 4.3.2.2 Which rights does the copyright owner have?

#### 4.3.2.2.1 The EU

Art. 2 and 3 *Directive* 2001/29/EC<sup>1209</sup> clarify that the author of the work has the exclusive right to, directly or indirectly, reproduce, communicate and/or make it available to the public the work or to give permission to someone else to do so. Art. 4 *Directive* 2001/29/EC<sup>1210</sup> describes that the copyright owner has the right of distribution.

#### 4.3.2.2.2 The Netherlands

The author of the work is explained in art. 1 *Dutch Copyright Law*, while art. 4-8 *Dutch Copyright Law* clarify other forms of ownership. <sup>1211</sup> The copyright owner has the right of making his or her work public, to reproduce, to distribute, to lend and to transfer his or her rights to someone else (art. 1, 2, 12, 12a and 13 *Dutch Copyright Law*).

## 4.3.2.2.3 England

Sections 16-21 Chapter II Part I *1988 Act* explains which exploitations are permitted by the copyright owner, unless someone else has received permission of the copyright owner. <sup>1212</sup> The copyright owner is allowed, amongst others, to make copies (Section 17 Chapter II Part I *1988 Act*), to issue copies of the work to the public (Section 18 Chapter II Part I *1988 Act*), to lend or rent the work (Section 18A Chapter II Part I *1988 Act*), to make the work available to the public (Section 20 Chapter II Part I *1988 Act*) and to adapt the work (Section 21 Chapter II Part I *1988 Act*) as described in Section 16 (1) Chapter II Part I *1988 Act*.

# 4.3.2.3 Who else has the right of reproduction and making available to the public except of the copyright owner?

#### 4.3.2.3.1 The EU

Art. 2 and 3 *Directive*  $2001/29/EC^{1214}$  clarify that the author of the work can decide to give permission to someone else to, directly or indirectly, reproduce, communicate and/or make it available to the public the work.

In the EU, the limitations of the right of the owner of the work can be found in art. 5 *Directive*  $2001/29/EC^{1215}$ . The limitations mentioned in this article are exhaustive and art. 5 (5) Directive  $2001/29/EC^{1216}$  contains a "three-step-test" which clarifies when reproduction could be allowed under national law. The Netherlands as The UK have not transposed this section in their national law, because they are of the opinion that art. 5 (5) Directive

<sup>1208</sup> Ibid, p. 86-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1207</sup> Ibid, p. 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1209</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1210</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1211</sup> Spoor, Verkade, Visser 2005, p. 25-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1212</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 130-131.

http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/copyright/p01\_uk\_copyright\_law/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1214</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1215</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1216</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1217</sup> Griffiths 2009, p. 3, Bernt Hugenholtz 2010, p. 341 and Koelman 2006, p. 407.

2001/29/EC<sup>1218</sup> is directed against the legislative power and not also to the judiciary power, although both sometimes use the test in their case-law in case of doubt. 1219

#### 4.3.2.3.2 The Netherlands

In the case of missing persons' websites, the limitations found in art. 15a (quotation) and 15c (paying for e.g. reproduction) *Dutch Copyright Law* can be considered important. There is no "fair use" limitation applicable in The Netherlands. 1220

### 4.3.2.3.3 England

There are two permissible ways for a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website to copy from an English copyrighted work, which are: fair dealing (Sections 29-30 Chapter III Part I 1988 Act). <sup>1221</sup>, and licensing (Section 31D Chapter III Part I 1988 Act and Section 98 Chapter VI Part I 1988 Act). <sup>1222</sup>

# 4.3.2.4 Which court has jurisdiction?

## **4.3.2.4.1** The EU

Art. 8 (1) and (2) *Rome II Regulation*<sup>1223</sup> clarify that copyright infringement is decided by the national court (the national law applicable on the copyrighted work) or before the court where the infringement took place, however, it is not possible that the plaintiff and defendant can together choose where to start a copyright infringement case (art. 8 (3) *Rome II Regulation*<sup>1224</sup>).

The EU Member-State decides which sanctions and remedies there are against copyright infringement (art. 8 *Directive 2001/29/EC*<sup>1225</sup>).

No mention is made concerning the term of limitation.

## 4.3.2.4.2 The Netherlands

If the damage or place where the copyright infringement took place was in The Netherlands the Dutch court has jurisdiction according to art. 6 (e) and 102 *Dutch Code of Civil Procedure*<sup>1226</sup>. However, the plaintiff and the defendant can also decide together that a Dutch court should decide about the case (art. 8 (1) *Dutch Code of Civil Procedure*).

A copyright infringement in a civil procedure can be started against anyone who has breached copyright law (art. 6:162 *Dutch Civil Code*). The plaintiff has to prove that: The act must be considered unlawful, the unlawful act must been committed by the defendant, the unlawful act committed by the defendant must result in damage, and, there must be causality between the damage and the unlawful act committed by the defendant. However, attention should

<sup>1225</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1218</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1219</sup> Koelman 2006, p. 407-408 and Griffiths 2009, p. 3-4.

http://kluwercopyrightblog.com/2011/03/10/in-defence-of-a-fair-use-defence/ (12 August 2012). See also Alberdingk Thijm 1998, p. 145-154 and Senftleben 2009, p. 1-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1221</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 193- 206.

<sup>1222</sup> http://www.copyrightservice.co.uk/ukcs/docs/edupack.pdf (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1223</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1224</sup> Ibid.

http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/jurisdiction\_courts/jurisdiction\_courts\_net\_nl.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1227</sup> Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 627 and Pontier 2001, p. 74-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1228</sup> Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005, p. 489-490.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1229</sup> Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009, p.58, Kottenhagen and Kottenhagen-Edzes 2007, p. 188 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/onrechtmatige-daad-en-aansprakelijkheid/ (12 August 2012).

also be paid to the relativity requirement mentioned in art. 6:163 Dutch Civil Code (the fifth condition). 1230

According to art. 3:310 (1) and (5) Dutch Civil Code, the limitation to begin a copyright infringement case is within five years that the plaintiff became aware that he had suffered damage due to the copyright infringement act and knew who had committed it. 1231

# 4.3.2.4.3 England

Since the UK is a EU-Member-State, it is obliged to follow EU law concerning jurisdiction instead of its own national law. <sup>1232</sup> Art. 8 (1) and (2) *Rome II Regulation* <sup>1233</sup> explain that copyright infringement cases can be decided by the English court if it concerns a work which is protected under English copyright law. Although, it is possible for a defendant to argue that the English court does not have jurisdiction according to Rule 11 CPR. 1234

According to Section 58 Part I Limitation Act 1980 the limitation to begin a copyright infringement case is six years.

# 4.3.2.5 Are there problems concerning missing persons' websites in practice?

#### 4.3.2.5.1 The EU

In the EU, a distinction can be made between missing adults and missing adults since, in the case of missing adults, these initiatives mostly have a political background. 1235 Therefore, the EU websites discussed will only be about missing children.

Missing Children Europe 1236, the website of the project of the European Child Alert Automated  $System^{1237}$  and  $Childoscope^{1238}$  do not have a copyright section as the website of the  $ICMEC^{1239}$  has. <sup>1240</sup> However, it can be concluded that the material on the site is copyright protected since it can be regarded as original and fixed. Permission to copy and make available to the public of the websites Missing Children Europe<sup>1242</sup> and Childoscope<sup>1243</sup> (functions under the direction of *Missing Children Europe*) <sup>1244</sup> can be asked from the manager of the website of *Missing Children Europe*<sup>1245</sup>, since it has a "*Contact*" section. <sup>1246</sup> It is unclear who the manager of the website of the project of the European Child Alert Automated

http://www.clarkslegal.com/Article/783/Determining%20Jurisdiction%20under%20English%20Law/ (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1231</sup> Verheij 2005, p. 18-20 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/verjaring-enonrechtmatige-daad/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1232</sup> http://www.herbertsmith.com/NR/rdonlyres/3F7524EE-9AB8-4B6A-9993-

<sup>285934</sup>A7EF14/1605/Regiuris.pdf and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>1234</sup> Stone 2010, p. 187-188.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1235</sup> See e.g. Missing Persons in Cyprus-Follow up.

<sup>1236</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>1240</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_X1&PageId=3246#Reprint Policy (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1241</sup> Institute for Information Law of the University of Amsterdam 2006, p. 33.

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=91&Itemid=28/ (12 August 2012).

System<sup>1247</sup> is, and therefore, in the case of copying and making available to the public, it is advisable to apply the limitations, reproduce and quoting, as described in art. 5 (3) c and d Directive  $2001/29/EC^{1248}$ .

Missing Children Europe<sup>1249</sup>, the European Child Alert Automated System<sup>1250</sup>,

Childoscope  $^{1251}$  and the  $ICMEC^{1252}$  do not offer the possibility to users to write comments, therefore they will not be sued before the  $ECJ^{1253}$  when it concerns copyright infringement committed by a user.

Until now, there was no copyright case brought before the  $ECJ^{1254}$  concerning any of the organizations mentioned above, about a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).

#### 4.3.2.5.2 The Netherlands

It can be concluded that the Dutch Missing children website<sup>1255</sup>, the Dutch *Amber Alert*<sup>1256</sup> website, the Dutch missing adults' website <sup>1257</sup> and *Vermist*<sup>1258</sup> are copyright protected because they are original and fixed.<sup>1259</sup>

Permission of the copyright owner for copying must be asked beforehand when it concerns the Dutch missing children website<sup>1260</sup>, the missing adults' website<sup>1261</sup> and *Vermist*<sup>1262</sup>. In the case of the Dutch *Amber Alert*<sup>1264</sup>, there is no copyright information (except of the use of its logo)<sup>1265</sup> concerning the information displayed on the website.

None of the above mentioned missing persons' websites offer the possibility for a user to write a comment.

Until now, there was no copyright case brought before a Dutch court concerning any of the organizations mentioned above, about a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).

# 4.3.2.5.3 England

The websites of the national missing children website <sup>1266</sup>,  $Pact^{1267}$  and  $Missing\ People^{1268}$  are literary or artistic works (Section 1 Chapter I Part 1 1988 Act) <sup>1269</sup> and are in a material form, are original, are connected with the UK and no public policy grounds applies on them and therefore it can be concluded that they should be regarded as copyright protected. <sup>1270</sup>

```
1247 http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).
```

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1248</sup> Directive 2001/29/EC.

<sup>1249</sup> http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://europa.eu/about-eu/institutions-bodies/court-justice/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>1254</sup> Ibid

<sup>1255</sup> http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/Opsporing/vermiste\_personen.asp (12 August 2012).

http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).

Hoge Raad 4 januari 1991, LJN ZC0104, paragraph 3.4. See also Spoor, Verkade, Visser 2005, p. 57-79.

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/Opsporing/vermiste\_personen.asp (12 August 2012).

<sup>1262</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.politie.nl/KLPD/default.asp, http://www.politie.nl/English/,

http://www.vermistepersonen.info/copyright/default.asp and http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=9 (all 12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Faq.aspx?lang=nl/ (12 August 2012) and at the bottom of each page.

<sup>1266</sup> http://uk.missingkids.com (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1269</sup> Bently and Sherman 2004, p. 56 and 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1270</sup> Ibid, p. 86-113.

In case of copying from the copyright protected website of *Missing People*<sup>1271</sup>, permission has to be obtained beforehand. The same can be concluded for the information provided on the website of Pact<sup>1273</sup>, since permission to reproduce and make available to the public has to be asked before placing a link to this organization. <sup>1274</sup> The national missing children website <sup>1275</sup> allows copying only when certain conditions are met. <sup>1276</sup>

The UK missing children website  $^{1277}$  and  $Pact^{1278}$  do not offer the possibility to write a comment on their website, while *Missing People*<sup>1279</sup> does offer this possibility on its blog <sup>1280</sup>. However, defamatory statements will be removed. 1281
The UK missing children website 1282, Pact 1283 and Missing People 1284 have a contact section

on their website. 1285

Until now, there was no copyright infringement case brought before an English court concerning any of the organizations mentioned above, about a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).

# 4.4 Defamation law

### 4.4.1 US defamation law

# 4.4.1.1 Which conditions must be fulfilled in a defamation case?

US defamation law is addressed at state law level. 1286 However, use is made in this field of Restatement (Second) of Torts<sup>1287</sup>. Important is Restatement (Second) of Torts<sup>1288</sup> §558, which explains that the conditions for defamation should be: defamation, identification, publication, fault, falsity and injury. 1289

# 4.4.1.2 Which court has jurisdiction?

The court of the state where the defamation happened, where the person who made the defamatory statement lives, where the harm of the defamatory statement is felt or where the defamatory statement is received (nevertheless, a combination is also possible) can claim

```
1271 http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).
```

http://www.ibls.com/internet law news portal view.aspx?s=latestnews&id=2314,

http://www.kentlaw.edu/academics/lrw/tutorials/restate.htm,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=776882,

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu/content.php?pid=103327&sid=1036651 and

http://www.lectlaw.com/files/lwr16.htm (all 12 August 2012) and Conway-Jones 2005, p. 18).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/terms-of-use (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/Get-Involved/get-involved-pact-parents-and-abducted-children-togetherparental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html (12 August 2012). http://uk.missingkids.com (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/terms/ (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.themissingblog.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/terms-of-use (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

https://www.ceop.police.uk/Contact-Us/Contact-form/, http://www.pact-online.org/General/contact-us-pactparents-and-abducted-children-together-parental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html and http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/contact-us/ (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1286</sup> See e.g. Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 50-53 and Zelezny 2011, p. 119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1287</sup> The *Restatement (Second) of Torts* is adopted by most states and courts (see e.g.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1289</sup> Conway-Jones 2005, p. 19, Carroll 2010, p. 270-271 and Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 49.

jurisdiction. 1290 However, state law should be examined on how defamation cases are dealt with within the state. 1291

4.4.1.3 <u>How can a manager and/or user defend him- or herself against a defamation claim?</u> Besides providing an e-mail address 1292 or taking insurance 1293, there are other possibilities how a manager and/or user can prevent a defamation claim.

In the case of prevention, the manager and/or user has to be sure that the statement is truthful<sup>1294</sup> and/or ask permission of the person in question before issuing the statement. <sup>1295</sup> In court, a manager and/or user can protect him or herself against liability by claiming that the statement is truthful 1296, it is an opinion 1297 or the plaintiff is a "limited public figure" 1298.

A manager of a missing persons' website can circumvent liability for defamation by explaining that the defamatory statement was made by a user (Section 230 CDA<sup>1299</sup> and see e.g. Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc. <sup>1300</sup>). <sup>1301</sup>

# 4.4.1.4 Are there problems concerning missing persons' websites in practice?

There are different possibilities of how managers of US based missing persons' websites are trying to prevent defamation claims. Some of these examples will now be provided. First, the manager and/or user should quote from a reliable source as the  $NCMEC^{1302}$  or NamUs<sup>1303</sup>, since both, amongst others, are supported by the US Justice Department<sup>1304</sup> (however, it is not responsible for, amongst others, the content on NamUs Missing Persons 1305, NamUs Unidentified Persons 1306 and the NCMEC 1307 1308. Another example of a

 $<sup>^{1290}</sup>$  Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 10-11, Schwabach 2006, p.81 and Jerker B. Svantesson 2007, p. 156-157.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1291</sup> Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009, p. 53,

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal injury/defamation.html and http://www.citmedialaw.org/legalguide/defamation (both 12 August 2012). <sup>1292</sup> Carroll 2010, p. 270.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1293</sup> Bank 2010, p. 217.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1294</sup> Carroll 2010, p. 270 and Bank 2010, p. 213-214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1295</sup> Bank 2010, p. 214.

http://www.citmedialaw.org/legal-guide/defamation (12 August 2012).

http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html, http://maudnewton.com/blog/?p=3899 (both 12 August 2012), Bank 2010, p. 215 and Shuy 2010, p. 15-16.

Merriam-Webster Inc. 1996, p. 296, http://www.expertlaw.com/library/personal\_injury/defamation.html/ (12 August 2012) and Bank 2010, p. 217.

1299 Communications Decency Act or 47 USC §230.

Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1301</sup> Biederman, Pierson, Silfen, Glasser, Biederman, Abdo and Sanders 2007, p. 915 and Belmas and Overbeck 2012, p. 167.

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12 August 2012).

<sup>1303</sup> http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1304</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1305</sup> See also https://www.findthemissing.org/en/homes/about and

https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms of use (both 12 August 2012).

See also https://identifyus.org/en/home/about and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms of use (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1308</sup> http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en US and http://www.namus.gov/ (both 12 August 2012).

reliable source is the *Doe Network*<sup>1309</sup>, which is acknowledged by the *US Justice Department*<sup>1310</sup> as part of the "*Responsible Volunteer Community*". <sup>1311</sup>. <sup>1312</sup> Second, a manager should keep his or her website up-to-date, e.g. in the case of *NamUs*<sup>1313</sup> a manager can apply for the option to be notified when a missing person is located. <sup>1314</sup> Third, a missing persons' website can explain in a policy that its users are not allowed to defame someone (see e.g. the "*Comment/post policy*". <sup>1315</sup> of the *For the Lost Organization* <sup>1316</sup>).

Fourth, apart from a comment policy, some missing persons' websites explain which person they consider as a "missing person" in accordance with the terms of their website, e.g. the For the Lost Organization has a "Glossary of Missing Person's Terms". 1318

Fifth, a manager can also decide to explain why some persons are defined as missing on his or her website as *The Charley Project*<sup>1319</sup> and the *For the Lost Organization*<sup>1320</sup> have done. Sixth, the use of a disclaimer can be encouraged as is done by the *Doe Network*<sup>1322</sup>.

Seventh, all the US based missing persons' websites mentioned in this Master Thesis provide an e-mail address where the manager can be contacted. 1323

Until now, there were some defamation cases brought before the US *State Courts* concerning a few of the organizations mentioned above or its user(s). <sup>1324</sup>

# 4.4.2 EU, Dutch and English defamation law

A US based missing persons' website can normally be visited inside as outside of the US. Since sometimes it is suspected that someone else is involved in a disappearance, it is not unthinkable that a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website can be sued for defamation by a plaintiff from The Netherlands or The UK (England). Since both countries are an EU Member-State <sup>1325</sup>, attention should be first paid to EU defamation law.

# 4.4.2.1 Which conditions must be fulfilled in a defamation case?

# **4.4.2.1.1** The EU

Art. 15 Rome II Regulation<sup>1326</sup> is about the scope of the Regulation, while art 21 Rome II Regulation<sup>1327</sup> explains that the law of the court of the EU Member-State which has jurisdiction must be used in order to determine the conditions of defamation.

```
http://www.doenetwork.org/start.html (12 August 2012).
http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.namus.gov/volunteer.htm (12 August 2012).
http://www.namus.gov/volunteer.htm (12 August 2012).
http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en_US&PageId=1923 and https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms_of_use (both 12 August 2012).
http://forthelost.wordpress.com/about/commentpost-policy/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.forthelost.org/terms.html (12 August 2012).
http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.forthelost.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.charleyproject.org/ (12 August 2012).
http://www.charleyproject.org/faq.html and http://www.forthelost.org/faq.html (both 12 August 2012).
```

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US&PageId=403, http://www.lbth.org/ncma/content.php?webid=ncma\_contact, http://www.doenetwork.org/, http://www.forthelost.org/ and http://www.charleyproject.org/ (all 12 August 2012).

90

nttp://www.cnarieyproject.org/raq.ntml and nttp://www.fortnelost.org/raq.ntml (both 12 2 http://www.doenetwork.org/start.html (12 August 2012).

http://www.amberalert.gov/contact.htm, https://www.findthemissing.org/en, http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en US&PageId=403,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1324</sup> See e.g. Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.

http://europa.eu/about-eu/countries/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1326</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1327</sup> Ibid.

#### **4.4.2.2** The Netherlands

The plaintiff would start a civil defamation case on the basis of art. 6:162 *Dutch Civil Code* and he or she has to prove four conditions and the relativity requirement of art. 6:163 *Dutch Civil Code* should be applicable. <sup>1328</sup> If so, the Dutch court can declare that the defendant is not guilty of defamation. <sup>1329</sup>

**4.4.2.3** England

A "letter of Claim" according to the Defamation Pre-Action Protocol 1331, must first be send to the defendant in order to resolve the defamation matter between the plaintiff and defendant themselves, before the plaintiff can start a defamation case. If the letter of Claim does not lead to the envisioned result according to the plaintiff, a defamation case can be started before the English Court when two conditions are fulfilled: it must be established that the plaintiff has a reputation in The UK and that the publication of the defamation has happened in there. Defamation should be seen as a tort which has to be "published", meaning accessible to at least one other person 1335, for example material on a website should be considered as published when it can be downloaded in England. Nevertheless, determined is not the fact that that the material can be downloaded, but about who has actual read the material. Defamation should be seen as libel per se. A statement is considered to be defamatory if: The defamatory statement encourages people to adapt their view about the plaintiff in a negative manner, this results in a situation that people do not want to be around the plaintiff anymore and the plaintiff is exposed to being hated, ridiculed... by the general public due to that statement.

# 4.4.2.2 Which court has jurisdiction?

#### **4.4.2.2.1** The EU

Since a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website should not be regarded as belonging to the press, the *Rome II Regulation* should be applied instead of the *Brussels I Regulation* 1341. 1342 Art. 4 (1)-(3) *Rome II Regulation* explains which court has jurisdiction,

91

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1328</sup> Koch (editor) 2010, p. 405 and Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009, p.58. See also part: 2.3.2 *The Netherlands*, p. 46-50.

Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009, p. 21 and 60-67, Kottenhagen and Kottenhagen-Edzes 2007, p. 188 and 191 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/onrechtmatige-daad-en-aansprakelijkheid/ (12 August 2012) and Hoge Raad 22 februari 2002, *LJN* AD5356 (Conclusion of Mr. L. Strikwerda), paragraph 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1330</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 759-761 and http://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot\_def/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot\_def/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1332</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 759-761.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1333</sup> Ibid and http://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/prot\_def/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1334</sup> Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 14 and Kunke 2005, p. 1756.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1335</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 3 and 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1336</sup> Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1337</sup> Ibid, p. 14-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1338</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 79-80 and Kunke 2005, p. 1746.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1339</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1340</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>1341</sup> Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001.

<sup>1342</sup> Deibert, Palfrey, Rohozinski and Zittrain (editors) 2010, p. 288, Warshaw 2006, p. 273 and http://www.europarl.europa.eu/ftu/pdf/en//FTU\_4.12.5.pdf (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

although, according to 14 (1) Rome II Regulation 1344, the plaintiff and defendant together can also decide together which court should hear the case.

No mention is made in this Regulation concerning the term of limitation.

## 4.4.2.2.2 The Netherlands

Dutch law is applicable if the damage or place where the defamation occurred was in The Netherlands 1345 or if the plaintiff and the defendant decide together that a Dutch court should hear the case ((art. 6 (e), 8 (1) and 102 Dutch Code of Civil Procedure). 1346 In The Netherlands, the limitation to begin a defamation case is within five years that the plaintiff was aware that he had suffered damage to his reputation and knew who had caused it (see e.g. art. 3:310 (1) and (5) Dutch Civil Code). 1347

### **4.4.2.2.3** England

According to English defamation law, it matters if the plaintiff is a non-resident living in an EU Member-State or not. 1348 In the first case, EU-law (e.g. the *Rome II Regulation* 1349) is applicable 1350, otherwise the English rules of jurisdiction apply. 1351

The time-limitation concerning defamation is only one year starting from the moment of publication. 1352

There is a lot of discussion concerning the problem of forum shopping or "Libel Tourism" in English defamation law<sup>1353</sup>. A libel case before an English court can be attractive since: It does not matter under English law if the plaintiff is a resident of the country since only his or her Right of Reputation in The UK is important 1354, the English court does not request that the plaintiff has to prove that the defamatory statement is false or that he has suffered damages 1355, the defendant has to prove, for example, that the statement is true 1356, by placing the burden on the publisher, it is deemed that the publisher will think twice before he or she will place the statement online 1357, if the plaintiff succeeds in his defamation claim, he can be awarded damages for his or her injured reputation and emotional distress and the amount of these damages can be larger than in other EU Member-States 1358 and, according to the English, Court, each repetition of the defamatory statement means another libel tort 1359. Nevertheless, in practice, it turns out that there are not many cross border defamation cases <sup>1360</sup>, except of court procedures against US citizens <sup>1361</sup>. However, it is possible that

http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/jurisdiction courts/jurisdiction courts net nl.htm (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1345</sup> Smith, Bird & Bird 2007, p. 627, Pontier 2001, p. 74-81 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1347</sup> Verheij 2005, p. 18-20 and http://www.aansprakelijkheid.nl/nl/overige-aansprakelijkheid/verjaring-enonrechtmatige-daad/ (12 August 2012). <sup>1348</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 26-30.

<sup>1349</sup> Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1350</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 28-29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1351</sup> Ibid, p. 29-30.

http://findlaw.co.uk/law/accidents\_and\_injuries/defamation/500051.html (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1353</sup> See e.g. Sanchez 2011, p. 470-520, Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487, Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 3-4 and Bennett 2010, p. 1-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1354</sup> Cauchi 2002, p. 2 and Hartley 2010, p. 26-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1355</sup> Beauchamp 2006, p. 3080, Kunke 2005, p. 1746, Hartley 2010, p. 26 and Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1356</sup> Kunke 2005, p. 1746.

Mullis and Scott 2010, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1358</sup> Kunke 2005, p. 1761.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1359</sup> Hartley 2010, p. 26-30 and Kunke 2005, p. 1746-1747.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1360</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4 and 6-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1361</sup> Ibid, Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 3-4 and Levi 2011, p. 12-20.

English libel judgements are not recognized and/or enforced in the US due to lack of jurisdiction of the English Court. 1362

# 4.4.2.3 How can a manager and/or user defend him- or herself against a defamation claim?

#### **4.4.2.3.1** The EU

Art. 15 (b) Rome II Regulation <sup>1363</sup> explains that the Regulation is applicable in the national law of a EU Member-State when it concerns the defences of a manager and/or user against a defamation claim of that country.

#### 4.4.2.3.2 The Netherlands

A manager and or user of a US based missing persons' website can claim that the conditions of art. 6:162 Dutch Civil Code are not fulfilled, can state that the relativity requirement of art. 6:163 Dutch Civil Code is not applicable or claim Freedom of Speech. 1364

# 4.4.2.3.3 England

There are several options for a defendant (a manager and/or user of a missing persons' website) to solve an English defamation claim: First, he or she can try to convince the judge that there is a "submission of no case" second, he or she can claim that the statement is truthful<sup>1366</sup>, third, he or she can try to make amends (see *Section 2 "offer to make amends"* and further *Defamation Act* of 1996)<sup>1367</sup>, fourth, he or she can state that he or she has not made the defamatory statement (Section 1 Defamation Act of 1996) or he or she can use the "innocent dissemination" defence 1368.

# 4.4.2.4 Are there problems concerning missing persons' websites in practice?

#### **4.4.2.4.1** The EU

Only the  $ICMEC^{1369}$  provides flyers and information of missing children, while *Missing Children Europe*<sup>1370</sup>, *Childoscope*<sup>1371</sup> and the *European Child Alert Automated System*<sup>1372</sup> should be regarded as websites only providing information concerning this topic. 1373 Since all websites mentioned are, in one way or another, supported, amongst others, by the European Commission 1374, it can be concluded that these websites could be regarded as accurate and reliable. 1375

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1362</sup> Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe, The Representative on Freedom of the Media 2005, p. 170 and Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 772-774. 1363 Regulation (EC) No 864/2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1364</sup> See e.g. Rechtbank Almelo 7 oktober 2009, *LJN* BK0004, Vick and Macpherson 1996, p. 958 and http://www.advocaten-amsterdam.nl/107/rectificatie-misleidend-publicatie-verbod-smaad-laster (12 August 2012). See also e.g. Hoge Raad 18 januari 2008, LJN BB3210, paragraph 3.4.1.

<sup>1365</sup> Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 992-994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1366</sup> Beauchamp 2006, p. 3078-3079, Kunke 2005, p. 1748, Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004, p. 7 and 843-851, 859 and 993 and http://www.yourrights.org.uk/yourrights/right-of-freeexpression/defamation/defences-to-a-claim-of-defamation.html (12 August 2012).

Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004 p. 546-556.

<sup>1368</sup> Beauchamp 2006, p. 3088.

<sup>1369</sup> http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).

See section: 3.3.1.2 Missing persons' websites and the EU, p. 69-70.

http://ec.europa.eu/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=92&Itemid=29, http://www.europeanchildalert.com/, http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/Childoscope-brochure.pdf, http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 and

*Missing Children Europe*<sup>1376</sup>, *Childoscope*<sup>1377</sup> and the *ICMEC*<sup>1378</sup> have a contact address on their website. This is however not the case for the *European Child Alert Automated System*<sup>1380</sup>.

Missing Children Europe<sup>1381</sup>, the European Child Alert Automated System<sup>1382</sup>, Childoscope<sup>1383</sup> and the  $ICMEC^{1384}$  do not offer the possibility to write comments, therefore they will not be sued before the  $ECJ^{1385}$  when it concerns defamation committed by a user. Until now, there was no defamation case brought before the  $ECJ^{1386}$  concerning any of these organizations mentioned above, about a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).

#### 4.4.2.4.2 The Netherlands

The website of the Dutch *Amber Alert*<sup>1387</sup>, the Dutch missing children website<sup>1388</sup> and the Dutch missing adults' website<sup>1389</sup> are from of supported by the *Korps Landelijke Politiediensten* (or *National Police Services Agency*)<sup>1390</sup>. The flyers and information provided on these websites should be regarded both accurate as reliable. The website of *Vermist*<sup>1392</sup> belongs to the Dutch television and radio organization *TROS*<sup>1393</sup>. Since it does not concern a law enforcement website, it is advisable to check of the person shown on this website is still missing and not already located.

All four websites mentioned above try to prevent a defamation claim. The Dutch *Amber Alert*<sup>1395</sup> explains in its "*Privacy Policy*" that privacy information will be passed on to the police in case of fraud. <sup>1396</sup> The Dutch missing adults' website <sup>1397</sup> ("*Copyright*" section) and the Dutch missing children website <sup>1398</sup> ("*Over ons*" section) ask the interested party to contact

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=52&Itemid=53/ (all 12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 and

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_X1&PageId=1729/ (all 12 August 2012).

- 1380 http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).
- http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).
- http://www.europeanchildalert.com/ (12 August 2012).
- http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).
- http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).
- http://europa.eu/about-eu/institutions-bodies/court-justice/index\_en.htm (12 August 2012).
- <sup>1386</sup> Ibid.
- 1387 http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).
- http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).
- http://www.politie.nl/Opsporing/vermiste\_personen.asp (12 August 2012).
- http://www.politie.nl/KLPD/default.asp and http://www.politie.nl/English/ (both 12 August 2012).
- http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl\_NL&PageId=1010,

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/files/press/AMBER\_Alert\_Realtime\_opsporen\_via\_ieder\_scherm.pdf, http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl and

http://www.vermistepersonen.info/copyright/default.asp (all 12 August 2012).

- 1392 http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).
- http://www.tros.nl/overdetros/ (12 August 2012).
- http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=9 (12 August 2012).
- http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Default.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).
- http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Privacy.aspx?lang=nl (12 August 2012).
- 1397 http://www.politie.nl/Opsporing/vermiste\_personen.asp (12 August 2012).
- http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu (12 August 2012).

http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/index.php?sw=2 (12 August 2012).

http://www.icmec.org/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingchildreneurope.eu/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=91&Itemid=28, http://www.childoscope.net/2009/httpdocs/Childoscope-brochure.pdf,

them in case of wrongful provide information on the websites. <sup>1399</sup> *Vermist* <sup>1400</sup> explains in its disclaimer that permission must be asked beforehand, a request also made by the Dutch missing children' website <sup>1401</sup>. <sup>1402</sup>

All websites mentioned provide contact information.  $^{1403}$ 

It is not possible to write comments on any of the Dutch missing persons' websites mentioned above.

Until now, there was no defamation case before the Dutch court concerning any of these organizations mentioned above, about a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).

## 4.4.2.4.3 England

The UK missing children website <sup>1404</sup> explains in the "*Terms and Conditions*" section that flyers of the website may not be used for defamatory purposes. <sup>1405</sup> The *Parents & Abducted Children Together* or *Pact* <sup>1406</sup> website has a disclaimer at the end of every webpage which reads. <sup>1407</sup>

The UK missing children website <sup>1408</sup> and  $Pact^{1409}$  do not offer the possibility to write a comment on their website, while  $Missing\ People^{1410}$  offers this possibility on its blog <sup>1411</sup>. However, defamatory statements will be removed.

The UK missing children website <sup>1413</sup>, *Pact* <sup>1414</sup> and *Missing People* <sup>1415</sup> have a contact section on their website. <sup>1416</sup>

Until now, there was no defamation case brought before the English court concerning any of these organizations mentioned above, about a US based missing persons' website or its user(s).

## **End conclusion**

The research questions in this Master Thesis were:

"Do managers and users of US based missing-persons-websites run the risk of committing copyright infringement or defamation? If, so, what can they do to minimise possible risks?"

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl\_NL&PageId=1010/ (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl NL&PageId=832,

http://www.politie.nl/Copyright/default.asp, http://www.politie.nl/Contact and

http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=9 (all 12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1399</sup> http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PageServlet?LanguageCountry=nl\_NL&PageId=832 and http://www.politie.nl/Copyright/default.asp (both 12 August 2012).

<sup>1400</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.nl/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet (12 August 2012).

<sup>1402</sup> http://www.vermist.nl/index.php?id=9 and

http://www.amberalertnederland.nl/Contact.aspx?lang=nl,

<sup>1404</sup> http://uk.missingkids.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/terms/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1406</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1407</sup> See e.g. at the bottom of the webpage of http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1409</sup> http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.themissingblog.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/terms-of-use (12 August 2012).

http://uk.missingkids.com/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.pact-online.org/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/ (12 August 2012).

https://www.ceop.police.uk/Contact-Us/Contact-form/, http://www.pact-online.org/General/contact-us-pact-parents-and-abducted-children-together-parental-abduction-missing-children-associate-of-icmec.html and http://www.missingpeople.org.uk/missing-people/contact-us/ (all 12 August 2012).

It has been established that missing persons' websites attracting the attention of the general public are beneficial in locating missing people, since the US Government and law enforcement cannot deal with the problem by themselves alone and because cases can be solved due to the fact that a potential witness will more easily contact a missing persons' website instead of going to the police. 1417

Nonetheless, a Google internet search on 30 July 2012 has revealed that there are 99.300.000 results concerning the topic *US missing persons' websites*. <sup>1418</sup> Therefore, if someone would want to create a new missing persons' website and be involved in locating missing people, it has to be different (original) than the other websites. Besides being original, he or she should start by deciding which sources he or she would use. Since the information provided by all sources mentioned in this master thesis are copyright protected, the manager should pay attention to their copyright protection and, for example, study their copyright policy before copying and publishing the information on his or her own website in order to prevent a copyright infringement claim. If the manager also wants to give his or her users the opportunity to write comments, he or she should check if they do not publish copyright infringing material on his or her website. In practice, there are no copyright infringement cases brought before US, Dutch, English courts or the  $ECJ^{1419}$  concerning managers and/or users of missing persons' websites. However, in case of copyright infringing material, it is more likely that it will be dealt with between the managers of the missing persons' websites themselves. 1420 Nevertheless, a US court would most likely recognize and/or enforce a foreign iudgement concerning copyright infringement. 1421

Deciding which sources to use is not only important when it concerns copyright, but also in case of defamation claims. However, although the US Justice Department sponsors NamUs <sup>1423</sup> and the NCMEC<sup>1424</sup>, it is not responsible for, amongst others, the content on NamUs Missing Persons <sup>1425</sup>, NamUs Unidentified Persons <sup>1426</sup> and the NCMEC<sup>1427</sup>, they still can be considered reliable sources, together with others, since they are considered to be the most known to the general public as valuable recourses for retrieving information concerning missing persons. 1428 In the case of defamatory comments, the manager can escape liability through Section 230 CDA. 1429 Nevertheless, it is not likely that a plaintiff will win a defamation suite against a manager of a missing persons' website, if the manager uses reliable sources, updates regularly... Except of the case Meuse v. Fox New Channel, Inc., and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1417</sup> See part: 1.1.5 Should the US Government be involved?, p. 17-21.

 $<sup>^{1418}</sup> http://www.google.be/\#hl=nl\&sa=X\&ei=AqoWULuqO5G2hAfl5oHACg\&ved=0CFwQBSgA\&q=US+missinglesed. A constant of the contraction of the contrac$ ng+persons%27+websites&spell=1&bav=on.2,or.r\_gc.r\_pw.r\_qf.&fp=9dd313392708d8d2&biw=1024&bih=43

http://europa.eu/about-eu/institutions-bodies/court-justice/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

http://underwatch.wordpress.com/2011/05/18/where-is-dorothy-barnett-and-savannah-todd/#comment-5460 (12 August 2012).

1421 See paragraph: 4.2 The recognition and/or enforcement of foreign judgements by a US court, p. 78-81.

<sup>1422</sup> http://www.justice.gov/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1423</sup> http://www.namus.gov/ (12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US (12) August 2012).

<sup>1425</sup> See also https://www.findthemissing.org/en/homes/about and

https://www.findthemissing.org/en/users/terms of use (both 12 August 2012).

See also https://identifyus.org/en/home/about and https://identifyus.org/en/home/terms\_of\_use (both 12 August 2012).

http://www.missingkids.com/missingkids/servlet/PublicHomeServlet?LanguageCountry=en\_US/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Bell 2011, p. 202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1429</sup> Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc and Belmas and Overbeck 2012, p. 167.

others<sup>1430</sup>, there were almost no other cases decided by US, Dutch, English courts or the *ECJ*<sup>1431</sup> concerning defamation and managers and/or users of missing persons' websites. Although, there exists a possibility that the amount of (foreign) defamation cases against a manager of a US based missing persons' website and/or its users will rise in the future. Especially, in international parental abduction cases when there are two court orders, the US and the foreign court order, which contradict each other. However, a US based manager or US user can prevent the recognition and/or enforcement of a foreign defamation judgment with the help of the exception of public policy<sup>1433</sup> or with the federal *SPEECH ACT*<sup>1434</sup>. A Dutch or English user of a US based missing persons' website is dependent on the outcome of the Dutch or English court procedure and cannot prevent the recognition and/or enforcement due to EU law. However, it seems that "*Libel Tourism*" is more often used in English court procedures against US citizens than against citizens of the EU Member-States 1437 and that there are not many cross border defamation cases in practice. However, it is unlikely that a Dutch or English user of a US based missing persons' website will successfully be accused of defamation if he or she can prove, for example, that the statement is true or any of the other defences provided by Dutch or English law.

To conclude, every manager and/or user should be aware of the possibility that he or she can be accused of copyright infringement and/or defamation. Nevertheless, in practice, there are not a lot of cases and often it stays only to threats of 'going to court'.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1430</sup> Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others.

<sup>1431</sup> http://europa.eu/about-eu/institutions-bodies/court-justice/index\_en.htm/ (12 August 2012).

<sup>1432</sup> See e.g. Lazaridis v. International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1433</sup> Dinse and Rösler 2011, p. 416.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1434</sup> Crook (editor) 2010, p. 681-684.

<sup>1435</sup> See paragraph: 3.3 Missing persons' websites and foreign defamation, p. 66-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1436</sup> See e.g. Sanchez 2011, p. 470-520 and Rendleman 2010, p. 467-487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1437</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4 and 6-10, Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011, p. 3-4 and Levi 2011, p. 12-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1438</sup> Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010, p. 3-4 and 6-10.

## **Literature**

#### **Books**

#### • Bank 2010

R.D. Bank, *The everything guide to writing nonfiction*, Avon: Adams Media: 2010.

#### • Bell 2011

G.L. Bell, 'Missing and Unidentified Persons: The National Crime Information Center Dental Enhancements' in C.M. Bowers (editor), *Forensic Dental Evidence: An Investigator's Handbook*, Burlington-San Diego-London: Academic Press (imprint of Elsevier Ltd.): 2011, p. 183-207.

# • Bell, Ezell and Van Roekel 2007

M.A. Bell, B. Ezell and J.L. Van Roekel, *Cybersins and Digital Good Deeds: A Book about Technology and Ethics*, Binghamton, NY: The Haworth Press, Inc.: 2007.

## • Belmas and Overbeck 2012

G. Belmas and W. Overbeck, *Major Principles of Media Law*, Boston: Wadsworth/Cengage Learning: 2012.

# • Bently and Sherman 2004

L. Bently and B. Sherman, *Intellectual Property Law*, Oxford: Oxford University Press: 2004.

# • Bernt Hugenholtz 2010

P. Bernt Hugenholtz, 'Limits, limitations and exceptions to copyright under the TRIPS Agreement', in C.M. Correa (editor), *Research Handbook on the Protection of Intellectual Property under WTO Rules: Intellectual Property in the WTO Volume I*, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited: 2010, p. 319-342.

# • Biederman, Pierson, Silfen, Glasser, Biederman, Abdo and Sanders 2007

D.E. Biederman, E.P. Pierson, M.E. Silfen, J. Glasser, C.J. Biederman, K.J. Abdo and S.D. Sanders, *Law and Business of the Entertainment Industries*, Westport: Praeger Publishers: 2007.

## • Bidgoli (editor in chief) 2004

H. Bidgoli (editor in chief), *The Internet Encyclopedia*, Volume 1, Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: 2004.

#### • Born 1996

G.B. Born, *International Civil Litigation in United States Courts*, The Hague: Kluwer Law International: 1996.

#### • Bouchoux 2009

D.E. Bouchoux, *Intellectual Property for paralegals: The Law of Trademarks, Copyrights, Patents and Trade Secrets*, Clifton Park, NY: Delmar Cengage Learning: 2009.

# • Brüggemeier, Colombi Ciacchi, O'Callaghan (editors) 2010

G. Brüggemeier, A. Colombi Ciacchi, P. O'Callaghan (editors), *Personality Rights in European Tort Law*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: 2010.

#### • Butler 2011

J.M. Butler, *Advanced Topics in Forensic DNA Typing: Methodology*, San Diego, CA: Academic Press (Imprint of Elsevier): 2011.

## • Carroll 2010

B. Carroll, Writing for digital media, New York: Routledge: 2010.

#### • Cauchi 2002

M. Cauchi, 'Defamation', in P. Alberstat, T. Cassels and E. Overs (editors), *Law and the Media*, Oxford: Focal Press: 2002, p. 3-33.

#### • Collins 2001

M. Collins, The Law of defamation and the internet, Oxford: Oxford University Press: 2001.

#### • Concannon 2008

D.M. Concannon, *Kidnapping: an investigator's guide to profiling*, Burlington: Academic Press (an imprint of Elsevier, Inc.): 2008.

# • Crews 1993

K.D. Crews, Copyright, *Fair use, and the challenge for universities: Promoting the progress of higher education*, Chicago-London: The University of Chicago Press: 1993.

# • Deibert, Palfrey, Rohozinski and Zittrain (editors) 2010

R. Deibert, J. Palfrey, R. Rohozinski and J. Zittrain (editors), *Access Controlled: The shaping of power, rights and Rule in Cyberspace*, Cambridge: MIT Press: 2010.

# • De Ruyver, Zanders, Vermeulen and Derre 2000

B. de Ruyver, P. Zanders, G. Vermeulen and G. Derre, *Internationaal verzamelen en beheren van gegevens inzake vermiste en seksueel uitgebuite minderjarigen*, Antwerpen-Apeldoorn: Maklu-uitgevers NV: 2000.

# • Fairman Cooper 2003

E. Fairman Cooper, *Missing and Exploited Children: Overview and Policy concerns*, Hauppauge (New York): Novinka Books (an imprint of Nova Science Publishers, Inc): 2003.

#### • Fishman 2011

S. Fishman, *Copyright Handbook: What Every Writer needs to know*, Berkeley, California: Nolo: 2011.

#### • Fishman 2010

S. Fishman, *The Public Domain: How to find and & use copyright-free writings, music, arts & more*, Berkeley, California: Nolo: 2010.

# • Gardner and Anderson 2006

T.J. Gardner and T.M. Anderson, "Criminal Law", Belmont: Wadsworth, Cenage Learning: 2006.

#### • Garvin (editor) 2010

P. Garvin (editor), *The United States Government Internet Directory*, Lanham (Maryland): Bernan Press: 2010.

# • Golden, Vogel, Faar & Gallagher LLP 2009

T.H. Golden, S.B. Vogel, W. Faar & Gallagher LLP, 'United States' in C.J. Glasser Jr. (editor), *International Libel and Privacy Handbook: A global reference for Journalists, Publishers, Webmasters and Lawyers*, New York: Bloomberg Press: 2009, p. 48-65.

## • Halpern, Nard and Port 2011

S.W. Halpern, C.A. Nard and K.L. Port, *Fundamentals of United States Intellectual Property Law: Copyright, Patent, Trademark*, Alphen aan den Rijn: Kluwer Law International: 2011.

# • Holliday 2003

W.T. Holliday, *Governmental Principles and Statutes on Child Pornography*, New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc: 2003.

#### • Jerker B. Svantesson 2007

D. Jerker B. Svantesson, *Private international law and the internet*, Alphen aan den Rijn: Kluwer Law International: 2007.

#### • Jones and Benson 2011

H. Jones and C. Benson, *Publishing Law*, Milton Park: Roudlege: 2011.

#### • Judge 2011

E.F. Judge, 'Crown Copyright and the Reuse of Government Information: Access and Limitations', in P. Garvin (editor), *Government Information Management in the 21st Century: International Perspectives*, Wey Court East, Union Road, Farnham, Surrey: Ashgate Publishing Limited: 2011, p. 211-222.

# • Kamerman, Phipps and Ben-Arieh (editors) 2010

S.B. Kamerman, S. Phipps and A. Ben-Arieh (editors), *From child welfare to child well-being: An international perspective on knowledge in the service of policy making*, Dordrecht-Heidelberg-London-New York: Springer: 2010.

### • Katz 2010

H. Katz, *Cold cases: famous unsolved mysteries, crimes, and disappearances in America*, Santa Barbara, CA: Greenwood (an imprint of ABC-CLIO, LLC): 2010.

### • Koch (editor) 2010

B.A. Koch (editor), *Damage caused by Genetically Modified Organisms: Comparative Survey of Redress options for harm to persons, property or the environment*, Berlin/New York: Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co. KG: 2010.

# • Lampinen, Arnal, Culbertson-Faegre and Sweeney 2010

J.M. Lampinen, J.D. Arnal, A. Culbertson-Faegre and L. Sweeney, 'Missing and Abducted Children' in J.M. Lampinen and K. Sexton-Radek (editors), *Protecting Children from Violence: Evidence based Interventions*, New York, NY: Psychology Press: 2010, p. 129-166.

#### • Maras 2012

M. Maras, *Computer forensics: Cybercriminals, Laws, and Evidence*, Sudbury, MA: Jones & Barlett Learning, LLC: 2012.

# • Meloy 2006

M.L. Meloy, Sex Offences and the Men who Commit Them: An Assessment of Sex Offenders on Probation, Boston: Northeastern University Press: 2006.

#### Merriam-Webster Inc. 1996

Merriam-Webster Inc., *Merriam-Webster's Dictionary of Law*, Philippines: Merriam-Webster Inc.: 1996.

#### • Middleton and Lee 2009

K.R. Middleton and W.E. Lee, *The Law of Public Communication*, Boston: Pearson Education, Inc: 2009.

# • Milmo, Rogers and others (editors) 2004

P. Milmo, W.V.H. Rogers and others (editors), *Gatley on Libel and Slander*, London: Sweet & Maxwell: 2004.

### Moore 2011

C. Moore, *The last place you'd look: True stories of missing people and the people who search for them*, Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.: 2011.

### • Murr 2003

G.G. Murr, 'Enforcing and Resisting Judgements' in D.J. Levy (editor), *International Litigation: Defending and Suing Foreign Parties in U.S. Federal Courts*, North Lake Short Drive, Chicago: American Bar Associations: 2003, p. 341-366.

## • National Research Council of the National Academies 2009

National Research Council of the National Academies, *Strengthening forensic science in the United States: a path forward*, Washington D.C.: The National Academies Press: 2009.

#### Newton 2004

M. Newton, *The Encyclopedia of High-Tech Crime and Crime-fighting: From airport security to the ZYX Computer Virus*, New York, NY: Checkmark Books (an imprint of Facts on File, Inc.): 2004.

#### • Newton 2009

M. Newton, *The Encyclopedia of Unsolved Crimes*, New York, NY: Infobase Publishing: 2009.

#### • Nieto and Schmitt 2005

A. Nieto and J.F. Schmitt, *A Student's Guide to Mass Communication Law*, Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.: 2005.

#### O'Brien and French 2008

S. O'Brien and J.L. French, *Criminal Investigations: Child Abduction and Kidnapping*, New York: Chelsea House (an imprint of Infobase Publishing): 2008.

#### Overs 2002

E. Overs, 'New Media' in T. Crone and P. Alberstat, T. Cassels & E. Overs (editors), *Law and the Media*, Oxford-Woburn: Focal Press: 2002, p. 65-80.

#### • Packard 2010

A. Packard, Digital Media Law, Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell: 2010.

# • Palmiotto 2004

M.J. Palmiotto, *Criminal investigation*, Lanham, MD: University Press of America, Inc.: 2004.

## • Paludi and Kelly 2010

M.A. Paludi and K.L. Kelly, 'Missing children: Abducted and Runaway Youth', in Paludi and F.L. Denmark (editors), *Victims of sexual assault and abuse: Resources and Responses for individuals and families*, Santa Barbara: Praeger, ABC-CLIO,LLC: 2010, p. 29-58.

#### • Pontier 2001

J.A. Pontier, *Onrechtmatige daad*, Praktijkreeks IPR, deel 16, Deventer: Kluwer: 2001.

#### Reed 2000

C. Reed, Internet Law: Text and Materials, Butterworths: London-Edinburgh-Dublin: 2000.

#### Sadler 2005

R.L. Sadler, *Electronic Media Law*, Thousands Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.: 2005.

#### • Schwabach 2006

A. Schwabach, *Internet and the law: Technology, Society, and Compromises*, Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO, Inc.: 2006.

### Schroevers and Doğan 2004

S. Schroevers and A. Doğan, *C*©*pyright: Auteursrechtelijke aspecten in de praktijk*, Deventer: Kluwer: 2004.

## • Shuy 2010

R. W. Shuy, *The language of defamation cases*, New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.: 2010.

# • Siegel 2011

P. Siegel, *Communication Law in America*, Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.: 2011.

## • Smith, Bird & Bird 2007

G.J.H. Smith, Bird & Bird, Internet Law and Regulation, London: Sweet & Maxwell: 2007.

#### • Spier, Hartlief, van Maanen and Vriesendorp 2009

J. Spier, T. Hartlief, G.E. van Maanen and R.D. Vriesendorp, *Verbintenissen uit de wet en schadevergoeding*, Deventer: Kluwer: 2009.

#### Spoor, Verkade and Visser 2005

J.H. Spoor, D.W.F. Verkade and D.J.G. Visser, *Auteursrecht: Auteursrecht, naburige rechten en databankrecht*, Deventer: Kluwer: 2005.

## • Stim 2010 I

R. Stim, *Patent, Copyright & Trademark: An Intellectual Property Desk Reference*, Berkeley, California: NOLO: 2010.

#### • Stim 2010 II

R. Stim, *Getting Permission: How to license & Clear Copyrighted Materials Online & Off*, Berkeley, California: NOLO: 2010.

#### Stone 2010

P. Stone, *EU Private International Law*, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited: 2010.

#### Tedisco and Paludi 1996

J. N. Tedisco and M.A. Paludi, *Missing Children: A psychological approach to understanding the causes and consequences of stranger and non-stranger abduction of children*, Albany, NY: State University of New York Press: 1996.

#### Thomas Milhorn 2007

H. Thomas Milhorn, *Cybercrime: How to avoid becoming a victim*, Boca Raton, FL: Universal Publishers: 2007.

# • Verheij 2005

A.J. Verheij, *Onrechtmatige daad*, (serie monografieën Privaatrecht, deel 4) Deventer: Kluwer: 2005.

### • Watnik 2003

W. Watnik, *Child custody made simple: Understanding the laws of child custody and child support*, Claremont (CA): Single Parent Press: 2003.

#### WIPO 2008

WIPO, *Introduction to Intellectual Property Theory and Practice*, Austin-Boston-Chicago-New York- The Netherlands: Wolters Kluwer Law & Business: 2008.

# • Wolbert Burgess, Regehr and Roberts 2010

A. Wolbert Burgess, C. Regehr and A.R. Roberts, *Victimology: Theories and Applications*, Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett Publishers, LLC: 2010.

#### Woodson 2002

M. Woodson, *Child Abduction: How to protect your children*, Lincoln: Writers Club Press (an imprint of iUniverse, Inc.): 2002.

# • Zelezny 2011

J.D. Zelezny, *Communications Law: Liberties, restraints, and the modern media*, Boston: Wadsworth Cengage Learning: 2011.

#### Case-law

**Dutch Case-law** 

Rechtbank

Rechtbank Breda 30 mei 2012, LJN BW7204

Rechtbank Amsterdam 15 september 2011, LJN BS8892

Rechtbank Dordrecht 20 juli 2011, LJN BR2517

Rechtbank Zwolle 9 maart 2011, LJN BT1913

Rechtbank Amsterdam 25 november 2009, LJN BL5242

Rechtbank Almelo 7 oktober 2009, LJN BK0004

Rechtbank Amsterdam 30 december 2008, LJN BH6234

Rechtbank Amsterdam 14 december 2006, LJN AZ4480

# Hoge Raad

Hoge Raad 18 januari 2008, LJN BB3210

Hoge Raad 22 februari 2002, LJN AD5356

Hoge Raad 4 januari 1991, LJN ZC0104

## Voorzieningenrechter

Voorzieningenrechter Rechtbank Arnhem 8 juli 2011, *LJN* BR3905

Voorzieningenrechter Rechtbank Arnhem 29 oktober 2010, LJN BO3981

# ECtHR Case-law

#### • ECHR Kuliś v. Poland

ECHR Kuliś v. Poland (Application no. 15601/02), Judgement of 18 March 2008.

## ECJ Case-law

#### • C-240/07

ECJ 20 January 2009, C-240/07, *European Court Reports 2009*, p. I-00263 (an electronic version of the judgement can be found on: http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:62007J0240:EN:HTML (12 August 2012)).

# UK Case-law

# • Bin Mahfouz v. Ehrenfeld

*Bin Mahfouz* v. *Ehrenfeld*, [2005] EWHC 1156 (QB) (03 May 2005) (an electronic version can be found on: http://high-court-justice.vlex.co.uk/vid/hq04x01988-52914632/ (12 August 2012)).

## • Spiller v. Joseph

*Spiller v. Joseph*, [2010] UKSC 53 (01 December 2010) (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.supremecourt.gov.uk/docs/UKSC\_2009\_0210\_Judgment.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# US Case-law

## • Ehrenfeld v. Bin Mahfouz I

*Ehrenfeld v. Bin Mahfouz* 518 F.3.d 102 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2008) (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.leagle.com/xmlResult.aspx?xmldoc=2008620518F3d102\_1620.xml (12 August 2012)).

#### • Ehrenfeld v. Bin Mahfouz II

*Ehrenfeld* v. *Bin Mahfouz* 9 N.Y. 3d 501 (N.Y. App. 2007) (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.leagle.com/xmlResult.aspx?xmldoc=20075109NY3d501\_1466.xml (12 August 2012)).

#### • Hilton v. Guyot

*Hilton v. Guyot* 159 U.S. 113 (1895) (United States Supreme Court of 3 June 1895) (an electronic version can be found on: http://supreme.justia.com/us/159/113/ (12 August 2012)).

# • In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis

*In re Application of Emmanuel Lazaridis*, F.Supp. 2d, Civil Action No. 10-29 (FLW) (United States District Court of New Jersey of 1 September 2011) (an electronic version can be found on: http://law.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/new-jersey/njdce/3:2010mc00029/240228/16 (12 August 2012)).

# • Johnston v. Compagnie Generale Transatlantique.

Johnston v. Compagnie Generale Transatlantique., 242 N.Y. 381, 152 N.E. 121 (1926).

# • Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

*Kenney v. Wal-Mart Stores*, Inc. 100 S.W.3d 809, 814 (Mo. Banc. 2003) (Supreme Court of Missouri 1 April 2003) (an electronic version can be found on:

http://caselaw.findlaw.com/mo-supreme-court/1353193.html (12 August 2012)).

# • Lazaridis v. International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children

Lazaridis v. International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children, 760 F.Supp.2d 109 (D.D.C., January 20, 2011) (Memorandum Opinion and Order) (an electronic version can be found on: http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2010mc00353/142412/14/ (12 August 2012)). (12 August 2012)).

# • Madden v. National Center for Missing and Exploited Children

*Madden v. National Center for Missing and Exploited Children*, 182 F.3d 913 1999 WL 422950 (C.A.5 (Tex.)) (unpublished opinion) (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ca5.uscourts.gov/opinions%5Cunpub%5C98/98-20416.0.wpd.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Madeleine Gleason, et al v. Janice Smolinski, et al

Madeleine Gleason, et al v. Janice Smolinski, et al, 2009 WL 2506607 (Conn.Super. CT July 20, 2009) (Unpublished Opinion).

# • Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others

*Meuse v. Fox News Channel, Inc., and others*, Not Reported in N.E.2d, 2008 WL 2228865 (Mass.Super) (Superior Court of Massachusetts of 11 April 2008).

# • Sarl Louis Feraud Intern. v. Viewfinder, Inc.

*Sarl Louis Feraud Intern. v. Viewfinder*, Inc., 489 F.3d 474,481 (2d Cir. 2007) (an electronic version can be found on: http://caselaw.findlaw.com/us-2nd-circuit/1081655.html/ (12 August 2012)).

#### • Sense V. Hindle

Senese V. Hindle, NO. 11-CV-0072 (RJD), 2011 WL 4536955 (E.D.N.Y., Sep. 09, 2011).

## • Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc.

*Shiamili v. Real Estate Group of N.Y., Inc.*, No. 105, 2011 WL 2313818 (N.Y. June 14, 2011) (an electronic version can be found on: http://caselaw.findlaw.com/ny-court-of-appeals/1570580.html (12 August 2012)).

### • US v. Haggard

*US v. Haggard*, 41 F.3d 1320 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994) (an electronic version can be found on: http://bulk.resource.org/courts.gov/c/F3/41/41.F3d.1320.93-10559.html/ (12 August 2012)).

# • U.S. v. Montes-Reyes

*U.S. v. Montes-Reyes*, 547 F.Supp.2d 281 (S.D. New York April 14, 2008) (an electronic version can be found on: http://lawyersusaonline.com/wp-files/pdfs/reyes9939545.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Vikon International, Inc. v. Sensorlogic, Inc

*Vikon International, Inc. v. Sensorlogic, Inc*, 2009 WL 2474669 (N.D. Tex. August 12, 2009) (Memorandum Opinion and Order), (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCOURTS-txnd-3\_08-cv-01942/pdf/USCOURTS-txnd-3\_08-cv-01942-0.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Wojcik v. Wojcik

Wojcik v. Wojcik, 959 F.Supp. 413 (E.D. Mich. 1997) (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.hcch.net/incadat/fullcase/0105.htm (12 August 2012)).

# Internet (12 August 2012)

https://accounts.google.com https://docs.google.com https://identifyus.org

http://207.58.181.246

http://abcnews.go.com http://alerts.gbi.georgia.gov http://assembly.state.ny.us http://assets.opencrs.com http://blackandmissing.org http://blogs.findlaw.com http://bringseanhome.org http://bulk.resource.org http://caselaw.findlaw.com http://ceop.police.uk

http://charleyross.wordpress.com http://charlotte.news14.com http://cocatalog.loc.gov http://codeamber.org http://conventions.coe.int http://copyright.cornell.edu http://copyright.uslegal.com http://creativecommons.nl http://creativecommons.org http://definitions.uslegal.com http://digitalcommons.lmu.edu

http://digitalcommons.law.scu.edu

http://docs.justia.com http://doenetwork.org http://ec.europa.eu http://epceurope.eu http://eur-lex.europa.eu

http://europa.eu http://findlaw.co.uk

http://fordhamlawreview.org http://forthelost.wordpress.com http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov http://gr.missingkids.com

http://hawaii.gov

http://high-court-justice.vlex.co.uk

http://hcch.e-vision.nl http://jclass.umd.edu http://judiciary.house.gov http://kohl.senate.gov

http://kluwercopyrightblog.com

http://law.justia.com http://law.onecle.com http://law.unh.edu http://law.wlu.edu

http://lawyersusaonline.com

http://lbth.org

http://libguides.law.harvard.edu http://manchin.senate.gov http://maudnewton.com http://nationalsilveralert.org http://news.bbc.co.uk

http://oregonintellectualproperty.com

http://papers.ssrn.com http://safety.amw.com http://silveralertbill.com

http://ssrn.com

http://supreme.justia.com http://transition.fcc.gov http://travel.state.gov http://uk.missingkids.com

http://underwatch.wordpress.com

http://us.cnn.com http://vivo.cornell.edu http://vrc.poe.house.gov http://whois.domaintools.com http://wiki.creativecommons.org

www.ca5.uscourts.gov

www.aansprakelijkheid.nl www.alerte-enlevement.gouv.fr

www.ali.org

www.advocaten-amsterdam.nl

www.amberalert.gov www.amberalert.nl

www.amberalertnederland.nl www.amberillinois.org www.amber-net.org www.amw.com www.asp.arkansas.gov www.barcouncil.org.uk

www.bbc.co.uk

www.blackandmissinginc.com

www.brooklaw.edu www.capitaltonight.com www.ceop.police.uk www.change.org www.charleyproject.org

www.cherryandcake.eu www.childfindofamerica.org

www.childoscope.net www.citmedialaw.org www.clarkslegal.com

www.coe.int

www.copyright.gov www.copyrightlaws.com www.copyrightservice.co.uk www.creativecommons.org.uk www.criminaljusticeuniversity.net

www.ctpost.com

www.dancingwithlawyers.com

www.direct.gov.uk
www.doenetwork.org
www.echr.coe.int
www.ehow.com
www.eucopyright.org
www.europarl.europa.eu
www.europeanchildalert.com

www.expertlaw.com www.facebook.com

www.fas.org www.fbi.gov

www.findthemissing.org www.forthelost.org

www.gnu.org www.google.be www.google.com www.gpo.gov www.government.nl www.govtrack.us

www.harvardlawreview.org

www.hcch.net

www.herbertsmith.com www.homeoffice.gov.uk www.hotline116000.eu

www.house.gov www.ibls.com www.icmec.org www.interpol.int www.ip-adress.com

www.ivir.nl
www.justice.gov
www.justice.gov.uk
www.kentlaw.edu
www.law.cornell.edu
www.law.emory.edu
www.lawgazette.co.uk
www.lawupdates.com
www.law.upenn.edu

www.lbth.org
www.leagle.com
www.lectlaw.com
www.legislation.gov.uk
www.leg.state.or.us
www.library.cornell.edu

www.library.cornell.ed www.linkedin.com www.lse.ac.uk www.mass.gov

www.missingchildreneurope.eu

www.missingkids.com www.missingkids.nl

www.missingpeople.org.uk

www.myspace.com www.nampn.org www.namus.gov

www.nationalarchives.gov.uk

www.ncjrs.gov www.nhregister.com www.nolo.com

www.npia.police.uk www.nysenate.gov

www.nytimes.com

www.ojjdp.gov

www.ojp.usdoj.gov

www.opsi.gov.uk

www.osbar.org

www.osce.org

www.pact-online.org

www.parliament.uk

www.phoenixnewtimes.com

www.politie.nl www.rexxfield.com www.rcfp.org www.rijksoverheid.nl

www.rijksoverheid. www.soca.gov.uk www.senate.gov

www.stopfamilyabductionsnow.org

www.supportmce.eu www.supremecourt.gov.uk

www.teamhope.org www.telegraaf.nl

www.themissingblog.com www.theregister.co.uk

www.tros.nl www.usa.gov www.usatoday.com www.ux1.eiu.edu www.vermist.nl

www.vermistepersonen.info www.washingtonpost.com

www.walmart.com www.wipo.int

www.yourrights.org.uk

#### Law

#### • Berne Convention

Berne Convention for the protection of literary and artistic works, (an electronic version can be found on:

http://www.wipo.int/export/sites/www/treaties/en/ip/berne/pdf/trtdocs\_wo001.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

#### • Commission Decision 2011

Commission Decision of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission Documents (Official Journal L330 of 14.12.2011, p. 39-42 (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2011:330:0039:0042:EN:PDF (12 August 2012)).

# Communications Decency Act or 47 USC §230

Communications Decency Act or 47 USC §230 (an electronic version can be found on: http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-

bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname=104\_cong\_public\_laws&docid=f:publ104.104.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

### • Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001

Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001 of 22 December 2000 on Jurisdiction and the Recognition and enforcement of judgements in Civil and Commercial Matters, (Official Journal L 012 of 16.1.2001, p. 001-0023) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2001:012:0001:0023:en:PDF (12 August 2012)).

### • Directive 2009/24/EC

Directive 2009/24/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of 23 April 2009 on the legal protection of computer programs (codified version) (Official Journal L111 of 5.5.2009, p. 16-22) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:111:0016:0022:EN:PDF (12

# • Directive 2006/116/EC

August 2012)).

Directive 2006/116/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2006 on the term of protection of copyright and certain related rights (codified version) (Official Journal, L 372/12 of 27.12.2006, p. 12-18) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2006:372:0012:0018:EN:PDF (12 August 2012)).

#### • Directive 2004/48/EC

Directive 2004/48/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the enforcement of intellectual property rights (Official Journal L157/45 of 29.04.2004, p.45-86) (electronic version can be found on: http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2004:157:0045:0086:EN:PDF (12 August 2012)) corrected by the Corrigendum to Directive 2004/48/EC (Official Journal L195/16 of 2.6.2004, p. 0016-0025) (Electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2004:195:0016:0025:en:PDF (12 August 2012)).

#### • Directive 2001/29/EC

Directive 2001/29/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 May 2001 on the harmonisation of certain aspects of copyright and related rights in the information society (Official Journal L167 of 22.06.2001, p. 0010-0019) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32001L0029:EN:pdf (12 August 2012)).

#### ECHR

European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and its Protocols (4 November 1950, 213 U.N.T.S. 222)(an electronic version can be found on: http://www.echr.coe.int/NR/rdonlyres/D5CC24A7-DC13-4318-B457-5C9014916D7A/0/ENG\_CONV.pdf (12 August 2012)).

• H.R. 4472: Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act or Public Law 109-248 *H.R.* 4472: Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act or Public Law 109-248 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/billtext.xpd?bill=h109-4472 (12 August 2012)).

# • H.R. 3695: Billy's Law

*H.R.* 3695: Billy's Law (electronic versions can be found on: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h111-3695 and http://www.govtrack.us/congress/billtext.xpd?bill=h111-3695 (both 12 August 2012)).

# • H.R. 2780: Kristen's Act or Public Law 106-486

*H.R.* 2780: Kristen's Act or Public Law 106-486 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-106publ468/pdf/PLAW-106publ468.pdf (12 August 2012)).

#### • H.R. 2103: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2005

*H.R. 2103: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2005* (Electronic versions can be found on: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h109-2103 and http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h109-2103&tab=related (both 12 August 2012)).

#### • H.R. 6064: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008

*H.R.* 6064: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2008 (Electronic versions can be found on: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h110-6064 and http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h110-6064&tab=related (both 12 August 2012)).

## • H.R. 632: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2009

*H.R.* 632: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2009 (Electronic versions can be found on: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h111-632 and http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h111-632&tab=related (both 12 August 2012)).

# • H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011

*H.R. 112: Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2011*(Electronic versions can be found on: http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h112-112 and http://www.govtrack.us/congress/billtext.xpd?bill=h112-112 (both 12 August 2012)).

# • H.R. 2765: Securing the Protection of Our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Act or SPEECH ACT or 28 USCS § 4101

H.R. 2765: Securing the Protection of Our Enduring and Established Constitutional Heritage Act or SPEECH ACT or 28 USCS § 4101 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ223/pdf/PLAW-111publ223.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# Missing Children's Act or 28 USC § 534

*Missing Children's Act* or 28 *USC* § 534 (an electronic version can be found on: http://207.58.181.246/pdf\_files/library/Missing%20Children%20Act.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq.

Missing Children's Assistance Act or 42 USC § 5771 et seq. (an electronic version can be found on:

http://207.58.181.246/pdf\_files/library/The%20Missing%20Children's%20Assistance%20Act.pdf (12 August 2012)).

## National Child Search Assistance Act or Title 42 USC § 5779-5780

National Child Search Assistance Act or Title 42 USC § 5779-5780 (electronic versions for both sections can be found on:

http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/html/uscode42/usc\_sec\_42\_00005779----000-.html and http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/html/uscode42/usc\_sec\_42\_00005780----000-.html (both 12 August 2012)).

# New York Practice Law and Rules- Article 53 (5301-5309) Recognition of Foreign Country Money Judgements

New York Practice Law and Rules- Article 53 (5301-5309) Recognition of Foreign Country Money Judgements (an electronic version can be found on http://law.justia.com/codes/new-york/2010/cvp/article-53/ (12 August 2012)).

### • Privacy Act

*Privacy Act* or *§552a Title 5 United States Code* (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/5/552a/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Prosecutorial Remedies and Other Tools to End the Exploitation of Children Today Act or PROTECT Act or 42 USC §5791 et seq.

Prosecutorial Remedies and Other Tools to End the Exploitation of Children Today Act or PROTECT Act or 42 USC §5791 et seq. (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.amberillinois.org/PDF/protectact2003.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# Protocol No. 14 to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, amending the control system of the Convention

Protocol No. 14 to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, amending the control system of the Convention (an electronic version can be found on: http://conventions.coe.int/Treaty/EN/Treaties/html/194.htm/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Regulation (EC) No 864/2007

Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 of 11 July 2007 of the European Parliament and the Council on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations (Rome II) (OJ L199 of 31.7.2007, p. 0040-0049) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2007:199:0040:0040:en:PDF (12 August 2012)).

# Telecommunication Act of 1996 or Public Law 104-104, 110 Stat 56 [104th Cong, 2d Sess, Feb. 8, 1996]

Telecommunication Act of 1996 or Public Law 104-104, 110 Stat 56 [104th Cong, 2d Sess, Feb. 8, 1996] (an electronic version can be found on: http://transition.fcc.gov/Reports/tcom1996.pdf (12 August 2012)).

#### **Magazines**

# • Alberdingk Thijm 1998

C.A. Alberdingk Thijm, 'Fair use: het auteursrechtelijk evenwicht hersteld', *Informatierecht/AMI*, November 1998, Nr. 9, p. 145-154 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ivir.nl/publicaties/alberdingkthijm/fair-use.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Andrews 2003

P. Andrews, 'Is Blogging Journalism? A Blogger and Journalist finds no easy Answer, but he discovers connections', *Nieman Reports*, fall 2003, Vol. 57, No. 3, p. 63-64 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ux1.eiu.edu/~ekviall/images/andrews.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

#### Barnett Lidsky 2009

L. Barnett Lidsky, 'Anonymity in Cyberspace: What can we learn from John Doe?', *Boston College Law Review*, November 2009, Vol. 50, Issue 5, p. 1373-1391.

## • Beauchamp 2006

R.W. Beauchamp, 'Notes: England's chilling forecast: The case for granting declaratory relief to prevent English defamation actions from chilling American speech', *Fordham Law Review*, 2006, Vol. 74, Issue 6, p. 3073-3145, (an electronic version can be found on: http://fordhamlawreview.org/assets/pdfs/Vol\_74/Beauchamp\_May.pdf (12 August 2012)).

#### • Beek 2008

M. Beek, 'Alarm slaan met één druk op de knop', AD, 11 november 2008, p. 2-3.

### • Bos and Broer 2011

E. Bos and W. Broer, 'Innovatie in de opsporing: Social gaming als methode' in L.G. Moor, F. Hutsebaut, P. van Os and D. Van Ryckeghem (editors), '*Burgerparticipatie*', *Journal of Police Studies*, Jaargang 2011/2, Nr. 19 (Antwerpen-Apeldoorn-Portland: Maklu: 2011, p. 1-278), p. 89-106.

# • Carter 2005

E.L. Carter, 'Outlaw Speech on the Internet: Examining the link between unique characteristics of online media and criminal libel prosecutions', *Santa Clara Computer and High-Technology Law Journal*, January 2005, Vol. 21, issue 2, p. 289-318 (an electronic version can be found on: http://digitalcommons.law.scu.edu/chtlj/vol21/iss2/1/ (12 August 2012)).

#### Chiancone 2001

J. Chiancone, 'Parental abduction: A review of the literature', Washington, DC: *US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention*: 2001, p. 1-13 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/190074.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Conway-Jones 2005

D. M. Conway-Jones, 'Defamation in the digital age: Liability in Chat Rooms, on electronic bulletin boards, and in the blogosphere', *Business Law Course Materials*, 1 October 2005, Vol. 29, No. 5, p. 17-48.

### • Crook (editor) 2010

J.R. Crook (editor), 'US Legislation blocks enforcement of "Libel Tourism" judgements' (p. 681-684) in 'Contemporary Practice of the United States relating to International Law', *American Journal of International Law*, October 2010, Vol. 104, Nr. 4, p. 654-687.

# • Dinse and Rösler 2011

J. Dinse and H. Rösler, 'Libel Tourism in U.S. Conflict of Laws-Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Defamation Judgements', *Praxis des internationalen Privat- und Verfahrensrecht (IPRax)*, July/August 2011, Vol. 31, nr. 4, p. 414-419.

# • Domingo and Heinonen 2008

D. Domingo and A. Heinonen, 'Weblogs and Journalism: A Typology to Explore the Blurring Boundaries', *Nordicom Review*, 2008, Vol. 29, No. 1, p. 3-15 (an electronic version can be found on: http://jclass.umd.edu/classes/jour698m/domingoblogs.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

#### Dube 1999

N.A. Dube, 'Global search: The international search for missing and exploited children', *International Review of Law, Computers & Technology*, March 1999, Vol. 13, No. 1, p. 69-75.

# • Eagle Shutt, Mitchell Miller, Schreck and Brown 2004

J. Eagle Shutt, J. Mitchell Miller, C.J. Schreck and N. K. Brown, 'Reconsidering the leading myths of stranger child abduction', *Criminal Justice Studies: A Critical Journal of Crime*, *Law and Society*, March 2004, Vol. 17, Nr. 1, p. 127-134.

#### • Griffin 2010

T. Griffin, 'An empirical examination of AMBER Alert 'Successes', *Journal of Criminal Justice*, September-October 2010, Vol. 38, Nr. 5, p. 1053-1062.

# • Hartley 2010

T.C. Hartley, 'Libel Tourism' and Conflicts of Law', *The International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, January 2010, Vol. 59, Issue 01, p. 25-38.

#### • Heiser 2010

W.W. Heiser, "The Hague Convention on choice of court agreements: The impact on forum non conveniens, transfer of venue, removal, and recognition of judgements in United States Courts", *University of Pennsylvania Journal of Comparative Corporate Law and Securities Regulation, the Journal of International Law (U.PA.J.INT'LL.)*, Summer 2010, Volume 31, Number 4, p. 1024-1025 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://www.law.upenn.edu/journals/jil/articles/volume31/issue4/Heiser31U.Pa.J.Int'lL.1013(2 010).pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

#### • Hulbert 2008

R.W. Hulbert, 'Some thoughts on judgements, reciprocity, and the seeming paradox of international commercial arbitration', *U.Pa. J. Int'l*, Vol. 29:3, 2008, p. 641-656.

#### Kim 2007

M. Kim, 'The creative Commons and copyright protection in the digital era: uses of Creative Commons Licenses', *Journal of computer-mediated communication*, Vol.13, Nr. 1 (2007), p. 187-209.

### • Klein, Orloff & Sarangapani 2005

C. F. Klein, L.E. Orloff & H. Sarangapani, 'Border Crossings: Understanding the Civil, Criminal, and Immigration Implications for Battered Women fleeing Across State Lines with their Children', *Family Law Quarterly*, Spring 2005, Vol. 39, No.1, p. 109-156.

# • Koelman 2006

K.J. Koelman, 'Fixing the Three-Step Test', *European Intellectual Property Review*, 2006, Vol. 28, Nr. 8, p. 407-412.

# • Kottenhagen and Kottenhagen-Edzes 2007

R.J.P. Kottenhagen and P.A. Kottenhagen-Edzes, 'Tort and Regulatory Law in The Netherlands', *Tort and Insurance Law Yearbook*, 2007, Vol. 19, Part 3, p. 187-204.

#### Kunke 2005

C. Kunke, 'Rome II and defamation: will the tail wag the dog?', *Emory International Law Review*, 2005, Vol. 19, Issue 3, p. 1733-1772 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.law.emory.edu/fileadmin/journals/eilr/19/19.3/Kunke.pdf (12 August 2012)).

#### • Lawrence 1985

J. Lawrence "Recent missing children effort attracts fraud and extortion", *Kentucky New Era*, 23 May 1985, p. 5A.

#### • Miller, Griffin, Clinkinbeard and Thomas 2009

M.K. Miller, T. Griffin, S.S. Clinkinbeard and R.M. Thomas, 'The psychology of AMBER ALERT: Unresolved issues and implications', *The Social Science Journal*, March 2009, Vol. 46, Issue 1, p. 111-123.

#### Min and Feaster 2010

S. Min and J.C. Feaster, 'Missing children in National News Coverage: Racial and Gender Representations of Missing Children Cases', *Communication Research Reports*, July-September 2010, Vol. 27, No. 3, p. 207-216.

#### Notes 2010

Notes, 'The single Publication Rule and Online Copyright: Tensions between Broadcast, Licensing, and Defamation Law', *Harvard Law Review*, March 2010, Vol. 123, No. 5, p. 1315-1338 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://www.harvardlawreview.org/media/pdf/single\_publication\_rule.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

#### • Patterson Ludwig 2001-2002

M. Patterson Ludwig, 'When older children disappear-Do investigative policies and procedures change?', *Journal of Juvenile Law*, 2001-2002, Vol. 22, Nr. 37, p. 83-99.

#### Plass 2007

P.S. Plass, 'Secondary victimizations in missing child events', *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 2007, Vol. 32, Nr. 1-2, p. 30-44.

# • Plass, Finkelhor and Hotaling 1997

P.S. Plass, D. Finkelhor and G.T. Hotaling, 'Risk Factors for Family Abduction: Demographic and Family Interaction Characteristics', *Journal of Family Violence*, 1997, Vol. 12, Nr. 3, p. 333-348.

#### • Rendleman 2010

D. Rendleman, 'Collecting a libel tourist's defamation judgement?', *Washington and Lee Law Review*, Spring 2010, Vol. 67, Issue 2, p. 467-487 (an electronic version can be found on: http://law.wlu.edu/deptimages/Law%20Review/67-2Rendleman.pdf (12 August 2012)).

#### • Sanchez 2011

T. Sanchez, 'London, Libel Capital no longer?: The draft defamation Act 2011 and the future of Libel Tourism', *New Hampshire Law Review*, May 2011, Vol. 9, Number 3, p. 469-521 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://law.unh.edu/assets/images/uploads/publications/unh-law-review-vol-09-no3-sanchez.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Senftleben 2009

M. Senftleben, 'Fair use in The Netherlands- a Renaissance?', *Tijdschrift voor Auteurs-, Media- & Informatierecht*, 2009-1, p. 1-7 (an electronic version can be found on: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1563986 (12 August 2012)).

#### • Smith Ekstrand 2003

V. Smith Ekstrand, 'Unmasking Jane and John Doe: Online Anonymity and the First Amendment', *Communication Law and Policy*, 2003, Vol.8, Issue 4, p. 405-427.

# • Suthersanen 2007

U. Suthersanen, 'Creative Commons-the other way?', *Learned Publishing*, January 2007, Vol. 20, No. 1, p. 59-68.

# • Vaccariello 2009

L. Vaccariello, 'The River Lady', *Cincinnati Magazine*, March 2009, Vol. 42, Nr. 6, p. 80-83, p. 88 and p. 213.

# • Vick and Macpherson 1996

D.W. Vick and L. Macpherson, 'Anglicizing defamation law in the European Union', *Virginia Journal of International Law*, Summer 1996, Vol. 36, Issue 4, p. 933-999.

#### Walden 2004

I. Walden, 'Forensic investigations in Cyberspace for civil proceedings', *International Review of Law Computers & Technology*, July 2004, Vol. 18, No. 2, p. 275-287.

#### • Warner-Fredman 1983

B. Warner-Fredman, 'Defamation in fiction: With malice toward none and punitive damages for all', *Loyola of Los Angeles Law Review 99* (1983), Vol. 16, Issue 1, p. 98-150 (an electronic version can be found on: http://digitalcommons.lmu.edu/llr/vol16/iss1/5/ (12 August 2012)).

#### Warshaw 2006

Warshaw, 'Uncertainty from abroad: Rome II and the choice of law for defamation claims', *Brooklyn Journal of International Law*, 2006, Volume 32, Issue 1, p. 268-309 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://www.brooklaw.edu/~/media/PDF/LawJournals/BJI\_PDF/bji\_vol32i.ashx (12 August 2012)).

# • Zgoba 2004

K.M. Zgoba, 'Spin doctors and moral crusaders: The moral panic behind child safety legislation', *Criminal Justice Studies*, December 2004, Vol. 17, No.4, p. 385-404.

#### Presentation

#### • Bennett 2010

W. Bennett, 'The current state of defamation law in England and Wales', *A presentation to the European Parliament's Committee on Legal Affairs*, 28 January 2010, p. 1-22 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/document/activities/cont/201002/20100204ATT68476/201002 04ATT68476EN.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# Reports, guides and others

#### • Allen 1991

E. Allen, "The Kid is with a Parent, how bad can it be? The Crisis of Family Abductions", *National Center for Missing and Exploited Children*, 1991, p. 1-8. (an electronic version can be found on: http://hawaii.gov/ag/mcch/files/kid\_is\_with\_a\_parent.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Circular 1: Copyright Basics

Copyright Office, Circular 1: Copyright Basics, Reviewed August 2011 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.copyright.gov/circs/circ01.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Circular 3: Copyright Notice

Copyright Office, Circular 3: Copyright Notice, Reviewed August 2011 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.copyright.gov/circs/circ03.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Circular 66: Copyright registration for online works

*Copyright Office*, Circular 66: Copyright registration for online works, Reviewed May 2009, (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.copyright.gov/circs/circ66.pdf (12 August 2012)).

## Commission Staff Working Document 2008

Commission Staff working document: Best Practice for launching a cross border child abduction alert, Brussels 24.11.2008 SEC(2008)2912 final, p 1-8 (not published in the Official Journal) (an electronic version can be found on:

http://ec.europa.eu/justice/funding/rights/call\_10014/ramc\_ag\_annex\_5\_2008\_en.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2010

Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis), *Working Document on the amendment of Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations (Rome II)*, 23.06.2010, p. 1-12 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/document/activities/cont/201009/20100922ATT83328/20100922ATT83328EN.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis) 2011

Committee on legal affairs (Rapporteur D. Wallis), *Working Document on the amendment of Regulation (EC) No 864/2007 on the law applicable to non-contractual obligations (Rome II)-Work in progress*, 23.05.2011, p. 1-9 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2009\_2014/documents/juri/dv/836/836983/836983\_en.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

### • ECAAS Press Release 2010

ECAAS Press Release: ECAAS launch in Lisbon: The European Child Alert Automated System (ECAAS) will take off with a meeting between partners in Lisbon, 27 April 2010, p. 1 (an electronic version can be found on:

https://docs.google.com/viewer?a=v&pid=sites&srcid=ZXVyb3BIYW5jaGlsZGFsZXJ0LmNvbXx3d3d8Z3g6ZGRkMmJIY2RjOGFmNmU1 (12 August 2012)).

# • European Parliament 2009

European Parliament, *Emergency cooperation in recovering missing children: Declaration of the European Parliament in recovering missing children*, (Official Journal C 295E, 4.12.2009, p. 23-25) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:295E:0023:0025:EN:PDF (12 August 2012)).

# • Fernandes 2009

A.L. Fernandes, 'Missing adults: Background, Federal Programs, and Issues for Congress', *Congressional Research Service*: 2 February 2009, p. 1-34 (*CRS Report RL34616*) (an electronic version can be found on: http://assets.opencrs.com/rpts/RL34616\_20081015.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Finkelhor, Hammer and Sedlak 2002

D. Finkelhor, H. Hammer and A.J. Sedlak, 'Nonfamily Abducted Children: National Estimates and Characteristics', *OJJDP*, Washington D.C., October 2002, p. 1-16, *Juvenile Justice Bulletin-NCJ196467* (an electronic version can be found on: https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/196467.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Flores 2002

J.R. Flores (OJJDP Administrator), NISMART 'Questions and Answers', *OJJDP*, NISMART Fact Sheet, October 2002, Washington D.C., p. 1-2 (*NCJ 196760*) (an electronic version can be found on: https://www.ncjrs.gov/html/ojjdp/nismart/qa/index.html (12 August 2012)).

#### • Griffiths 2009

J. Griffiths, 'The "Three step Test" in European Copyright Law-Problems and Solutions', *Queen Mary University of London, School of Law, Legal Studies Research Paper No.* 31/2009, p. 1-23 (an electronic version can be found on: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1476968 (12 August 2012)).

# • Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 I

H. Hammer, D. Finkelhor and A.J. Sedlak, 'Runaway/Thrownaway Children: National Estimates and Characteristics', *OJJDP*, Washington D.C., October 2002, p. 1-12, *Juvenile Justice Bulletin-NCJ196469* (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/196469.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Hammer, Finkelhor and Sedlak 2002 II

H. Hammer, D. Finkelhor and A.J. Sedlak, 'Children Abducted by Family Members: National Estimates and Characteristics', *OJJDP*, Washington D.C., October 2002, p. 1-12, *Juvenile Justice Bulletin-NCJ196466* (an electronic version can be found on: https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/196466.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Hammer, Finkelhor, Sedlak and Porcellini 2004

H. Hammer, D. Finkelhor, A.J. Sedlak and L.E. Porcellini, 'National Estimates of Missing Children: Selected Trends, 1988-1999, *OJJDP*, Washington D.C., December 2004, p. 1-8, *Juvenile Justice Bulletin-NCJ206179* (an electronic version can be found on: https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/206179.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Home Office 2011

*Home Office*, Missing children and adults: a cross government strategy, Crown Copyright 2011, p. 1-28 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/police/missing-persons-strategy?view=Binary (12 August 2012)).

# Institute for Information Law of the University of Amsterdam 2006

*Institute for Information Law of the University of Amsterdam*, 'The recasting of copyright & related rights for the knowledge economy (final report)', University of Amsterdam,

November 2006, p. 1-305 (an electronic version can be found on: http://ec.europa.eu/internal\_market/copyright/docs/studies/etd2005imd195recast\_report\_2006.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Johnston, Sagatun-Edwards, Blomquist and Girdner 2001

J.R. Johnston, I. Sagatun-Edwards, M. Blomquist and L.K. Girdner, 'Early identification of risk factors for parental abduction', Washington, DC: *US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention*, 2001 p. 1-11 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/185026.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# Levi 2011

L. Levi, 'The problems of Trans-National Libel', (Research Paper) *University of Miami, School of Law*, 2011, p. 1-77 (an electronic version can be found on: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1795237/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Missing Persons in Cyprus-Follow up

European Parliament Resolution of 18 June 2008 on Missing Persons in Cyprus-Follow up to the European Parliament resolution of 15 March 2007(2007/22809(INI) (Official Journal C 286E, 27.11.2009, p. 13-14) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2009:286E:0013:0014:EN:PDF (12 August 2012)).

#### • Mullis and Scott 2010

A. Mullis and A. Scott, 'Something Rotten in the State of English Libel Law? A rejoinder to the clamour for reform of defamation', January 2010, p. 1-36 (an electronic version can be found on http://www.lse.ac.uk/collections/law/news/libel.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).

# • Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe, The Representative on Freedom of the Media 2005

Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe, The Representative on Freedom of the Media, 'Libel and Insult Laws: a Matrix on where we stand and what we would like to achieve. A comprehensive database on criminal and civil defamation provisions and court practices in the OSCE region', Vienna 2005, p. 1-203 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.osce.org/fom/41958 (12 August 2012)).

#### Pérez-Vera 1982

E. Pérez-Vera, *Explanatory Report on the 1980 Hague Child Abduction Convention*, Den Haag: HCCH Publications: 1982, p. 426-476 (or p. 14-64) (An electronic version can be found on: http://hcch.e-vision.nl/upload/expl28.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Polly Klaas Foundation 2004

Polly Klaas Foundation, *America's Hidden Crime: When the Kidnapper is Kin*, a Polly Klaas Foundation report on Family Abduction: Public Opinion Insights and Best Practices, *Polly Klaas Foundation*, March 2004, p. 1-24

(http://www.stopfamilyabductionsnow.org/report/img/PKF\_Report.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • Report on Compliance with the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction April 2009

Department of State, United States of America, *Report on Compliance with the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*, April 2009, Washington, D.C.: Department of State: April 2009, p. 1-66 (an electronic version can be found on: http://travel.state.gov/pdf/2009HagueAbductionConventionComplianceReport.pdf (12 August 2012)).

### • Sedlak, Finkelhor and Hammer 2005

A.J. Sedlak, D. Finkelhor and H. Hammer, 'National Estimates of Children Missing Involuntarily of for Benign Reasons', *OJJDP*, Washington D.C., July 2005, p. 1-12, *Juvenile Justice Bulletin-NCJ206180* (an electronic version can be found on: https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/206180.pdf (12 August 2012).

#### • The Amber Advocate Conference Edition 2008

The Amber Advocate Conference Edition, 'Many Firsts at 2008 National Amber Alert Conference', *OJJDP*, Volume 2 issue 4, December 2008, p. 1-8 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.amber-

net.org/Documents\_WordExcel/AMBER%20Advocate%208th%20Edition.pdf (12 August 2012)).

### • The Stockholm Programme 2009

Notices from European Union Institutions, bodies, offices and Agencies, European Council, The Stockholm Programme- An open and secure Europe serving and protecting citizens, (Official Journal C115/1, 4.5.2010, p. 1-38) (an electronic version can be found on: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2010:115:0001:0038:en:PDF (12 August 2012)).

# • US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 2007

US Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, United States, A Family Resource Guide on International Parental Kidnapping, *NJC* 215476, Fredonia Books (NL): Washington, DC: revised January 2007 (an electronic version can be found on: http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/215476.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# • US Department of Justice 2011

US Department of Justice, 'Guide for implementing or enhancing an endangered missing advisory', *Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention*, March 2011 (*NCJ 232001*), p. 1-37 (an electronic version can be found on:

https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/ojjdp/232001.pdf (12 August 2012)).

# Statement

# Myrick 2008

Statement to the Subcommittee on Crime, Terrorism and Homeland Security from Rep. Sue Myrick in support of HR 423, Kristen's Act Reauthorization of 2007 of 15 July 2008, p. 1-3 (an electronic version can be found on:

http://judiciary.house.gov/hearings/pdf/Myrick080715.pdf/ (12 August 2012)).